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By reporting on the financial and non-financial performance of the group, SacOil Holdings Limited’s 
integrated report aims to provide an understandable and complete view of the business for the 
group’s shareholders, potential investors and stakeholders.

SacOil Holdings Limited (“SacOil”) is a company incorporated in South africa in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies act and complies with the principles of King III, unless otherwise stated, 
the Companies act, the JSe Limited Listings requirements and other legislative requirements. the 
group subscribes to high ethical standards and principles of corporate governance. In addition, 
the group adheres to International Financial reporting Standards (“IFrS”) in compiling its annual 
financial statements. accordingly, we will report not only on our financial performance for the year 
under review but also on all other non-financial indicators, including sustainability, by disclosing 
information on safety, social, environmental and economic impacts and influences, both positive 
and negative and internal and external to all our stakeholders.

Considerable effort has been expended on presenting concise and focused information. the 
content of this integrated report is deemed to be useful and relevant to our stakeholders, enabling 
them to evaluate the ability of SacOil to create and sustain stakeholder value. the Statement from 
the Board of directors is provided, offering the reader a comprehensive, integrated and high-level 
overview of the group’s performance and outlook.

SCOPe OF rePOrtIng
this integrated report covers the financial year ended 28 February 2014 and is released within 
2014. It provides an overview of operations, financial performance and integrated sustainability 
across all operating subsidiaries.

Integrated BUSIneSS
SacOil’s commitment to an integrated and sustainable business approach is illustrated by its 
vision and mission as well as the deepening management resources in health, safety, environment, 
transformation and risk, aiding economic, social and environmental sustainability.

FOrWard-LOOKIng StateMent
the integrated report contains forward-looking statements that, unless otherwise indicated, 
reflect the group’s and Company’s expectations as at 28 February 2014. actual results may 
differ materially from the group’s and Company’s expectations if known and unknown risks or 
uncertainties affect its business or if estimates or assumptions prove inaccurate. the group and 
Company cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will materialise and, accordingly, 
readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. the group 
and Company disclaim any intention and assume no obligation to update or revise any forward-
looking statement even if new information becomes available as a result of future events or for any 
other reason.

this report may contain forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, statements as 
to the group’s and Company’s business, financial condition, liquidity, performance and prospects, 
and trends and developments in the markets in which the group and Company operate. Forward-
looking statements include all statements other than statements of historical fact and in some cases 
may be identified by terms such as “targets”, “believes”, “expects”, “anticipates”, “estimates”, 
“aims”, “intends”, “will”, “may”, “would”, “could” or, in each case, their negative or comparable 
terms. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risk and uncertainty because they 
relate to future events and circumstances that may or may not occur. a number of factors, which 
may be beyond the control of the group and Company, its affiliates, agents and advisers, could 
cause actual results and developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the 
forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements in this report reflect the group’s and Company’s view with respect to 
future events as at the date hereof and are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions relating to the group’s and Company’s operations, results of operations, financial 
condition, growth, strategy, liquidity and the markets in which the group and Company operate. 
no assurance can be given that the forward-looking statements in this report will be realised. 
Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. the group and Company, 
its affiliates, agents and advisers undertake no obligation and do not intend to update any forward-
looking statements in this report to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report.

More detailed information is provided on the group’s website:  

www.sacoilholdings.com

aBOUt tHIS rePOrt and 
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COrPOrate PrOFILe

IntrOdUCIng SaCOIL
SacOil Holdings Limited is a South african-based independent 

african oil and gas company dual listed on the JSe and aIM. 

the Company focuses on opportunities within hydrocarbon 

basins, across the exploration and Production (e&P) spectrum 

from production, appraisal/near-term production through to 

exploration opportunities. 

the Company holds a portfolio of assets in the oil and gas 

industry which includes interests in Malawi, the drC, nigeria 

and Botswana, and is committed to building a balanced 

portfolio of upstream assets through its investment in africa. 

SacOil, given its strategic focus, is ideally positioned to 

unlock opportunities it identifies and to deliver value to 

its stakeholder community given the company’s intimate 

knowledge and experience of doing business in africa. 

SacOil’s experienced Board and executive management 

team has proven expertise in african oil and gas exploration 

and development, project management and finance.

COre BUSIneSS 
SacOil has progressed in its strategic focus of targeting the 

acquisition of discovered but undeveloped, previously producing 

but now shut-in, near-term producing, and production assets on 

the african continent.

SacOil operates through the exploration phase, with a specific 

focus on the establishment of strategic industry partnerships 

through the appraisal and development phase to manage 

portfolio risk and to ensure that the optimum technical and 

operating skills are applied to each opportunity.

VISIOn
SacOil’s vision is to build a balanced portfolio of african 

upstream assets in all phases of the e&P life cycle and 

in keeping with the principles of corporate, social and 

environmental responsibility.

MISSIOn
SacOil’s mission is to be a first-class contender in the african 

oil and gas arena while leveraging our heritage through assets 

with significant upside potential and utilising our access to 

capital markets.

Strategy
•	 	Build	an	African	 footprint	with	a	balanced	portfolio	of	

assets

  the opportunity to monetise assets

•	 	Explore	 early-stage	 opportunities	 in	 Africa	 with	 low-

entry	costs

  established credibility and support to advance projects

•	 	Seek	partnerships	with	major	and	independent	oil	and	

gas	companies	with	extensive	experience	in	Africa

  Manageable funding requirements

•	 	Target	 discovered,	 but	 undeveloped,	 or	 near-term	

producing	assets

 Leverage the value curve by bringing assets into account

“Promoting African renaissance through Investing in Africa’s Assets.”
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grOUP StrUCtUre
as at 28 February 2014

SaCOIL HOLdIngS LIMIted

OPeratIOnaL aSSetS

RDK Mining

Subsidiary: rSa

100%

DRC: Block III

Operational asset

18.34%

SEMLIKI

Subsidiary: drC

68%

SacOil 281 Nigeria

Subsidiary: nigeria

100%

Nigeria: OPL 281

transfer of title to 

SacOil being finalised 

20%

Transfer Holdings

Subsidiary: Botswana

70%

Malawi: Block 1

Operational asset

100%

SacOil 233 Nigeria

Subsidiary: nigeria

100%

Nigeria: OPL 233

transfer of title to 

SacOil being finalised

20%

Licence 
123/2013

Operational 

asset 

100%

Licence 
124/2013

Operational 

asset 

100%

Licence 
125/2013

Operational 

asset 

100%

aSSetS Under aCQUISItIOn
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COMPany aSSetS
as at 28 February 2014

InVeStIng In aFrICa 
the past decade has seen a surge in interest by investors in the relatively underexplored oil and gas opportunities in africa. this 

increased interest has been stimulated by significant frontiers ranging across west, east and sub-Saharan africa discoveries.

By 2020 africa is expected to be the world’s third-largest oil region. as a result of indigenisation laws in africa and certain oil 

majors retreating from discovered but undeveloped marginal oilfields, opportunities have emerged for junior exploration and 

production companies such as SacOil.

africa’s growing population and increasing need for energy security necessitates investment in the development of its indigenous 

resources and with that it has unlocked opportunities for potential investors. Our partnership arrangements align strongly with 

our commitment to an african renaissance through economically astute and socially responsible investments.

the Company is committed to investing in the potential of africa’s indigenous assets and presents an excellent investment 

vehicle for both private and institutional investors whose interests are aligned with the Company’s vision and mission. 

OUr aFrICan FOOtPrInt
 

QUaLIFIed PerSOn reVIeW
the operational information contained in the following operational reviews has been reviewed by Bradley Cerff, Vice President – 

Operations, who is a member of the Society of Petroleum engineers with more than 18 years’ experience in petroleum exploration 

and management.

OPERATIONAL ASSETS

MALAWI - BLOCK 1
Oil Potential
Onshore

DRC - BLOCK III
Oil Potential
Onshore

NIGERIA - OPL 233
Oil Discovery
O�shore

SACOIL HOLDINGS LIMITED

SOUTH AFRICA - HEAD OFFICE
The Gabba, Dimension Data Campus
Bryanston, Johannesburg

BOTSWANA - LICENCES 123, 124, 125
Oil Potential
Onshore

NIGERIA - OPL 281
Oil Discovery
Onshore

ASSETS UNDER ACQUISITION
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•	 	Lake	Albert	discoveries	adjacent	in	Uganda,	indicating	high	potential	
prospectivity	of	the	basin

•	 	The	presence	of	a	petroleum	system	expected	in	Block	III	as	the	play	is	on-
trend	with	Ugandan	discoveries

drC – BLOCK III

Block III is an operational asset.

the licence area comprises 3 177 square kilometres and is 

located on the drC side of the albertine graben Basin, part 

of the east african rift System. 

the joint venture partners with total e&P rdC (“total”) as 

operator successfully completed the environmental and social 

impact assessment and acquired an airborne gravity and 

magnetic survey over the northern part of Block III outside 

the Virunga national Park. the interpretation of the processed 

gravity and magnetic survey confirms the geological trend 

observed in the adjacent concessions in Uganda. geological 

features similar to those found to be oil-bearing in Uganda 

in the albertine graben have been observed and identified 

from the new data. With this positive geological information, 

planning for the acquisition of a 2d seismic survey has begun. 

the survey design envisages the acquisition of a minimum of 

400 kilometres of 2d seismic data. 

there has been a delay of approximately six months to the 

planned work programme, as a result of civil unrest in the 

area. With the situation on the ground now stabilised, it is 

anticipated that the seismic acquisition will take place within 

the next dry season. taking into account these delays, the 

joint venture partners requested an extension from the 

drC government to the licence and in december 2012 the 

Block III licence was extended by one year with the licence 

expiring in January 2016. 

Following the review of the seismic data and subject to the 

positive identification of subsurface geological structures 

that may contain oil and gas, the partners intend to drill an 

exploration well.

OPeratIOnaL OVerVIeW

•	 	The	 existence	 of	 a	 north-west	 to	 south-east	 trending	

basin confirmed

•	 	Completion	 of	 the	 environmental	 and	 social	 impact	

assessment

•	 	Acquisition	of	2D	seismic	survey	to	commence	during	the	

next dry season

reSOUrCe eStIMateS
estimate

Low High Best

Unrisked gross StOIIP 
(million stock tank barrels) 853.87 3 731.29 1 940.71

Unrisked gross gIIP – 
associated gas (million 
standard cubic feet) 256.16 1 119.39 582.21

reSOUrCe OVerVIeW
gross StOIIP (unrisked) (million stock tank 
barrels) 1 940.71

recovery factor (%) 33

gross unrisked prospective resources (MMBOe) 642.91

risk factor (%) 21

gross risked prospective resources (MMBOe) 134.67

SacOil equity (%) 12.5

risked prospective resources net to SacOil 
(MMBOe) 16.83

Source: Bayphase Limited – Competent Person’s Report dated 
May 2012.

5SacOil Holdings Limited  Integrated annUaL rePOrt  2014

a
d

d
It

IO
n

a
L 

In
FO

r
M

at
IO

n
FI

n
a

n
C

Ia
LS

g
O

V
e

r
n

a
n

C
e

Le
a

d
e

r
S

H
IP

B
U

S
In

e
S

S
 O

V
e

r
V

Ie
W



 

 

MaLaWI – BLOCK 1

•	Operatorship	and	100%	equity 
•	Satellite	survey	completed 
•		Commencing	environmental	and	social	impact	assessments

Block 1 is an operational asset.

Block 1 is located in the north-western part of Malawi 

bordering tanzania to the north and Zambia to the west. 

Comprising 12 265 square kilometres, Block 1 is the second-

largest petroleum exploration block demarcated in Malawi. 

the Company holds a 100% interest in Block 1.

In april 2013 SacOil initiated a satellite-screening study 

associated with an environmental risk assessment for a 

proposed exploration programme over the licence area, 

covering approximately 16 000 square kilometres across 

northern Malawi. the study was successfully completed in 

december 2013.

With the positive results associated with the satellite 

environmental work, planning of the environmental and social 

impact assessments has now begun. In consultation with the 

Malawian government, SacOil is currently targeting to have 

all environmental work completed by Q1 2015.

OPeratIOnaL OVerVIeW
•	 	Satellite	imagery	survey	completed

•	 	Environmental	risk	assessment	completed

•	 	Planning	 associated	 with	 the	 environmental	 and	 social	

impact assessment is under way

reSOUrCe POtentIaL
the block is located on-trend with the east african rift 

System, which is a proven exploration province and has 

resulted in prolific oil discoveries in Sudan, Chad, Kenya and 

Uganda. recent studies have concluded that Malawi may 

potentially see the discovery of hydrocarbons (oil and gas).

as reported by a number of authors, the Malawi rift is 

characteristic of the western branch of the east african rift 

System, composed of half-grabens of opposing asymmetry 

along its length. there are striking similarities between basins 

within the Malawi rift and others along the western branch. 

each exhibits similar border-fault length, rift zone width and 

fault segment length.
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BOtSWana – LICenCeS 123, 124, 125

•		Operatorship
•	Commencement	of	environmental	work	 

Exploration licences 123/2013, 124/2013 and 125/2013 
are operational assets.
exploration licences 123/2013, 124/2013 and 125/2013 were 

awarded to transfer Holdings (Proprietary) Limited (“transfer 

Holdings”), a Botswana subsidiary of SacOil, by the Minister 

of Minerals, energy and Water resources (MMeWr) on 

29 april 2013. SacOil has a seventy per cent (70%) interest 

in transfer Holdings. On 10 March 2014 transfer Holdings 

became a wholly-owned subsidiary of SacOil following the 

acquisition of a further thirty per cent (30%) interest. 

the three licences cover an area of approximately 49 463 square 

kilometres. all three licences have a three-year term, with the 

first exploration term having commenced on 1 July 2013. 

Licence 123/2013: the block is located in the ghanzi district. 

the licence extends over an area of 34 635 square kilometres.

Licence 124/2013: the block is located in the ngamiland 

district. the licence extends over an area of 10 664 square 

kilometres.

Licence 125/2013: the block is located in the Chobe district. 

the licence extends over an area of 4 164 square kilometres.

SacOil has embarked on a process of collating all geological 

information available on the petroleum prospectivity pertaining 

to these licences. a review of the legacy data and information 

is currently under way. 

Following the completion of the initial desktop studies 

a satellite environmental survey has been initiated. In 

consultation with the Botswana government, SacOil is 

currently targeting to have all environmental work completed 

by Q2 2015. 

OPeratIOnaL OVerVIeW
•	 Satellite	environment	survey	initiated

•	 Environmental	work	to	be	completed	by	Q2	2015

7SacOil Holdings Limited  Integrated annUaL rePOrt  2014

a
d

d
It

IO
n

a
L 

In
FO

r
M

at
IO

n
FI

n
a

n
C

Ia
LS

g
O

V
e

r
n

a
n

C
e

Le
a

d
e

r
S

H
IP

B
U

S
In

e
S

S
 O

V
e

r
V

Ie
W



 

 

nIgerIa – OPL 233

•	Work	programme	and	budget	approved	by	the	NNPC 
•	Mobilisation	of	3D	OBC	seismic	survey 

OPL 233 is an asset under acquisition with an existing 
PSC with Nigdel (the operator). Transfer of title to a 20% 
equity interest is being finalised.

OPL 233 is an offshore oil block that is located in the core 

shallow marine area of the prolific niger delta region. It 

encompasses an area of approximately 126 square kilometres 

and is located in water depths ranging from 3 to 10 metres.

due to the block’s location in the core area of the prolific 

niger delta play, close neighbours are oil majors such as 

Shell, Chevron and agIP.

earlier on in the year the work programme for 2013 was 

approved by the national Petroleum Investment Management 

Services. Following the approval the OPL 233 JV Partners 

(the “JV Partners”) have reworked the existing seismic data 

on OPL 233 and incorporated further data on the south-

western portion of the concession, providing an integrated 

geological understanding of the acreage and the region. 

Whilst inherent uncertainties remain in the current data due 

to the dated vintage, poor quality and uncertain navigation 

parameters, the JV Partners remain optimistic on the 

contingent resources and potential upside. In addition, the 

JV Partners have identified a number of additional prospective 

leads for subsequent investigation and possible drilling. In 

preparation for the scheduled 3d seismic data acquisition 

project, the environmental impact assessment (“eIa”) on the 

block has been completed with both wet and dry season 

sampling carried out. SacOil and its OPL 233 partners have 

commenced operations for the 3d seismic Ocean Bottom 

Cable (“OBC”) survey, with mobilisation of equipment for the 

survey in progress. the timeline envisages full mobilisation to 

the site to be completed by the end of May 2014. Following 

mobilisation, the 3d OBC acquisition will commence and be 

completed by Q3 2014. 

the 3d seismic data will provide valuable subsurface 

information relevant for the quantification of the licence’s 

resource potential, as well as the selection of an optimal 

drilling location. the Company expects the processing of 

the raw data and interpretation of results to be completed by 

Q4 2014. SacOil holds a 20% interest in OPL 233.

OPeratIOnaL OVerVIeW
•	 	The	approved	work	programme	includes	the	acquisition	

and processing of a 3d OBC seismic survey over the 

block and the preparatory work associated with the 

drilling of an exploration well.

•	 	SacOil	together	with	the	JV	Partners	are	in	the	process	of	

reviewing the existing seismic data in more detail and, on 

completion, hope to be in a position to identify a number 

of additional leads and prospects for subsequent further 

investigation and drilling.

reSOUrCe OVerVIeW
gross contingent resources (MMBOe)1 19.0
risk factor (%) 40
gross risked contingent resources (MMBOe) 7.6
SacOil equity (%) 20
risked contingent resources net to SacOil 
(MMBOe) 1.42

Source: TRACS CPR Revised 12 April 2012.

1 Best estimate.
2 Equivalent net economic reserve.
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nIgerIa – OPL 281

•	Situated	in	prolific	area	of	Niger	Delta 
•	100	MMBOE	gross	contingent	resources 
•	All	partners	to	carry	cost	proportionately

OPL 281 is an asset under acquisition. The PSC between 
the Nigerian National Petroleum Corporation (“NNPC”) 
and Transcorp (the operator) was recently signed.

OPL 281 is an onshore block situated in one of nigeria’s 

oil-rich States in the community of the Obotebe Kingdom 

known simply as delta. delta is further subdivided into 

three senatorial districts – delta north, delta South and 

delta Central. OPL 281 is located in the delta South area, 

approximately 20 kilometres from Warri, the economic nerve 

centre of the region.

In close proximity to OPL 281 is the renowned Forcados 

Crude export terminal and the Odidi Platform (the regional 

gas condensate processing plant) is located approximately 

25 kilometres away.

SacOil completed a technical review of the borehole and 

3d seismic data on the lease. Management is satisfied that, 

despite some uncertainties in the data, the current estimate 

of contingent resources as reported by agr traCS may be 

conservative and, with further evaluation, it is our opinion 

that the resources may actually be more substantial than 

initially anticipated. the potential increase in resources can 

be attributed to several deeper channel leads and prospects, 

which holds a possibility of adding to the prospective 

resources of OPL 281. 

On 2 May 2014 the nnPC and transcorp signed the PSC. 

nnPC’s signing of the PSC for OPL 281 now clears the way 

for transcorp and SacOil to prepare and lodge an application 

to seek the approval from the government of nigeria for 

transcorp to assign a 20% participating interest to SacOil.

With the signing of the PSC, transcorp, as operator of OPL 281, 

will now proceed to execute the PSC commitments and work 

programme to appraise the contingent resources estimated at 

approximately 100 million barrels of oil equivalent.

the Company will now liaise with transcorp in order to pursue 

the preparation of the application to seek government’s 

approval, as well as to attend to the lodging of the same 

with the appropriate authorities in nigeria. Shareholders will 

be kept apprised of any further material developments in 

this regard.

OPeratIOnaL OVerVIeW
•	 	PSC	between	 the	NNPC	and	Transcorp	was	signed	on	

2 May 2014

•	 	Completed	seismic	and	well	reinterpretation	data.

•	 	In	 process	 of	 engaging	 a	 Competent	 Person	 to	 certify	

contingent resources

reSOUrCe OVerVIeW
gross contingent resources (MMBOe)1 99.2
risk factor (%) 60
gross risked contingent resources (MMBOe) 59.52
SacOil equity (%) 20
risked contingent resources net to SacOil 
(MMBOe) 8.42

Source: TRACS CPR Revised 12 April 2012.

1 Most likely case.
2 Equivalent net economic reserve.
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StateMent By tHe BOard OF dIreCtOrS

HIgHLIgHtS
•	 	Board	and	subcommittees	reconstituted

•	 	Lifting	of	JSE	and	AIM	suspension

•	 	R336.6	million	raised	through	Rights	Issue

•	 	R238.5	million	Gairloch	loans	converted	to	equity

•	 	Company	is	debt	free

•	 	New	shareholder	structure

•	 	Acquisition	of	three	exploration	licences	in	Botswana

•	 	Commencement	of	OPL 233	3D	seismic	survey

•	 	Signing	of	OPL 281	PSC

•	 	Signing	 of	 a	 MOU	 to	 pursue	 gas	 opportunities	 in	

Mozambique

•	 	Appointment	of	new	CEO

2014 was an exceptionally challenging year for the group, its 

employees and various stakeholders. the group experienced 

significant liquidity constraints which limited its operating 

activities primarily on OPL  233 in nigeria and Block  1 in 

Malawi. In addition, for a period of time the Company was 

without a fully constituted Board, which culminated in the 

suspension of trade in the Company’s shares on the JSe and 

aIM between 31 May 2013 and 11 October 2013. 

the Board has been reconstituted with a primary focus 

on strengthening the Company’s corporate governance 

framework. the reconstitution of the audit, remuneration, 

nomination and Social, ethics and risk Committees was 

completed in July 2013. new to the Company’s corporate 

governance structures are the Investment Committee and the 

technical advisory Committee, which were constituted for 

the first time in July 2013. With the exception of the technical 

advisory Committee, all committees of the Board were active 

during the financial year. In addition to strengthening the 

corporate governance framework, the Board’s focus during 

this period was to underpin shareholder value and grow the 

organisation’s asset base by establishing clear frameworks 

and policy structures for management to execute.

In January 2014 the Company completed a recapitalisation 

exercise aimed at raising funds for developing the group’s 

assets in nigeria, Botswana and Malawi. the Company 

raised r336.6 million by way of a rights Issue which was 

59% subscribed. the Public Investment Corporation (SOC) 

Limited (“PIC”) invested r329.2 million of these funds and is 

now a 45% shareholder in SacOil. Funds raised will be utilised 

primarily to fund the group’s nigerian assets and working 

capital requirements. the Company will be engaging with 

various financial institutions regarding the raising of equity 

and debt funding to eliminate the deficit that arose from the 

rights Offer. the Company will also continue to assess other 

alternatives to raise funds.

as part of the Company’s recapitalisation plan, gairloch 

loans totalling r238.5 million were converted to equity on 

30  January 2014. Consequently, the Company is now debt 

free. gairloch, through its nominees, is now a 29% shareholder 

in SacOil and is represented by two directors on the SacOil 

Board. We welcome the appointments of Mr danladi Verheijen 

and Ms titilola akinleye as non-executive directors. these 

appointments open a new and exciting chapter for SacOil.

SacOil continued to build its portfolio of assets across the 

african continent through the acquisition of three exploration 

licences in Botswana. these licences cover an area of 

approximately 49 463 square kilometres and have a three-

year term, with the first exploration term having commenced 

on 1  July  2013. as highlighted previously, whilst SacOil is 

capable of operating through the exploration and production 

phases, our preference is to establish industry partnerships 

that minimise the risks inherent in the process of unlocking 

value in the assets. this has enabled SacOil to manage 

portfolio risk and ensure that the optimum technical and 

operating skills are applied to each opportunity.

In nigeria the group commenced the 3d seismic acquisition 

project for OPL  233. Programme timelines envisage full 

mobilisation to the site to be completed by the end of 

May  2014. Following mobilisation, the 3d Seismic Ocean 

Bottom Cable (OBC) survey will commence and is expected 

to be completed by Q3 2014. the completion of the seismic 

acquisition project is a prelude to the next phase of the work 

programme which involves the drilling of at least one well. 

the assignment of title to OPL 233 remains outstanding. the 

group continues to engage with the appropriate agencies of 

the nigerian government, with the assistance of the operating 

partners, in order attain the successful assignment of title to 

the group. 

the delay in the signing of the PSC has delayed operations 

for OPL 281. transcorp recently informed us that the nnPC 

had signed the PSC on 2 May 2014. the group will now 

prepare and lodge an application to seek the approval from 

the government of nigeria for transcorp to assign a 20% 

participating interest to SacOil 281. 

In Malawi the group recently completed a satellite survey over 

the licence area. the 2014 budget for Block 1 was approved 

by the Malawi department of Mines and the environmental 

and social impact assessments have now commenced.

In the drC total continues to provide a carry of all exploration 

costs for Block III. With the gravity magnetic survey completed 

we look forward to a successful 2d seismic acquisition 

programme. 
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On 31 March 2014 SacOil signed a Memorandum of 

Understanding with the PIC and the Instituto de gestão 

das Participações do estado (“IgePe”) regarding the 

investigation of gas opportunities and future distribution of 

gas in southern africa. It is anticipated that the three parties 

will establish joint venture companies to, inter alia, build an 

onshore natural gas central processing facility, a pipeline to 

link the gas fields in Mozambique with potential customers 

in Southern africa (referred to as the “african renaissance 

Project” or “arP”) and to develop and grow the natural gas 

consumer market in South africa and other Southern african 

development Community member states for the supply and 

distribution of natural gas along the pipeline in Mozambique 

(referred to as “gas for the People Project” or “gPP”). It is 

further anticipated that the parties will establish ancillary 

projects such as, but not limited to, a gas-to-liquid plant and 

a combined cycle gas power plant. Both the arP and gPP 

are long-term projects that are subject to, amongst other 

matters, feasibility studies, front-end engineering design, 

detail engineering, market analysis, social impact studies, 

the conclusion of joint venture agreements by 30 July 2014 

and the approval of the feasibility studies by the PIC and 

SacOil. the Board is excited at the potential future prospects 

presented by this opportunity.

Following a comprehensive executive search process, the 

Board is pleased to welcome dr thabo Kgogo as the new 

Chief executive Officer for SacOil. thabo has more than 

12 years of experience in the oil and gas industry and joins 

SacOil from PetroSa. His appointment is effective from 

1 June 2014. the acting Chief executive Officer, roger rees 

will step down and resign as director on 31 May 2014. We 

thank roger for his efforts and commitment during his 

acting tenure.

the Board will continue to align all stakeholders’ and 

shareholders’ expectations, through competent investments, 

while the execution of our ongoing projects in the democratic 

republic of Congo, Malawi, Botswana and nigeria is 

expected to yield significant future milestones and value 

for the group. We will continue to keep the market updated 

when information is required to be passed on and discussed.

In closing, I would like to thank all our shareholders for their 

patience, guidance and encouragement during this difficult 

year. to our hardworking employees, our suppliers and 

partners, a very special thank you for your understanding, 

commitment and dedication. the Board looks forward to a 

less turbulent and prosperous future and exciting times for 

the group.

Tito Mboweni
Chairman

28 May 2014
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BOard and ManageMent

nOn-exeCUtIVe dIreCtOrS
Tito Titus Mboweni (55)
Independent	Non-executive	Chairman
appointed 10 June 2013
Chairman of the nomination Committee and member of the remuneration Committee

Mr Mboweni has a long and outstanding record of public service. He is a former Minister of Labour in the republic of South africa 
from 1994 to 1998, as well as the eighth governor of the South african reserve Bank from 1999 to 2009, a Chancellor of 
the University of the north-West from 2002 to 2005, and one of the World economic Forum’s global Leaders of tomorrow. 
Mr  Mboweni is the non-executive chairman of nampak Limited and accelerate Property Fund, an international adviser to 
goldman Sachs International and the former independent non-executive chairman of anglogold ashanti Limited. He is also 
a founding member of Mboweni Brothers Investment Holdings, chairman of the fundraising committee of the nelson Mandela 
Children’s Hospital, and a member of the Council of advisors of the thabo Mbeki Foundation.

Mzuvukile Jeff Maqetuka (62)
Independent	Non-executive	Director
appointed 10 June 2013
Chairman of the remuneration Committee and member of the audit Committee, the nomination Committee and the Social, 
ethics and risk Committee

Mr Maqetuka has extensive pan-african experience having served as South africa’s ambassador to the People’s democratic 
republic of algeria and as director general of the State Security agency department of the republic of South africa.

Stephanus Hilgard Muller (53)
Independent	non-executive	Director
appointed 10 June 2013
Chairman of the audit Committee and member of the nomination Committee and the Investment Committee

Mr Muller has extensive experience in the audit and investment banking disciplines, having qualified as a chartered accountant 
in 1985, and served as an executive director of gensec Bank Limited. Currently he is an independent non-executive director on 
the boards of Home of Living Brands Limited, KaP Industrial Holdings Limited and Jd group Limited. He also chairs the audit 
committees of these companies and the remuneration committee of Jd group Limited.

Mzuvukile Jeff Maqetuka

tito titus Mboweni gontse MosenekeVusumzi Patrick Pikoli

Stephanus Hilgard Muller Ignatius Simon Sehoole

danladi Michel Verheijen titilola abisoye akinleye
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Ignatius Simon Sehoole (54) 
Non-executive	Director
appointed 12 July 2013
Chairman of the Investment Committee and member of the Social, ethics and risk Committee, the remuneration Committee 
and the technical advisory Committee

Mr Sehoole is a chartered accountant by qualification. He serves on the boards of Harith Fund Managers (Proprietary) Limited, the 
Specialist Committee on Company Law and the accounting Standards Board. Previously he was a member of the King Committee 
on Corporate governance, a president of the South african Institute of Chartered accountants and the chairman of the audit 
committee of the national treasury.

Vusumzi Patrick Pikoli (56)
Independent	Non-executive	Director
appointed 12 July 2013
Chairman of the Social, ethics and risk Committee and member of the remuneration Committee

Mr Pikoli, an advocate by qualification, was previously the national director of Public Prosecutions and was the head of the 
national Prosecuting authority. Prior to that he served as the director-general of the department of Justice and Constitutional 
development. He is a former trustee of the Constitutional Court trust and former member of the International association of anti-
Corruption authorities. Until February 2012 he was a director of the Forensic Investigation division at Sizwentsalubagobodo. 
He previously also headed the forensics department at gobodo Inc. Currently he is an independent director on the Board of 

Cricket South africa, where he chairs the Social and ethics Committee.

Gontse Moseneke (32)
Non-executive	Director

appointed 31 august 2009

Member of the nomination Committee, the Social, ethics and risk Committee and the Investment Committee

gontse Moseneke has a background in financial and investment management and is part of the executive team at encha group 

Limited. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Statistics and actuarial Sciences from the University of Cape town and a 

diploma in actuarial techniques from the Institute of actuaries (London, United Kingdom).

Danladi Michel Verheijen (38)
Non-executive	Director

appointed 27 January 2014

danladi is the Managing director of Verod Capital, a West-african focused investment firm. Before co-founding Verod, danladi 

held roles at Citibank nigeria, Ocean and Oil Holdings and McKinsey & Company. He has an MBa from Harvard Business 

School, an M.Sc. in engineering economic Systems & Operations research from Stanford University and a B.Sc. in electrical 

engineering from Calvin College. danladi was named a young global Leader by the World economic Forum in 2014.

Titilola Abisoye Akinleye (41)
Non-executive	Director

appointed 27 January 2014

titilola has over 15 years’ finance and investment banking experience with significant experience in corporate finance advisory, 

equity and debt raising, structured project finance and with public and private partnerships for development of infrastructure. She 

began her career at general electric London and has held roles at JP Morgan, arM Investment Managers and Zenith Capital.
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BOard and ManageMent (continued)

exeCUtIVe ManageMent
Roger Rees (61)
Outgoing	Chief	Executive	Officer

appointed 25 July 2013 (resigns 31 May 2014)

roger has extensive public company experience, having been group Finance director for 11 years of Murray & roberts Holdings 

Limited, one of South africa’s leading construction and engineering companies listed on the JSe. roger was Chairman of 

Murray & roberts International from 2000 to 2011 and also previously a director and deputy Chairman of Clough Limited, an 

aSx-listed oil and gas engineering company. roger is a qualified chartered accountant. He spent his early career with arthur 

andersen, initially in London and then Johannesburg. He has significant international experience in acquisitions and disposals, 

due diligence and corporate finance.

Thabo Kgogo (38)
Chief	Executive	Officer

appointment effective 1 June 2014

dr thabo Kgogo has more than 12 years’ experience in the oil and gas industry ranging from exploration, appraisal and 

development projects in upstream. He joins SacOil from PetroSa, South africa’s national oil company, where he held the position 

of Vice President – Operations and recently acting Chief Operating Officer. dr Kgogo was responsible for PetroSa’s integrated 

operations, which included offshore production wells and platforms, gas-to-liquid (“gtL”) refinery, as well as shipping and 

aviation services. dr Kgogo holds a BSc degree in Chemical engineering from the University of Cape town, a MSc degree in 

Petroleum engineering from the University of London and a Phd degree in Petroleum engineering from Imperial College London.

Tariro Mudzimuirema (36)
Finance	Director

appointed 25 July 2013

tariro is a chartered accountant with more than 12 years’ experience in finance, risk management, corporate governance and 

audit. after completing her degree at rhodes University, tariro joined PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”), where she worked 

in the Johannesburg, Baltimore, London and Malawi offices, responsible for assurance engagements for listed and unlisted 

entities in the construction, mining and manufacturing industries. Upon leaving PwC, tariro held various senior management 

roles responsible for compliance, financial management and reporting, and business development. tariro is a member of 

the South african Institute of Chartered accountants and an associate of the London Institute of risk Management. 

Bradley Cerff Willem de Meyer Jordaan Fouché

roger rees tariro Mudzimuiremathabo Kgogo
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Bradley Cerff (41)
Vice	President	–	Operations

appointed 9 May 2011

Bradley Cerff has over 18 years’ experience in the oil and gas exploration and production industry. Bradley joined SacOil from 

PetroSa where he held the position of regional manager for east and West africa. He was responsible for upstream assets and 

business development in east and West africa, maintaining and developing a sustainable portfolio of exploration and production 

assets in West africa. Bradley has managed teams and assets in almost all african oil-producing countries. 

Bradley has also drilled a number of exploration and production wells, developed and produced oil on the continent. He has 

experience in executing work programmes and budgets associated with upstream exploration assets. Furthermore, he has 

experience in identifying, evaluating and closing upstream exploration business development opportunities. Bradley holds a 

MSc degree in Physics and a MBa. He is also a member of the Society of Petroleum engineers.

Willem De Meyer (58)
Vice	President	–	Commercial

appointed 10 January 2012

Willem obtained a BSc (Hons) degree in geophysics at the University of Pretoria and a MCom degree in Mineral economics at 

the rand afrikaans University. His 25 years of technical and operational experience were gained in the oil and gas industry with 

PetroSa, the national oil company of South africa and SOeKOr, which he joined in 1982 and which subsequently became part 

of PetroSa. 

Willem held various senior managerial roles, including general Manager of e&P, Vice President of new business and chief 

economist. a geophysicist by training, he is a member of the South african geophysical association and registered as a 

Professional natural Scientist with the South african Council for natural Scientific Professions. 

Jordaan Fouché (54)
Vice	President	–	Technical	and	New	Business

appointed 10 January 2012

Jordaan holds an honours degree in geology and a MBa, both from the University of Stellenbosch. He has over 26 years’ 

experience in the oil and gas industry, primarily as an investor in oil and gas companies and assets. Jordaan developed his 

operational and technical skills set as a geophysicist at SOeKOr/PetroSa, where he was a project leader and international 

portfolio manager and was extensively involved in both technical and commercial work, including seismic acquisition and 

interpretation and the commercial analysis of oil and gas reservoirs. Jordaan was a founding member of the earth resource 

Investment group, a leading and award-winning energy resource investment fund. Prior to that he spent time as an investment 

analyst at Craton Capital and a senior project manager at the Industrial development Corporation, a South african development 

finance institution.

15SacOil Holdings Limited  Integrated annUaL rePOrt  2014

a
d

d
It

IO
n

a
L 

In
FO

r
M

at
IO

n
FI

n
a

n
C

Ia
LS

g
O

V
e

r
n

a
n

C
e

Le
a

d
e

r
S

H
IP

B
U

S
In

e
S

S
 O

V
e

r
V

Ie
W



dIreCtOrS’ reSPOnSIBILIty StateMent 

the directors of SacOil acknowledge their responsibility to ensure the integrity of the report. to that end they have collectively 

assessed the content of this integrated annual report and believe it addresses the Company’s material issues and is a fair 

representation of the integrated performance of the group and Company, based on the recommendations of the audit Committee. 

the audit Committee and the Board have applied their minds to the report and believe that it addresses all material issues and 

represents fairly the integrated performance of the organisation.

the material issues defined and set out below are dealt with throughout this report:

Summary of the main components of integrated reporting

Category Issue Description

Economic growth 
Liquidity
Project execution

delivery of sustainable value to stakeholders
ensuring sufficient liquidity and capital to meet business objectives
efficient risk-controlled delivery of quality projects

Financial Integrated reporting Provide a concise overview of the group and Company through integrating 
social, environmental, economic and financial issues that impact its business 
operations

Social People
Safety

empowering and upskilling employees
Safety is a priority

Environmental Impact of operations across-the-board commitment to environmental sustainability
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FInanCe dIreCtOr’S rePOrt

OVerVIeW
the group’s income and financial assets are predominantly 

denominated in US dollars. the weakening of the rand, and 

the resulting increase in foreign exchange gains and foreign 

income receivable, significantly underpinned the financial 

results of the group. In addition to the increase in income, 

the group’s operating costs decreased by 43% primarily 

due to a reduction in the impairment of the group’s financial 

assets. Consequently, for the year ended 28 February 2014, 

the group reported a profit before taxation of r64.7 million 

(2013: loss of r29.3 million). the Finance director’s report 

should be read in conjunction with the group consolidated 

annual financial statements for a comprehensive account of 

the group’s financial position and performance.

FInanCIaL PerFOrManCe
the key financial indicators underpinning the group’s 

financial performance for the year ended 28 February 2014 

are highlighted below. 

2014
 Rm

2013
 rm

Change
 rm

Other income 47.4 123.2 (75.8)

Other operating costs (100.2) (175.6) 75.4

Investment income 130.6 46.9 83.7

Finance costs (12.9) (23.8) 10.9

Profit/(loss) before taxation 64.7 (29.3) 94.0

Profit/(loss) for the year 9.5 (70.1) 79.6

2014
Cents

2013
Cents

Change
 Cents

Basic earnings/(loss) per share 1.37 (6.10) 7.47

diluted earnings/(loss) per share 1.36 (6.09) 7.45

Other income

Other income comprises foreign exchange gains totalling 

r47.4 million (2013: r32.1 million) which arose on translation 

of the US dollar denominated cash collateral, the contingent 

consideration receivable and loans advanced to eernL 

and dIg. 

In the prior financial year other income included the profit 

of r71.7  million on disposal of exploration and evaluation 

assets, foreign exchange gains totalling r32.1 million, the 

break fee received from a third party of r7.9  million and 

various other income items totalling r11.5 million.

Other operating costs

Significant expenses incurred by the group are detailed in 

note 6 to the group consolidated annual financial statements.

the decrease in other operating costs is a combination of 

improved cost management given the liquidity challenges 

faced by the group during the 2014 financial year and the 

reduction in the impairment of the group’s financial assets.

Investment income

Interest receivable from eernL contributed r103.0 million 

(2013: r37.6 million) towards investment income. the group’s 

cash and cash equivalents generated interest income totalling 

r0.9 million (2013: r0.8 million). Interest accruing to the 

group as a result of the unwinding of the time value discount 

applied to the group’s financial assets contributed a further 

r26.7 million (2013: r8.5 million). the group’s financial assets 

in this regard are the contingent consideration receivable, the 

advance payment against future services and the deferred 

consideration on disposal of the greenhills Plant as detailed 

in note 19. 

the increase in investment income is primarily attributable 

to the weakening of the rand and default interest on the 

loan to eernL at 2% per annum (compounded) from 

1 June 2013, over and above the contractual interest rate of 

30% per annum on loans advanced to eernL. no additional 

loans were advanced to eernL during the financial year 

under review.

Finance costs

the group’s finance costs for the year under review total 

r91.9 million (2013: r64.0 million). Finance costs totalling 

r40.9 million (2013: r35.1 million) incurred on specific 

borrowings from gairloch and the PIC have been capitalised 

to the OPL  233 exploration and evaluation (“e&e”) asset 

which is a qualifying asset in terms of IFrS. a further 

r38.1 million (2013: r5.1 million) is recoverable from eernL 

under the terms of the loan agreement with eernL and 

has been capitalised to the eernL loan receivable. the 

remaining finance costs of r12.9 million (2013: r23.8 million) 

in the statement of comprehensive income include interest 

totalling r11.6 million (2013: r5.1 million) on gairloch loans 

utilised for the group’s working capital requirements, and 

debt-raising fees and interest paid on the loan from the PIC 

totalling r0.8  million (2013: rnil). these loans were equity 

and cash settled in January 2014. Finance costs in the prior 

year also included r18.7 million relating to the discounting of 

financial assets.

the increase in finance costs is primarily attributable to the 

gairloch loan, which attracted interest for a period of seven 

months in the current year relative to one month in the prior 

financial year. this loan was equity settled in January 2014.
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FInanCIaL POSItIOn
2014
 Rm

2013
 rm

Change
 rm

exploration and evaluation assets 266.8 162.9 103.9

Other financial assets 655.9 456.5 199.4

Cash and cash equivalents 381.6 94.0 287.6

Other assets 1.2 4.3 (3.1)

total assets 1 305.5 717.7 587.8

total shareholders’ equity 948.8 363.5 585.3

deferred tax liability 92.5 72.6 19.9

Other financial liabilities 74.2 175.6 (101.4)

Current tax payable 176.9 94.0 82.9

trade and other payables 13.1 12.0 1.1

total equity and liabilities 1 305.5 717.7 587.8

Exploration and evaluation assets

the group invested r62.6 million (2013: r7.5 million) in 

OPL  233 for the seismic acquisition phase of the work 

programme. Furthermore, the group capitalised r40.9 million 

(2013: r35.1 million) of borrowing costs attributable to specific 

gairloch borrowings. the group also acquired exploration 

licences in Botswana for r0.4 million (2013:  r0.9 million 

acquisition of Malawi licence). the group’s exploration and 

evaluation assets are detailed in note 16 to the consolidated 

annual financial statements and pages  4 and  9 of the 

integrated annual report.

Other financial assets

the group’s other financial assets include the contingent 

consideration receivable from total pursuant to the farm-

out of Block III, loans advanced to eernL and dIg, the 

advance payment against future services and the deferred 

consideration on disposal of the greenhills Plant, as detailed 

in note 19 to the consolidated annual financial statements. 

Interest receivable for the year from eernL increased other 

financial assets by r103.0 million (2013: r37.6 million). 

Interest on specific gairloch borrowings also increased 

other financial assets by r38.1 million (2013: r5.1 million). 

this interest is recoverable from eernL under the terms of 

the loan agreement. during the financial year under review 

eernL paid r13.8 million (2013: r25.8 million) towards the 

settlement of the loan outstanding. an impairment provision 

of r37.9 million (2013: rnil) relating to part of the short-term 

interest receivables off-sets these increases.

Foreign exchange gains contributed r105.4 million (2013: 

r25.1 million) to the increase in other financial assets. these 

gains arose on the translation of the US dollar denominated 

contingent consideration receivable and the loans advanced 

to eernL and dIg. 

Interest arising from the unwinding of the time value 

discount applied to financial assets contributed r26.7 million 

(2013: r8.5 million) to the increase in other financial assets. 

an impairment loss of r22.1 million (2013: r129.9 million) 

arising from the write-down of future expected cash flows 

from the contingent consideration receivable also off-set the 

increases noted above. the write-down was necessitated by 

a change in timelines affecting the receipt of the contingent 

consideration and is reflective of the time value of money.

Cash and cash equivalents
a rights Offer that was undertaken to recapitalise the 

Company closed at the end of January 2014. total cash of 

r336.6 million was raised representing 59% subscription 

to the rights Offer. at 28 February 2014 cash and cash 

equivalents include r273.3 million of these funds after the 

settlement of the PIC loan (r47.9 million) and the group’s 

accumulated short-term liabilities (r15.4 million). 

Cash and cash equivalents also include the historical 

OPL 233 performance bond cash collateral of r108.1 million 

(2013: r89.1 million) (US$10 million) which has been revalued 

by r19.0 million (2013: r6.5 million), net of interest income. 

Total shareholders’ equity
the rights Offer proceeds noted above contributed 

r336.6  million towards the increase in equity. the equity 

settlement of the gairloch loans, as detailed in note 25, 

contributed a further r238.5 million. SacOil also raised 

r0.7 million by way of a general issue for cash during the 

financial year under review. 

the group’s profit for the year increased shareholders’ equity 

by a further r9.5 million.

Deferred tax liability
deferred tax arises from the estimated future contingent 

consideration receivable and temporary differences on 

transactions detailed in note 24. the increase in the contingent 

consideration by r40 million (2013: decrease of r81.8 million) 

resulted in a deferred tax change of r16 million (2013: credit 

of r32.7 million). a further charge of r3.9 million (2013: rnil) 

arose from the group’s transactions with connected parties 

and impairment provisions.

Other financial liabilities
the decrease in other financial liabilities reflects the equity 

settlement of the gairloch loans totalling r238.5 million 

(2013: r129.0 million), off-set by increases in the amounts 

due to eernL for its equivalent share of the cash collateral 

and nigdel for OPL 233 work programme costs. the amounts 

due to eernL increased by foreign exchange losses totalling 

r9.7 million (2013: r3.3 million), reflective of the weakening 

of the rand against the US dollar. the amounts due to nigdel 

FInanCe dIreCtOrS’ rePOrt (continued)
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increased by r17.9 million (2013: r2.4 million) representing 

SacOil’s share of OPL 233 seismic costs at the reporting date.

Current tax payable

the group experienced significant liquidity challenges during 

the 2014 financial year and was unable to settle foreign taxes 

payable. as a result taxes attributable to disposals by the 

group of e&e assets and the declaration of dividends in prior 

financial years remained outstanding and continued to accrue 

interest during the 2014 financial year. Interest on taxes 

outstanding amounts to r21.4 million (2013: r36.9 million). 

Foreign exchange losses total r47.5 million (2013: rnil). the 

foreign taxes are denominated in US dollars.

the group’s current tax charge for the year is r14.0 million 

(2013: rnil). the group’s profit for the year was primarily 

driven by foreign exchange gains on transactions with non-

connected parties and interest receivable from eernL.

CaSH FLOWS
Cash totalling r39.1 million (2013: 24.7 million) was used to 

fund the group’s working capital requirements, including, 

but not limited to, remuneration (r13.5 million), consulting 

fees (r2.1 million), legal fees (r1.9 million), corporate costs 

(r7.4 million), audit fees (r2.0 million), rentals (r1.1 million), 

travel and accommodation (r1.4 million) and broker fees 

(r0.9 million).

the group’s investment of r63.2 million in the Botswana 

licences, OPL  233 seismic costs, property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets, off-set by the cash inflows 

from the group’s loans and receivables of r14.8 million 

(primarily the part payment of r13.8 million of the eernL 

loan), resulted in net cash used in investing activities of 

r48.4 million (2013: r0.9 million).

the rights Offer proceeds of r336.6 million, together with 

the increase in the amounts owed to nigdel and eernL, 

resulted in net cash from financial activities of r355.9 million 

(2013: r101.5 million).

COntraCtUaL COMMItMentS
the group’s contractual commitments are outlined in note 34 

to the consolidated annual financial statements.

MarKet CaPItaLISatIOn
SacOil’s market capitalisation at 28 February 2014 is 

r1.9 billion (2013: r314.6 million). the increase is attributable 

to an increase of 2.1 billion in the number of shares in issue 

following the rights Offer and the equity settlement of the 

gairloch loans and an increase in share price from 33 cents at 

28 February 2013 to 60 cents at 28 February 2014.

gOIng COnCern
although the Company was able to raise r336.6 million of 

the planned r570 million from the rights Offer, a deficit of 

r90  million remains in the group’s projected cash flows 

to June 2015. the Company will be engaging with various 

financial institutions regarding the raising of equity and debt 

funding to eliminate or manage the deficit. the Company 

will also continue to assess other alternatives to raise 

funds to ensure the group is able to fund its operations 

and commitments beyond June 2015. Conditions therefore 

exist which give rise to material uncertainties which may 

cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. details pertaining to these 

conditions are outlined in note 32 to the consolidated annual 

financial statements. 

Tariro Mudzimuirema
Finance director

28 May 2014
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COrPOrate gOVernanCe rePOrt

StateMent OF COrPOrate gOVernanCe 
the Board of SacOil strives to promote the highest standard 

of corporate governance by supporting the principles of 

good governance as outlined in the Code of Corporate 

Practices and Conduct as recommended by the King III 

report on good governance for South africa and the QCa 

Corporate governance guidelines for aIM Companies and 

the UK Corporate governance Code.

good governance includes the structures, processes and 

practices that the Board uses to ensure its oversight function 

over the operations of SacOil.

the Board, its Committees and employees are committed to 

the principles of transparency, accountability, integrity and 

fairness in the conduct of its business affairs.

to ensure adherence to good governance the Company 

remains vigilant in adhering to developments in this arena 

and improvements are made where deemed appropriate. 

HIgHLIgHtS On gOVernanCe FOr tHe 
year Under reVIeW 
the Company’s governance practices are continuously 

improved to ensure alignment with internal developments 

and shifts in legislation, regulations and trends. to further 

demonstrate this the following highlights of improvements in 
governance are highlighted:

•	 	reconstitution	of	the	Board	and	Board	subcommittees;

•	 	establishment	of	the	Investment	and	Technical	Advisory	
Committees;

•	 	review	 and	 amendment	 of	 the	 terms	 of	 reference	 of	
the audit, Social, ethics and risk and remuneration 
Committees;	

•	 	the	inclusion	of	risk	management	in	the	terms	of	reference	
of	all	Committees;	

•	 	development	of	a	Social,	Ethics	and	Risk	Framework;	and

•	 	review	and	amendment	of	the	Remuneration	Framework.

the initiatives highlighted above are all expanded on in 
the Statement by the Board of directors and reports of the 
respective Committees who exercised oversight over these 
matters.

aPPLICatIOn OF COdeS OF gOOd 
gOVernanCe
the index below indicates areas where the recommendations of 
King III were not applied. non-compliance arose primarily as a 
result of the Company’s current size and the phase of evolution 
of the business. a register on King III compliance is available on 

the Company’s website at www.sacoilholdings.com

KIng III Index 
No. King III Principle and recommended practice Explanation

2.10 the Board should ensure that there is an effective 
risk-based Internal audit.

there was no Internal audit function during the year under review. 
the Board, through the audit Committee, will be finalising the 
appointment of an Internal auditor by 31 May 2014.

2.18 the Board should comprise a balance of power, with 
a majority of non-executive directors. the majority of 
non-executive directors should be independent.

the Board is made up of ten members, eight of whom are non-
executive directors. Only four of the non-executive directors are 
independent. as such the majority of non-executive directors are 
not independent. 

3.7 the audit Committee should be responsible for 
overseeing of Internal audit.

refer to comment provided under 2.10 above.

6.4.6 the Board should delegate to management the 
implementation of an effective compliance framework 
and processes. an independent suitably skilled 
compliance officer may be appointed.

the Board as a whole, with the assistance of its subcommittees 
considers and oversees compliance. there is no independent 
compliance position within the Company at present, but this is 
being considered by the Board.

7 Internal audit the Company did not have an Internal audit function during the 
period under review. the Company is finalising the outsourcing of 
the Internal audit function. an Internal auditor is expected to have 
been appointed by the end of May 2014.

7.1 the Board should ensure that there is an effective risk 
based	Internal	Audit;

7.2 Internal audit should follow a risk-based approach to 
its	plan;

7.3 Internal audit should provide a written assessment of 
the effectiveness of the Company’s system of internal 
controls	and	risk	management;

7.4 the audit Committee should be responsible for 
overseeing	internal	audit;	and

7.4.5 Internal audit should be strategically positioned to 
achieve its objectives.

9.3 Sustainability reporting and disclosure should be 
independently assured.

there was no external assurance on the integrated report. the 
Board will consider obtaining external assurance on the integrated 
report including the cost implications thereof going forward.
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JSe and aIM
the Company complied with the Listings requirements of 

the JSe and also with the aIM rules for Companies (“aIM 

rules”), except for the following non-compliance with the 

JSe Listings requirements:

Section 3.16: Provisional reports 
due to the suspension of SacOil from trading on the JSe 

and the absence of a duly constituted Board of directors, the 

results were only released on 16 September 2013. 

Section 3.19 – 3.22: Annual financial statements 
due to the suspension of SacOil from trading on the JSe 

and the absence of a duly constituted Board of directors, the 

annual financial statements were only posted to shareholders 

on 23 September 2013. 

Section 3.84(g): Corporate governance 
the Company did not have a Finance director between 

1 January and 25 July 2013 – dispensation was obtained from 

the JSe in this regard. tariro Mudzimuirema was appointed 

as interim Finance director on 25 July 2013.

COMPanIeS aCt
the Company complied with the Companies act.

BOard OF dIreCtOrS 
SacOil has a unitary Board structure made up of a majority 

of non-executive directors, appointed by the shareholders. 

the Board retains overall accountability for the running of the 

Company and is accountable for the making of decisions that 

could have a material impact on the business. It discharges 

this responsibility through the executive management team 

who are responsible for the day-to-day management of the 

operations of the Company.

the Board gave strategic direction to the Company and 

group for the year under review under the chairmanship of 

richard  Linnell (resigned 11 april 2013) and tito Mboweni 

(appointed 10 June 2013). the Board retains full and 

effective control over the Company and monitors executive 

management in implementing plans, policies, tactics, 

procedures and strategies.

the Board recognises that it is responsible for implementing 

practices of good governance and that companies no longer 

act independently from the societies and the environment in 

which they operate. the Board is committed to high standards 

of corporate governance in order to facilitate an environment 

where the Company’s assets are safeguarded and the interests 

of all stakeholders and shareholders are protected.

Board Charter 
the scope of authority, roles and responsibilities, composition 

and functions of the Board is outlined in the Board Charter. 

the Charter is reviewed to remain relevant and keep pace 

with changes in corporate governance standards.

Board composition 

at year-end, the Board of directors consisted of eight non-

executive directors and two executive directors. Of the eight 

non-executive directors, four are independent. together, 

the non-executive directors provide a broad range of skills 

and experience to the Board which assist in their roles 

in formulating the Company’s strategy and in providing 

constructive challenge to executive management. a division of 

responsibilities ensures a balance of authority and power, with 

no individual having unrestricted decision-making powers.

a list of the directors and the executive team, together with 

background information, for the period under review appears 

on pages 12 to 15 of this integrated annual report.

the following directors were appointed during the financial 

year under review:

•	 Tito	Titus	Mboweni

 Independent non-executive Chairman 

 (appointed 10 June 2013)

•	 Mzuvukile	Jeff	Maqetuka	

 Independent non-executive director

 (appointed 10 June 2013)

•	 Stephanus	Hilgard	Muller	

 Independent non-executive director

 (appointed 10 June 2013)

•	 Ignatius	Simon	Sehoole

 non-executive director 

 (appointed 12 July 2013

•	 Vusumzi	Patrick	Pikoli	

 Independent non-executive director

 (appointed 12 July 2013)

•	 Danladi	Michel	Verheijen

 non-executive director 

 (appointed 27 January 2014)

•	 Titilola	Abisoye	Akinleye	

 non-executive director 

 (appointed 27 January 2014) 

•	 Roger	Rees	

 Chief executive Officer

 (appointed 25 July 2013)

•	 Tariro	Mudzimuirema	

 Finance director

 (appointed 25 July 2013)
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COrPOrate gOVernanCe rePOrt (continued)

the following directors resigned during the financial year 

under review:

•	 Richard	Linnell

 Independent non-executive Chairman 

 (resigned 11 april 2013)

•	 Colin	Bird	

 non-executive director

 (resigned 11 april 2013)

•	 Bill	Guest	

 non-executive director 

 (resigned 31 May 2013)

•	 John	Bentley	

 non-executive director 

 (resigned 31 May 2013)

•	 Robin	Vela	

 Chief executive Officer 

 (resigned 31 May 2013)

On 29 april 2014 the Company announced the appointment 

of dr thabo Kgogo as the Chief executive Officer of 

SacOil, replacing the outgoing Interim Chief executive 

Officer, roger  rees. dr Kgogo’s appointment is effective 

from 1 June 2014. His career background is highlighted on 

page 14 of the integrated annual report.

Board meetings 

a minimum of four Board meetings are scheduled per 

financial year and additional meetings can be convened to 

consider specific business issues which may arise between 

scheduled meetings. attendance of Board meetings is 

available on page 26.

Main duties and responsibilities of the directors 

directors’ duties and responsibilities are prescribed by law. 

In the interest of good governance the Board discharges the 

duties and responsibilities which are listed below but are not 

limited to:

The	Board

•	 	Acts	 as	 a	 focal	 point	 for	 and	 custodian	 of	 corporate	

governance in line with the Board Charter which sets out 

the Board’s responsibilities

•	 	Monitors	the	relationship	between	management	and	the	

stakeholders of the Company

•	 	Seeks	 the	optimum	balance	 for	 the	Company	between	

conformance with the dictates of good governance and 

performance

•	 	Appreciates	 that	 strategy,	 risk,	 performance	 and	

sustainability are inseparable

•	 	Informs	and	approves	the	strategy

•	 	Ensures	that	the	Company’s	strategic	direction	is	in	line	

with the Company’s purpose, the value drivers of its 

business and legitimate interests and expectations of its 

shareholders

•	 	Provides	 effective	 leadership	 based	 on	 an	 ethical	

foundation and by so doing actively promotes an ethical 

culture within the Company

•	 	Ensures	 that	 the	 Company	 is	 and	 is	 seen	 to	 be	 a	

responsible corporate citizen

•	 	Ensures	that	the	Company’s	ethics	are	managed	effectively

•	 	Monitors	the	implementation	of	the	strategy	by	management

•	 	Ensures	 full,	 timely	 and	 transparent	 disclosure	 of	 all	

material matters

•	 	Ensures	 that	 the	 Company	 has	 an	 effective	 and	

independent audit Committee

•	 	Reviews	the	size	and	composition	of	the	Board	in	terms	

of the mix of skills diversity and the requirements for the 

appropriate constitution of Board Committees

•	 	Agrees	 on	 the	 procedure	 to	 allow	 directors	 to	 obtain	

independent professional advice where necessary

•	 	Always	acts	in	the	best	interests	of	the	Company

•	 	Agrees	upon	procedures	to	manage	conflicts	of	interest

•	 	Delegates	the	necessary	authority	to	management	for	the	

day-to-day operations of the Company

•	 	Is	responsible	for	the	governance	of	risk

•	 	Is	responsible	for	information	technology	(“IT”)	governance

•	 	Ensures	that	the	solvency	and	liquidity	of	the	Company	is	

continuously monitored

•	 	Ensures	that	the	Company	complies	with	applicable	laws	

and considers adherence to non-binding rules, codes 

and standards

•	 	Ensures	that	there	is	an	effective	risk-based	Internal	Audit

•	 	Appreciates	 that	 stakeholders’	 perceptions	 affect	 the	

Company’s reputation

•	 	Ensures	the	integrity	of	the	Company’s	integrated	report

•	 	Reports	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	Company’s	systems	

of internal controls

The	Chairman

the Chairman, so elected by the Board, is an Independent 

non-executive director. the roles of the Chairman and CeO 

remain separate. the Chairman’s performance will forthwith 

be evaluated annually.
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the core functions of the Chairman are highlighted as follows:

•	 	Sets	the	ethical	standards	for	the	Board,	the	Group	and	

the Company

•	 	Provides	overall	leadership	to	the	Board	without	limiting	

the principle of collective responsibility for Board 

decisions, while at the same time being aware of the 

individual duties of Board members

•	 	Considers	and	oversees	a	formal	succession	plan	for	the	

Board and CeO

•	 	Identifies	 and	 participates	 in	 the	 selection	 of	 Board	

members

•	 	Formulates,	with	 the	CEO	and	Company	Secretary,	 the	

yearly work plan for the Board against agreed objectives

•	 	Plays	 an	 active	 part	 in	 setting	 the	 agenda	 for	 Board	

meetings and presides over Board meetings

•	 	Acts	as	the	link	between	the	Board	and	management	and	

particularly between the Board and the CeO

•	 	Maintains	 an	 arm’s	 length	 relationship	 with	 Board	

members and management

•	 	Monitors	 how	 the	 Board	 works	 together	 and	 how	

individual directors perform and interact at meetings

•	 	Meets	with	 individual	directors	once	a	 year	 to	evaluate	

performance

•	 	Ensures	 that	 good	 relations	 are	 maintained	 with	 the	

Company’s major shareholders and its strategic 

stakeholders

•	 	Presides	over	shareholders’	meetings

Non-executive	directors

all the non-executive directors are individuals of high calibre 

and credibility. they have the necessary skills and experience 

to bring judgement to bear, independent of management, on 

issues of strategy, performance, resources, transformation, 

diversity and employment equity, standards of conduct and 

evaluation of performance.

the non-executive directors are not involved in the day-to-

day management of the business and are not encumbered 

with specific management responsibility. these directors are 

not full-time salaried employees of the Company and/or any 

of its subsidiaries. none of the non-executive directors has 

been employed by the Company and are accordingly not 

predisposed for or against some parts of the business. none 

of the non-executive directors are retained professional 

advisers.

the non-executive directors have unfettered access to 

management.

all non-executive directors’ appointments are formalised 

through letters of appointment. the non-executive directors 

enjoy benefits from the group for their services as directors. 

they receive fees for their services as directors. they can 

also earn dividends on their interests in ordinary shares.

Independence	of	directors

no Independent non-executive director has served for a period 

of nine years. the Board will measure their independence in 

line with the policy on measuring independence.

It is confirmed that the Independent non-executive directors:

•	 	were	not	representatives	of	any	shareholder	who	has	the	

ability to control or materially influence management or 

the	Board;

•	 	were	not	employed	by	the	Company	or	the	Group	in	any	

executive	capacity	in	the	preceding	three	financial	years;

•	 	were	 not	 members	 of	 the	 immediate	 family	 of	 an	

individual who is, or has been in any of the past three 

financial years, employed by the Company or the group 

in	an	executive	capacity;

•	 	were	 not	 professional	 advisers	 to	 the	 Company	 or	 the	

Group,	other	than	in	the	capacity	as	a	director;

•	 	were	not	suppliers	or	material	suppliers	to	the	Company	

or	Group,	or	to	clients	of	the	Group;

•	 	had	 no	 material	 contractual	 relationship	 with	 the	

Company	or	Group;	and

•	 	were	free	from	any	business	or	other	relationship	which	

could be seen to materially interfere with the individual’s 

capacity to act in an independent manner.

Executive	directors

as noted on page  21 of the integrated annual report the 

Company was without a Finance director for the first five 

months of the period under review. at year-end, the Company 

had two executive directors, both appointed on 25 July 2013.

In the best interests of the Company and the group the 

executive directors carefully manage the conflict between 

management responsibilities and fiduciary duties as directors.

the executive directors have entered into service contracts 

with the Company and the contracts are reviewed annually.

the CeO’s performance is evaluated by the Chairman on an 

annual basis.

the Fd’s performance is evaluated by the audit Committee.

the Board determines the remuneration of executive 

directors in accordance with the remuneration policy put to 

shareholders’ vote.
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COrPOrate gOVernanCe rePOrt (continued)

the executive directors are individually mandated and held 

accountable for:

•	 	the	 implementation	 of	 the	 strategies	 and	 key	 policies	

determined	by	the	Board;

•	 	managing	and	monitoring	the	business	and	affairs	of	the	

Company and the group in accordance with approved 

business	plans	and	budgets;

•	 	prioritising	the	allocation	of	capital	and	other	resources;	

and

•	 	establishing	 the	 best	management	 and	 other	 operating	

practices.

Chief	Executive	Officer	and	delegation	of	authority

the ultimate responsibility for the group rests with the Board. 

the Board retains effective control through a well-developed 

governance structure of Board Committees. the role and 

function of the CeO is formalised and his performance is 

evaluated against set criteria. Certain authorities have been 

delegated to the CeO to manage the day-to-day business 

affairs of the Company and the group. However, in terms of 

statute and the Company’s and group’s constitution, together 

with the revised delegation of authority, certain matters are 

still reserved for Board and/or shareholder approval.

the CeO is tasked with the running of the business and 

the implementation of the policies and strategies approved 

and adopted by the Board. the Board’s governance and 

management functions are aligned through the CeO. all the 

authority conferred on management is delegated through the 

CeO. the accountability of management is considered to be 

the authority and the accountability of the CeO.

Board selection, appointment and rotation

the collective knowledge, skills, experience and resources 

required for conducting the business of the Board are 

considered when determining the number of directors to 

serve on the Board.

Factors considered by the Board include the following, but 

are not restricted to:

•	 	evolving	circumstances	and	needs	of	the	Company	and	

the	Group;

•	 	appropriate	 mix	 of	 Executive	 and	 Independent	 Non-

executive	directors;

•	 	need	 to	 have	 sufficient	 directors	 to	 structure	 Board	

Committees	appropriately;

•	 	requirements	for	skills	and	knowledge	to	make	business	

judgement	 calls	 on	behalf	 of	 the	Company	and	Group;	

and

•	 	regulatory	requirements.

a formal and transparent procedure is in place for the 
appointment of directors. the nomination Committee 
is responsible for selecting and recommending the 
appointment of competent, qualified and experienced 
directors to the Board. the Board as a whole, after receiving 
recommendations from the nomination Committee, appoints 
directors. all newly appointed directors are subject to an 
induction programme.

reappointment to the Board is not automatic and directors 
may offer themselves for re-election.

In terms of section 6.1 of the Memorandum of Incorporation, 
any appointment of a director must be confirmed by 
shareholders at the annual general Meeting following such 
appointment.

the rotation of directors is more fully governed in terms of 
section 6.2 of the Memorandum of Incorporation. One-third 
of the directors, or if their number is not a multiple of 3, then 
the number nearest to, but not less than one-third, shall retire 
from office at each annual general Meeting. the Board, 
assisted where appropriate, by the nomination Committee, 
should consider eligibility for re-election based on past 
performance and contribution. 

the nomination Committee recommended and the Board 
resolved, after being satisfied with the past performance 
and contribution and after the parties agreeing to offer 
themselves for re-election, that tito Mboweni, Steve Muller 
and Mzuvukile  Jeff  Maqetuka retire at the annual general 
Meeting. the biographical details of the directors offering 
themselves for re-election are available on page  12 of 
this report. 

the Company has not adopted a retirement age for directors.

Training and updating the knowledge of directors
the Board and each individual director have a working 
understanding of the effect of the business, applicable laws, 
rules, codes and standards of the Company and the group. 
directors receive regular briefings on changes in risks, laws 
and the environment. the induction and ongoing training of 
directors are conducted through a formal process.

the Company is committed to providing continuing 
professional development training opportunities to directors 
and officers.

COMPany SeCretary
the services and advice of the Company Secretary are 
available to all directors. the Company Secretary is Fusion 
Corporate Secretarial Services (Proprietary) Limited. the 
Company Secretary is responsible for the functions specified 
in the Companies act. the appointment and removal of the 

Company Secretary is a matter to be dealt with by the Board.
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the Board empowers the Company Secretary to enable it 
to properly fulfil its duties. the Board is satisfied with the 
competence, experience and expertise of the Company 
Secretary.

the Company Secretary:

•	 	has	an	arm’s	length	relationship	with	the	Board;

•	 	is	not	a	director	of	the	Company;

•	 	assists	 the	Nomination	Committee	with	 the	 nomination	
and	appointment	of	directors;

•	 	provides	 guidance	 to	 the	 Board	 regarding	 its	 duties,	
responsibilities	and	powers;

•	 	provides	 guidance	 to	 directors	 regarding	 good	
governance	procedures;

•	 	ensures	that	the	Board	and	Committee	Charters	are	kept	
up	to	date;

•	 	prepares	and	circulates	Board	and	Committee	papers;

•	 	elicits	 responses,	 input	 and	 feedback	 for	 Board	 and	
Board	Committee	meetings;

•	 	assists	in	drafting	yearly	plans;

•	 	prepares	 and	 circulates	 minutes	 of	 the	 Board	 and	
committee	meetings;	and

•	 	assists	 with	 evaluating	 the	 Board,	 committees	 and	
individual directors.

BOard COMMItteeS 
the directors have delegated specific functions to Committees 
to assist the Board in meeting its overall responsibilities. the 
Board has established standing Committees in this regard. 
these Committees all act in accordance with approved terms 
of reference which are reviewed annually by the Board to 
ascertain levels of performance and effectiveness.

the Company has the following subcommittees:

•	 	Social,	Ethics	and	Risk	Committee

•	 	Remuneration	Committee

•	 	Audit	Committee

•	 	Nomination	Committee

•	 	Investment	Committee

•	 	Technical	and	Advisory	Committee

Committee reports appear on pages  27 to  35 of this 
integrated annual report. these reports highlight the roles of 
each of the Committees.

SHare deaLIngS
all directors, officers and employees of the Company are 
advised of closed and prohibited periods in terms of the 
requirements of the JSe and the aIM rules. directors, 
employees, consultants and agents are prohibited from 

trading in the Company’s securities during closed and 

prohibited periods.

directors are required to obtain written clearance from the 

Chairman prior to dealing in the Company’s shares. the 

Chairman is required to obtain approval from the Chairman of 

the audit Committee before undertaking any share dealings. 

It is also mandatory for directors to notify the Company 

Secretary of any dealings in the Company’s shares. this 

information is then disclosed on the Securities exchange 

news Service (“SenS”) of the JSe as well as on the 

regulatory news Service (“rnS”) of the LSe within 48 hours 

of the trade being effected. the Company maintains a record 

of any share dealings throughout the year.

the director dealings during the year were as follows:

•	 	Mr	 Steve	Muller	 purchased	 1	 200	 000	 ordinary	 shares	

in SacOil Holdings Limited on 22 november 2013 and a 

further 100 000 ordinary shares on 10 december 2013.

•	 	Mr	Ignatius	Sehoole	purchased	296	000	ordinary	shares	

in SacOil Holdings Limited on 9 January 2014. 

directors’ interests are disclosed on page 44 of the integrated 

annual report.

anaLySIS OF SHareHOLdIng
an analysis of the Company’s shareholding at 28 February 2014 

can be found on page 87 of the integrated annual report.

gOIng COnCern
the financial position, results of operations and cash flows 

of the group are given on pages 46 to 49 of the integrated 

report. Significant financial transactions of the group are 

reviewed in the Finance director’s report on page 17 of the 

integrated report. Having made the relevant enquiries and 

having considered future financing plans and cash flows 

of the group, the Board is satisfied that the Company will 

have adequate resources to continue operating for the next 

12 months. For this reason the Board continues to adopt the 

going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 

Further disclosures on the going concern status of the group 

are provided in note 32.

InVeStOr reLatIOnS and 
COMMUnICatIOn WItH StaKeHOLderS
the Company is committed to an ongoing interactive 

relationship with shareholders, investors, analysts and 

regulators.

although the group did not present the interim and final results 

in a presentation format to the stakeholders, management is 

available to stakeholders with any questions relating to the 

performance of the group. SacOil continues to be committed 

to open relationships with stakeholders.
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COrPOrate gOVernanCe rePOrt (continued)

SPOnSOr (SOUtH aFrICa)
nedbank Capital remained the appointed Sponsor of 

the Company. their address is: third Floor Block F, 

135 Rivonia Road,	Sandown,	Sandton,	2196,	South	Africa;	

PO Box 1144, Johannesburg, 2000, South africa.

nOMInated adVISer and JOInt BrOKer 
(LOndOn)
finnCap Limited remained the appointed nominated adviser. 

their address is: 60 new Broad Street, London, eC2M 1JJ, 

United Kingdom.

tranSFer SeCretary
Link Market Services South africa (Proprietary) Limited 

remained the appointed transfer Secretary to the Company. 

they assist all our shareholders with enquiries pertaining to 

shareholdings. Shareholders can address shareholding-related 

queries to PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000, South africa or 

visit them at 13th Floor, rennie House, 19  ameshoff Street, 

Braamfontein, Johannesburg 2001, South africa.

UK dePOSItOry
Computershare Investor Services PLC, the Pavillions, 

Bridgwater road, Bristol, BS13 8ae, United Kingdom.

Summary of Board meeting attendances

Board
11 apr 
2013

16 apr 
2013

18 apr 
2013

3 May 
2013

14 May 
2013

28 May 
2013

12 Jun 
2013

29 Jun 
2013

24 Jul 
2013

18 nov 
2013

7 Jan 
2014

26 Feb 
2014

robin Vela P (tele) P P (tele) a P (tele) P r r r r R R

gontse Moseneke P (tele) P P (tele) P (tele) P (tele) P P (tele) P P P P P

John Bentley P (tele) P (tele) P P (tele) P (tele) P r r r r R R

Bill guest P (tele) P P (tele) P (tele) P (tele) P r r r r R R

roger rees n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a P P P

Stephanus Muller n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a P (tele) P P P P P

Mzuvukile Maqetuka n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a P (tele) a P P P P

Vusi Pikoli n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a P P P (Tele) P

Ignatius Sehoole n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a P P P P

tito Mboweni n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a P (tele) P P P P P

tariro Mudzimuirema n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a P P P

Lola akinleye n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a N/A P

danladi Verheijen n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a N/A P

Company Secretary P (tele) P P (tele) P (tele) P (tele) P P (tele) P P P P (Tele) P

P Present.
P (Tele) Present – dialled in.
A Apology.
R Resigned.
N/A Not appointed.
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In the year under review the group continued to demonstrate 

its commitment to conducting its business activities in an 

ethical manner and ensured the appropriate vigilance around 

environmental, social, ethics and risk matters. the following 

advances have been made in the effective management of 

the group’s social and ethical conduct.

SOCIaL, etHICS and rISK COMMIttee 
OVerVIeW
Composition

the Social, ethics and risk Committee was reconstituted on 

24 July 2013. the composition of the Committee is in line 

with the requirements of the Companies act. the members 

of the Social, ethics and risk Committee are Vusi Pikoli 

(Chairman), gontse Moseneke, Mzuvukile Maqetuka and 

Ignatius Sehoole.

the members of the Committee have sufficient qualifications 

and experience to fulfil their duties and the Board appointed 

the Chairman of the Committee.

the Committee is empowered to make recommendations to 

the Board that it deems appropriate on any area within the 

ambit of its terms of reference where action or improvement 

is required.

Meeting attendance

the Committee must hold sufficient meetings to discharge 

all its duties as set out in the terms of reference. the Social, 

ethics and risk Committee met twice during the year under 

review. attendance at meetings is set out below:

Summary of Social, Ethics and Risk Committee Meeting 

Attendance: March 2013 – February 2014

Social,	Ethics	and	Risk	Committee
25 Feb 
2014

28 Oct 
2013

gontse Moseneke P P

Mzuvukile Maqetuka P P

Vusi Pikoli P P

Ignatius Sehoole A P

Company Secretary P P

P Present.
A Absent.

reVIeW OF SOCIaL, etHICS and rISK 
COMMIttee 
a review was undertaken of the Social, ethics and risk 

Committee’s role and comprehensive terms of reference 

were developed for the Committee. these were reviewed 

and captured in a new terms of reference document that 

was approved by the Board. an important revision was the 

incorporation of risk management oversight into the terms of 

reference of all subcommittees of the Board.

the purpose of these terms of reference is to set out 

the Committee’s role and responsibilities as well as the 

requirements for its composition and meeting procedures. 

the broad terms of reference for the Committee are 

outlined below. 

Terms of reference

the Committee has an independent role, operating as an 

overseer and a maker of recommendations to the Board for 

its consideration and final approval, regarding social, ethics 

and risk matters. 

the role of the Committee is to monitor the Company’s 

activities with regards to compliance with applicable 

legislation and prevailing codes of best practice, for matters 

relating to transformation (including employment equity and 

broad-based black economic empowerment), health and 

safety, good corporate citizenship, consumer relationships, 

labour and employment, and environmental issues. 

the Committee does not assume the functions of 

management, which remain the responsibility of the executive 

directors, prescribed officers and other members of senior 

management.

the terms of reference of the Committee are subject to 

applicable provisions of the Companies act (including 

peremptory requirements of section 72 of the Companies 

act), the regulations in terms of the Companies act (including 

any peremptory provisions of regulation 43), the Company’s 

Memorandum of Incorporation and other applicable law or 

regulatory provisions.

Duties and Responsibilities

the duties and responsibilities of the Committee primarily 

focus on the following:

to monitor the Company’s activities with regards to any 

relevant legislation, other legal requirements or prevailing 

codes of best practice, with regards to matters relating to:

•	 	Social	 and	 economic	 development,	 including	 the	

Company’s standing in terms of the goals and purposes of:

 –  the ten principles set out in the United nations global 

Compact	Principles;

 –  the Organisation for economic Co-operation and 

Development	recommendations	regarding	corruption;

	 –	 	the	Employment	Equity	Act;	and

 –  the Broad-based Black economic empowerment act.

•	 Good	corporate	citizenship,	including	the	Company’s:

 –  promotion of equity, prevention of unfair discrimination, 

and	reduction	of	corruption;

SOCIaL, etHICS and  
rISK COMMIttee rePOrt
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SOCIaL, etHICS and rISK COMMIttee rePOrt (continued)

 –  contribution to development of the communities in 

which its activities are predominately conducted or 

within which its products or services are predominantly 

marketed;	and

 –  record of sponsorship, donations and charitable 

giving.

•	 The	environment,	health	and	public	safety,	including:

 –  the impact of the Company’s activities and of its 

products	or	services;

 –  consumer relationships, including the Company’s 

advertising public relations and compliance with 

consumer	protection	laws;	and

 –  labour and employment, including:

   o  the Company’s standing in terms of the International 

Labour Organisation Protocol on decent work and 

working	conditions;	and

   o  the Company’s employment relationships and its 

contribution toward the educational development 

of its employees.

•	 	Managing	of	risk	factors	within	the	Company,	including:

 –  monitoring implementation of the policy and plan for 

risk	management;

 –  overseeing that the risk management plan is widely 

disseminated throughout the Company and integrated 

into	the	day-to-day	activities	of	the	Company;

 –  ensuring that risk management is performed on a 

continuous	basis;

 –  ensuring that management considers and implements 

appropriate	risk	responses;

 –  liaising closely with the audit Committee to exchange 

information	relevant	to	risk;	and

 –  expressing the Committee’s formal opinion to the 

Board on the effectiveness of the system and process 

of risk management.

Key SOCIaL, etHICS and rISK deCISIOnS 
taKen
the Committee sees itself as the “watch dog” of good 

corporate governance and will ensure that all social, ethical 

and risk elements are properly governed. 

the following key decisions were made during the financial 

year ended 28 February 2014:

•	 	Adoption	of	the	UN	Global	initiative	with	special	emphasis	

on human rights, labour relations and legislation, the 

environment and issues with regards to corruption, and 

how to combat this corruption will be embraced

•	 	Recommended	to	the	Board,	a	forensic	audit	of	identified	

transactions of the group

•	 	Mandated	 the	 completion	 of	 UK	 Bribery	 Act-based	

checklists by third parties engaged on behalf of SacOil as 

a “know your partner” initiative

•	 	Recommended	that	a	risk	management	framework	based	

on ISO31000 principles is implemented

•	 	Recommended	that	risk	registers	are	maintained	for	each	

of the group’s exploration and evaluation assets

•	 	Proposed	 that	 BEE	 credentials	 of	 identified	 service	

providers be revisited

this report should be read in conjunction with the 

Sustainability report, which provides an insight into the 

group’s social and ethics risks.

Vusi Pikoli
Chairman – Social, ethics and risk Committee

28 May 2014
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reMUneratIOn COMMIttee rePOrt

the remuneration Committee has pleasure in presenting 

the remuneration report for the financial year ended 

28 February 2014. as it did last year this remuneration report 

sets out information applicable to the group’s remuneration 

philosophy, executive remuneration and directors’ fees. 

this report has been approved by the Board on the 

recommendation of the remuneration Committee, and 

comprises the following sections:

•	 Remuneration	Committee	overview

•	 Key	remuneration	decisions	taken

•	 Revision	of	the	remuneration	policy

•	 Components	of	remuneration

•	 Detailed	audited	information

reMUneratIOn COMMIttee OVerVIeW 
In pursuit of good governance and adherence to the 

King  III Code of good governance Practice, the Company 

has in place a remuneration Committee with clear terms 

of reference to guide its oversight functions in the area of 

remuneration and human resource matters in general.

the transparent and equitable compensation of Board 

members, executives and employees is important in the context 

of a fair return for value added to the Company and creating 

the conditions that are conducive to ensuring a sustainable, 

productive and highly motivated organisation. to this end the 

Company has ensured that the necessary mechanisms and 

initiatives are in place to ensure the achievement of these 

objectives which are highlighted in this report. 

Composition

Members: Mzuvukile Maqetuka (Chairman), tito Mboweni, 

Ignatius Sehoole and Vusi Pikoli

the majority of Committee members are Independent non-

executive directors. the Chief executive Officer is a standing 

invitee at meetings of the Committee. the Committee reports 

to the Board on its oversight functions. Other Board members 

may attend meetings of the Committee by invitation, however, 

no director participates in discussions involving his or her 

own remuneration. the Company Secretary acts as secretary 

to the Committee. external advisers are used to provide 

market information as and when required. 

Roles and responsibilities

the Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities 

in compliance with its mandate. the Committee offers the 

assurance that conflicts of interest are managed appropriately 

and as guided by the codes of good practice. In addition to 

Board members, no member of the executive team is involved 

in the determination of his or her own remuneration. In brief, 

the Committee’s roles and responsibilities include, but are not 
limited to:

•	 developing	and	ensuring	that	a	competitive	remuneration	
policy framework is in place and is aligned with the 
corporate strategy so as to ensure the attraction and 
retention	of	talented	staff;

•	 determine	and	agree	to	terms	and	conditions	of		
employment	of	Executive	directors;

•	 design	and	approve	short-term	and	 long-term	 incentive	
plans	and	targets	for	performance	bonuses;	and

•	 conducting	 performance	 reviews	 of	 the	 directors	 in	
conjunction with the nomination Committee to promote 
continuous improvement and high levels of performance.

Meeting attendance
the remuneration Committee met twice during the year. 
attendance at meetings is set out below.

Summary of Remuneration Committee Meeting 
Attendance: March 2013 – February 2014 

Remuneration Committee
15 Oct 
2013

25 Feb 
2014

Mzuvukile Maqetuka P P

Ignatius Sehoole P A

Vusi Pikoli P P

tito Mboweni a P

Company Secretary P P

P Present.
A Absent.

Key reMUneratIOn deCISIOnS taKen
the following key decisions were made during the financial 
year ended 28 February 2014:

•	 approval	 by	 shareholders	 of	 non-executive	 directors’	
remuneration;	and

•	 approval	 by	 the	 Remuneration	 Committee	 of	 the	
remuneration framework.

reVISIOn OF reMUneratIOn POLICy 
FraMeWOrK
the group strives to create opportunity to attract, motivate 
and retain employees of the right calibre and skills, rewarding 
employees fairly and equitably, and motivating them to achieve 
the highest levels of performance in alignment with the group’s 
strategic objectives and shareholder value creation.

the Board authorised the Chairman of the remuneration 
Committee to discuss the remuneration policy with 
stakeholders as part of the review and revision of the 
remuneration framework. this process is ongoing and should 

be completed by 31 May 2014. the revised remuneration 
policy, in conjunction with the remuneration philosophy, is 
based on the following key principles:
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reMUneratIOn COMMIttee rePOrt (continued)

•	 providing	 market	 competitive	 fixed	 remuneration	 that	
rewards relevant skills, responsibilities and contribution 
and	is	aligned	with	the	Group’s	strategy;

•	 regular	 independent	 benchmarking	 of	 executives’	 and	
directors’ remuneration against companies of a similar 
size	and	complexity	within	the	oil	and	gas	space;

•	 annual	 review	 of	 short-term	 incentives	 against	
performance in support of the delivery of short-term 
operational,	financial	and	strategic	goals;

•	 short-term	incentives	to	be	limited	of	100%	of	the	base	

salary	per	annum;	and

•	 the	 awarding	 of	 long-term	 incentives	 in	 line	 with	 the	
group’s approved Share Option Scheme.

COMPOnentS OF reMUneratIOn
the group has a simple remuneration structure. the 
remuneration package comprises core fixed elements (base 
salary and other benefits) and two performance-based 
variable elements (performance bonus and share option plan). 
eligibility for participation in the short-term incentive scheme 
is based on the attainment of annual targets, both financial 
and non-financial. the remuneration Committee determines 
eligibility for participation in the Share Option Scheme.

detaILed aUdIted reMUneratIOn InFOrMatIOn
aggregate emoluments paid to directors are detailed below:

Non-executive directors’ fees
2014

R
2013

r
tito Mboweni1 347 688 –
Mzuvukile Maqetuka1 217 305 –
Ignatius Sehoole2 191 151 –
Vusi Pikoli2 191 151 –
Stephanus Muller1 217 305 –
gontse Moseneke 300 000 112 500
danladi Verheijen3 27 307 –
Lola akinleye3 27 307 –
richard Linnell – 262 500
John Bentley – 300 639
Bill guest – 300 355
Colin Bird – 360 425
total 1 519 214 1 336 419

1 For services rendered as director from 10 June 2013.
2 For services rendered as director from 12 July 2013.
3 For services rendered as director from 27 January 2014.

Executive directors’ remuneration
Salary

R
Bonus4

R
Total

R
2014
robin Vela1 587 500 – 587 500
roger rees2  1 500 000 675 000 2 175 000
tariro Mudzimuirema2 1 000 000 500 000 1 500 000
gontse Moseneke3 125 000 – 125 000
total 3 212 500 1 175 000 4 387 500

1 Resigned on 31 May 2013.
2 For services as Executive directors from 25 July 2013.
3  For services provided in an executive capacity, as the only remaining director, during June 2013 when the Company was without a CEO and a 

fully constituted Board. 
4  Bonuses for the 2014 financial year to be paid on 31 May 2014.

Salary
r

Payment in
 terms of 

mutual 
agreement

r
total

r
2013
robin Vela 2 350 000 – 2 350 000
Carina de Beer 1 075 000 250 000 1 325 000

3 425 000 250 000 3 675 000
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Highest paid employees
Salary

R
Bonus1

R
Total

R

2014

Bradley Cerff 2 075 000 612 000 2 687 000

Willem de Meyer 1 462 500 400 000 1 862 500

Jordaan Fouche 1 340 000 – 1 340 000

4 877 500 1 012 000 5 889 500

2013

Bradley Cerff 2 010 000 600 000 2 610 000 

Willem de Meyer 1 012 500 – 1 012 500 

Jordaan Fouche 1 125 000 – 1 125 000 

 4 147 500 600 000 4 747 500 

1 Bonuses for the 2014 financial year to be paid on 31 May 2014.

Share options held during the year 

Name of 
director

grant 
date

Share price 
at grant date

r

exercise 
price

r

as at 
28 February 

2013 Lapsed

As at 
28 February

 2014
Vesting 

date
expiry 

date

robin Vela 21 nov 08  0.57  0.82  4 198 614  (4 198 614)  – 21 nov 08  – 

21 nov 08  0.56  0.82  2 099 307  (2 099 307)  – 21 nov 09  – 

21 nov 08  0.55  0.82  2 099 307  (2 099 307)  – 21 nov 10  – 

8 Jul 10  0.40  0.29  2 099 307  (2 099 307)  – 8 Jul 10  – 

8 Jul 10  0.40  0.29  1 049 654  (1 049 654)  – 8 Jul 11  – 

8 Jul 10  0.40  0.29  1 049 654  (1 049 654)  – 8 Jul 12  – 

Brian Christie 21 nov 08  0.57  0.82  4 198 614 –  4 198 614 21 nov 08 20 nov 18

21 nov 08  0.56  0.82  2 099 307 –  2 099 307 21 nov 09 20 nov 19

21 nov 08  0.55  0.82  2 099 307 –  2 099 307 21 nov 10 20 nov 20

richard Linnell 21 nov 08  0.57  0.82  6 297 919  (6 297 919)  – 21 nov 08  – 

21 nov 08  0.56  0.82  3 148 960  (3 148 960)  – 21 nov 09  – 

21 nov 08  0.55  0.82  3 148 960  (3 148 960)  – 21 nov 10  – 

Colin Bird 21 nov 08  0.57  0.82  6 297 921  (6 297 921)  – 21 nov 08  – 

21 nov 08  0.56  0.82  3 148 960  (3 148 960)  – 21 nov 09  – 

21 nov 08  0.55  0.82  3 148 960  (3 148 960)  – 21 nov 10  – 

gontse 
Moseneke 8 Jul 10  0.40  0.29  1 566 457 –   1 566 457 8 Jul 10 7 Jul 20

8 Jul 10  0.40  0.29  783 229 –   783 229 8 Jul 11 7 Jul 21

8 Jul 10  0.40  0.29  783 229 –   783 229 8 Jul 12 7 Jul 22

 49 317 666  (37 787 523)  11 530 143 

there were no share options awarded during the year.

Mzuvukile Maqetuka
Chairman – remuneration Committee

28 May 2014

31SacOil Holdings Limited  Integrated annUaL rePOrt  2014

a
d

d
It

IO
n

a
L 

In
FO

r
M

at
IO

n
FI

n
a

n
C

Ia
LS

g
O

V
e

r
n

a
n

C
e

Le
a

d
e

r
S

H
IP

B
U

S
In

e
S

S
 O

V
e

r
V

Ie
W



aUdIt COMMIttee rePOrt

the report of the audit Committee is presented to shareholders 

in compliance with the requirements of the Companies act, as 

amended. the audit and risk Committee acts in accordance 

with approved terms of reference, which are guided by the 

Companies act and King III. the report of the audit Committee 

(“the Committee”) is approved by the Board.

aUdIt COMMIttee OVerVIeW
Composition
Members: Stephanus Muller (Chairman), Mzuvukile Maqetuka 
and Vusi Pikoli

Ignatius Sehoole, who is not an Independent non-executive 
director, was a member of audit Committee between 
24 July 2013 and 7 november 2013. He was subsequently 
replaced by Vusi Pikoli to comply with King III which requires 
that all audit Committee members are Independent non-
executive directors. all current members of the audit 
Committee are Independent non-executive directors. the 
independent external auditors, ernst & young Inc., attend 
meetings as standing invitees.

Roles and responsibilities
the audit Committee is a statutory committee constituted 
under the Companies act and in terms of the recommendations 
set out in King III. the Committee has an independent role with 
accountability to the Board and shareholders. the Committee’s 
responsibilities include the statutory duties prescribed by the 
Companies act, activities recommended by King III and the 
responsibilities assigned by the Board. this includes: 

•	 reviewing	and	challenging,	where	necessary,	the	actions	of	
management in relation to the financial statements, interim 
reports, preliminary announcements and related formal 
statements before submission to, and approval by, the 
Board	and	before	clearance	by	the	auditors;

•	 monitoring	 matters	 that	 influence	 or	 could	 distort	 the	
presentation	of	accounts	and	key	figures;

•	 overseeing	 the	Group’s	procedures	 for	ensuring	 that	 the	
annual report and interim results, taken as a whole, are fair, 
balanced	and	understandable;

•	 considering	the	scope	of	the	annual	external	audit	and	the	
work	undertaken	by	external	auditors;

•	 considering	the	reappointment	of	the	external	auditors;

•	 making	 recommendations	 to	 the	 Board	 for	 a	 resolution	
to be put to the shareholders for their approval on the 
appointment of the external auditors and to authorise the 
Board to fix the remuneration and terms of engagement of 
the	external	auditors;

•	 considering	annually	whether	there	is	a	need	for	an	Internal	
Audit	function	where	no	such	function	exists;

•	 reviewing	and	monitoring	the	independence	of	the	external	
auditor	and	the	provision	of	additional	services	by	it;	

•	 reviewing	 internal	 financial,	 operational	 and	 compliance	
controls and internal controls and risk management 
systems;	and

•	 overseeing	the	Group’s	procedures	for	detecting	fraud	and	
handling allegations.

Meeting attendance
the Committee met four times during the year. the Chairman 
of the Committee reports to the Board after every audit 
Committee meeting held. Other directors attend meetings by 
invitation. the Company Secretary acts as secretary to the 
Committee. attendance at meetings is set out below.

Summary of Audit Committee Meeting Attendance: 
March 2013 – February 2014

Audit Committee
28 May
2013

6 Sep
2013

18 nov
2013

25 Feb
2014

John Bentley1 P (tele) r r R

Bill guest1 P (tele) r r R

robin Vela1 P r r R

Stephanus Muller n/a P P P

Mzuvukile Maqetuka n/a a P P

Vusi Pikoli n/a n/a P P

Ignatius Sehoole2 n/a P r R

Company Secretary P P P P

external auditors P P P P

P Present.
P (Tele) Present – dialled in.
A  Absent.
R Resigned.
N/A Not appointed.

1  Resigned on 31 May 2013.
2  Ignatius Sehoole, who is not an Independent Non-executive 

director, was a member of the Audit and Risk Committee between 

24 July 2013 and 7 November 2013. He was subsequently 

replaced by Vusi Pikoli to ensure compliance with the JSE Listings 

Requirements.

Election of Audit Committee members
In terms of the Companies act shareholders are required to 
elect the members of this Committee at each annual general 
Meeting. the Board confirms that the audit Committee 
members are suitably skilled and experienced Independent 
non-executive directors. Biographical details of the Committee 
members appear on pages 12 and 13.

Fees
Fees paid to the Committee members are detailed on page 30 
and the proposed fees for 2015 are disclosed on page 95.

External auditor independence
the Committee considers the independence of the external 
auditors and recommends the appointment of registered 
auditors of the Company.
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the Board is satisfied with the independence of the external 

auditors and recommended the reappointment of ernst & 

young Inc. as the independent registered audit firm, led by 

Iwan grobler, the individual registered auditor. 

ernst & young Inc. is a JSe-accredited audit firm.

Fees paid to external auditors and terms of engagement
the Committee determines the fees to be paid to the auditor 

and also the auditor’s terms of engagement. the approved 

normal annual audit fee for the financial period under audit 

was r1 300 000 (2013: r1 400 000) and was approved by 

the Board.

Non-audit services
the Committee determines the nature and extent of any non-

audit services that the auditor may provide to the group. the 

external auditors, ernst & young Inc., provided non-audit 

services to the group relating to various projects. the fee for 

non-audit services amounted to r387 835 (2013: r910 506).

Evaluation of the Annual Financial Statements
the Board as a whole considered and commented on the 

financial statements, the accounting practices and the internal 

financial controls of the group.

the Board considered, reviewed and discussed the group 

annual financial statements with the independent external 

auditors and finance team. the Board is satisfied that the 

group annual financial statements comply with International 

Financial reporting Standards.

the external auditor had unrestricted access to the group’s 

records and management. there were no limitations imposed 

on the scope of the external audit. the auditor furnished a 

written report to the Board on significant findings arising from 

the annual audit and raised the going concern matter noted in 

note 32 to the annual financial statements.

after agreeing that the going concern premise was appropriate 

the Board approved the group annual financial statements on 

28 May 2014. these group annual financial statements will 

be open for discussion at the forthcoming annual general 

Meeting. the Chairman of the Committee and, in the instance 

of his absence, the other members of the Committee, will 

attend the annual general Meeting to answer questions falling 

under the mandate of the Committee.

Expertise and experience of the Finance Director and 
finance function
the audit Committee was satisfied with the expertise and 

experience of the Interim Finance director and recommended 

her ongoing appointment to the Board of directors, until such 

time when a permanent Finance director is appointed. the 

Board was satisfied with her expertise and experience and 

reaffirmed the Finance director’s appointment. 

Internal Audit
the primary goal of Internal audit is to evaluate the group’s 
risk management, internal control and corporate governance 
processes and to ensure that they are adequate and are 
functioning correctly. during the year under review the group 
had no Internal audit function. the Board as a whole considered 
internal controls and risk management. While considering 
the information and explanations given by management and 
discussions held with the external auditor on the results of 
their audit, the Committee is of the opinion that the system of 
internal financial controls is effective and forms a basis for the 
preparation of reliable financial statements. during the year 
under review the Committee made a recommendation for the 
appointment of an Internal auditor for the 2015 financial year 
going forward. this recommendation was noted by the Board 
and approved. It is anticipated that the Internal auditor will be 
appointed within the ensuing financial year. 

Year under review
Main activities of the Committee during the period under 
review included:

•	 agreeing	on	the	terms	of	reference	for	the	Committee;

•	 approving	the	scope	and	fee	for	the	2014	audit;

•	 approving	non-audit	services	including,	but	not	limited	to,	
reporting	accountant	reports	on	corporate	actions;

•	 recommending	the	appointment	of	an	Internal	Auditor;

•	 reviewing	 the	 accounting	 policies	 and	 significant	
judgements underpinning the annual financial statements 
and	interim	results;

•	 reviewing	and	recommending	the	approval	of	the	annual	
financial	statements	and	interim	results	by	the	Board;

•	 reviewing	the	external	audit	internal	control	report;

•	 considering	the	effectiveness	of	internal	controls;

•	 recommending	to	the	Board	the	investigation	of	identified	
transactions	of	the	Group;

•	 confirming	the	going	concern	status	of	the	Company;

•	 reviewing	the	effectiveness	of	the	external	auditors;	and

•	 recommending	 to	 shareholders	 the	 reappointment	
of ernst  & young Inc. as the external auditor, and 
Iwan grobler as the designated auditor, for the financial 
year ended 28 February 2014. the Committee confirms 
that the auditor and the designated auditor are accredited 
by the JSe Limited.

Stephanus Muller
Chairman – audit Committee

28 May 2014
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nOMInatIOn COMMIttee rePOrt

the report of the nomination Committee (‘the Committee”) 
has been approved by the Board and comprises the following 
sections:

•	 Nomination	Committee	overview

•	 Key	nomination	decisions	taken

•	 Nomination	policy	and	overview

nOMInatIOn COMMIttee OVerVIeW
the group strives to create opportunity to attract, motivate 
and retain employees of the right calibre and skills, to achieve 
the highest levels of performance in alignment with the 
group’s strategic objectives and shareholder value creation.

Composition
Members: tito Mboweni (Chairman), Stephanus Muller, 
Mzuvukile Maqetuka and gontse Moseneke

the members of the nomination Committee are all non-
executive directors, the majority of whom are Independent 
non-executive directors. the Chief executive Officer attends 
Committee meetings by invitation. the Company Secretary 
acts as secretary to the Committee. external advisers are 
used to provide market information as and when required.

Roles and responsibilities
the Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities 
in compliance with its mandate. responsibilities of the 
Committee include:

•	 	Ensuring	 the	 establishment	 of	 a	 formal	 process	 for	 the	
appointment of directors, including:

	 –	 identification	of	suitable	members	of	the	Board;

 –  performance of reference and background checks of 
candidates	prior	to	nomination;	and

 –  formalising the appointment of directors through an 
agreement between the company and the director.

•	 	Overseeing	 the	 development	 of	 a	 formal	 induction	
programme for new directors. 

•	 	Ensuring	 that	 inexperienced	 directors	 are	 developed	
through a mentorship programme. 

•	 	Overseeing	 the	 development	 and	 implementation	 of	
continuing professional development programmes for 
directors. 

•	 	Ensuring	 that	 directors	 receive	 regular	 briefings	 on	
changes in risks, laws and the environment in which the 
Company operates.

•	 	Considering	the	performance	of	directors	and	taking	steps	
to remove directors who do not make an appropriate 
contribution.

•	 	Finding	and	recommending	to	the	Board	a	replacement	for	
the Chief executive Officer when that becomes necessary.

•	 	Ensuring	that	formal	succession	plans	for	the	Board,	Chief	
executive Officer and senior management appointments 
are developed and implemented. 

Meeting attendance
the nomination Committee met once during the year. the 
Chairman of the Committee reports to the Board after every 
nomination Committee meeting held. Other directors attend 
meetings by invitation. attendance at meetings is set out below.

Summary of Nomination Committee Meeting 
Attendance: March 2013 – February 2014
Nomination Committee 20 Jan 14
tito Mboweni P (Tele)
Stephanus Muller P
Mzuvukile Maqetuka P (Tele)
gontse Moseneke P
Company Secretary P

P Present.
P (Tele) Present – dialled in.

Key nOMInatIOn deCISIOnS taKen
the following key decisions were made during the financial 
year ended 28 February 2014:

•	 The	Committee	oversaw	the	process	for	the	appointment	
of a Chief executive Officer. dr thabo Kgogo was 
appointed subsequent to the financial year end.

•	 The	 Committee	 recommended	 to	 the	 Board	 the	
appointment of a technical director who will provide 
expertise on technical matters relating to the group’s 
assets and operations. It is envisaged that a technical 
director will be appointed in the first half of the 2015 
financial year.

Subsequent to the year-end the Committee initiated an 
executive search for a permanent Finance director. this 
process is ongoing.

nOMInatIOn POLICy and OVerVIeW
the Committee is in the process of setting a policy on director 
nominations which is intended to provide a set of flexible 
guidelines for the effective functioning of the Company’s 
director nominations process. the policy will address the 
process by which candidates for possible inclusion in the 
Company’s recommended slate of director nominees are 
selected. the policy will be administered by the Committee.

the Committee’s Charter provides that the Committee is 
responsible for, among other things, identifying individuals 
qualified to become members of the Company’s Board and 
selecting, or recommending to the Board, the nominees to 
stand for election and re-election as directors. the Committee 
takes into account at least the following criteria when 
determining the qualifications of any candidate for director:
•	 integrity	and	judgement;
•	 diversity;
•	 knowledge;
•	 independence;
•	 experience	and	accomplishments;
•	 skills;	and
•	 long-term	commitment.

the Committee intends to review this policy at least annually 
and anticipates that modifications may be necessary from 
time to time as the Company’s needs and circumstances 
evolve, and as applicable legal or listing standards change.

Tito Mboweni 
Chairman – nomination Committee 

28 May 2014
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InVeStMent COMMIttee rePOrt

the Investment Committee (“the Committee”) has the 

pleasure in presenting the Investment Committee report 

for the financial year ended 28 February 2014. this report 

comprises the following sections:

•	 Investment	Committee	overview

•	 Key	Investment	decisions	taken

•	 Investment	policy	and	overview

InVeStMent COMMIttee OVerVIeW
Composition
Members: Ignatius Sehoole (Chairman), Stephanus Muller 

and gontse Moseneke

all members of the Investment Committee are non-executive 

directors. the Chief executive Officer and Finance director 

attend meetings by invitation. the Company Secretary acts 

as secretary to the Committee.

Roles and responsibilities
the Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its primary 

duties as embedded in the Committee’s terms of reference. 

duties of the Committee include:

•	 Role	vis-à-vis	executive	management:

– the Committee assists and advises executive 

management on investment opportunities and all 

aspects of other material transactions not in the ordinary 

course of business, and matters related thereto. 

– the Committee approves recommendations or 

proposals to be made to the Board in relation to such 

opportunities or transactions.

•	 Role	vis-à-vis	the	Board:

– the Committee makes recommendations to the Board, 

monitors on behalf of the Board and reports to the 

Board on material acquisition, merger or disposal 

opportunities and ongoing material transactions, and 

matters related thereto. 

Meeting attendance
the Committee met five times during the year. the Chairman 

of the Committee reports to the Board after every Investment 

Committee meeting held. Other directors attend meetings by 

invitation. the Company Secretary acts as secretary to the 

Committee. attendance at meetings is set out below.

Summary of Investment Committee Meeting Attendance: 
March 2013 – February 2014

Investment	
Committee

2 Oct
2013

28 Oct
2013

7 nov
2013

27 dec
2013

25 Feb
2014

Steve Muller P P P P P

gontse Moseneke P P P P P

Ignatius Sehoole P P P P P

Company Secretary P P P P (tele) P

P Present.
P (Tele) Present – dialled in.

Key InVeStMent deCISIOnS taKen
the group’s investment activity was very limited during the 

period under review due to the liquidity challenges experienced 

by the group. the following key decisions were made during the 

financial year ended 28 February 2014:

•	 acquisition	of	the	Botswana	licences;	

•	 the	 Committee	 investigated	 the	 Mozambique	 gas	

opportunity and recommended the opportunity to the 

Board. Subsequently, a Memorandum of Understanding 

was	signed	on	31	March	2014;	

•	 the	Committee	recommended	to	the	Board	a	framework	for	

engaging third parties when pursuing various investment 

opportunities;	and

•	 the	 Committee	 reviewed	 and	 declined	 other	 proposed	

opportunities presented as a result of the liquidity challenges 

experienced by the group during the year under review.

aPPrOVaL OF tHe InVeStMent 
COMMIttee rePOrt
the Board as a whole, being responsible for the Investment 

Committee report, confirms that this report has been 

approved.

Ignatius Sehoole
Chairman – Investment Committee

28 May 2014
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SUStaInaBILIty rePOrt

SUStaInaBILIty rePOrt
SacOil’s priority is to remain commercially viable so as to return value to all its shareholders and the stakeholder communities 

in which it operates. the economic, social and environmental performance of the Company are therefore key indicators of its 

commitment to ensuring its sustainability.

While we pride ourselves on being an african company investing in africa, we are acutely aware of our history and moral 

obligation in pursuing our commercial interests in a socially and environmentally responsible manner. We view the objectives of 

growing our business as intertwined with protecting our natural heritage and transforming our society. 

COrPOrate rISK PrOFILe
Principal risks 
the upstream/exploration and production business is inherently risky by its very nature. However, the Company has a robust risk 

management framework in place to ensure that all risks that could potentially manifest are mitigated by the actions plans that 

are put in place. as outlined earlier in the section dealing with governance, the various subcommittees of the Board have risk 

management in their focus and will monitor their respective risk registers.

For the purposes of this integrated annual report only the principal risks are highlighted but more detailed risk registers have 

been compiled. the principal risks and uncertainties of the group and Company are captured hereunder and will be frequently 

updated to reflect the status with regards to these risks manifesting.

Principal	social	and	ethics	risks

Description of risks Potential impact Mitigation actions

Unethical	or	improper	
business	conduct

Suspension of business activity 
in the short to medium term. It 
could also damage the Company’s 
reputation and hence negatively 
influence the appetite for 
investment in the Company.

adherence to code of conduct with regards to ethics.

regular reporting on deviations.

Performance against the ten core principles set out in the 
Un global Compact.

Formalisation and execution of stakeholder engagement plan.

Poor	social,	community	
and	employee	relations	

damage to the Company’s 
reputation, and even property, 
which could affect its licence to 
operate and its ability to attract 
local talent, and integrate with 
local businesses.

Facilitation and execution of social labour plans.

adherence to fair and equitable labour practices. 

Environmental,	health	
and	safety	risks

damage to the environment, 
people and company assets which 
could have serious health and 
safety consequences, including 
potential loss of life.

adherence to environmental, health and safety standards. the 
health and safety risks form a key feature of the operating 
standards of our operating partners.
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Principal remuneration risks 
the table below summarises the principal remuneration risks and highlights the potential impact should such risks materialise. 
the mitigating actions put in place to eliminate and/or minimise the likelihood of such risks occurring are also included. the 
detailed risk register on remuneration will be regularly updated and progress reports on actions will serve before the Committee.

Principal	remuneration	risks

Description of risks Potential impact Mitigation actions

Failure	to	ensure	that	
human	resources	
policies,	procedures	
and	processes	
are	in	place	and	
applied	accurately	
and	consistently	
throughout	the	
Company

dissatisfied/demotivated 
employees and potential labour 
unrest caused by the absence 
or inconsistent application of 
Hr policies. this also negatively 
impacts on building an attractive 
employee value proposition.

development, implementation and consistent application of 
relevant Hr policies.

Monitoring of Hr practices and engaging employees on Hr-
related matters.

Inability	to	attract	and	
retain	critical	staff

Short- to medium-term disruption in 
the operations of the Company due 
to the loss of key personnel, the 
inability to attract critical skills and 
poor organisational performance, all 
of which negatively impact investor 
confidence.

the group has in place a remuneration policy that ensures that 
fixed and variable components of remuneration are regularly 
benchmarked, thereby ensuring the group provides competitive 
remuneration.

Failure	to	promote	
transformation	
objectives

a failure to achieve the 
transformation objectives of the 
business could negatively impact 
the Company’s empowerment 
rating, thereby affecting potential 
investments and relationships with 
key stakeholders.

the Company currently has very few employees. as the 
business continues to grow the Company will implement a 
transformation action plan.

Principal	operational	risks

Description of risks Potential impact Mitigation actions

Political	risk:	Adverse	
changes	to	statutory	
or	contractual	
terms,	loss	of	title	or	
nationalisation

deterioration of the Company’s 
intrinsic value and a decrease in its 
return	on	investment;	at	worst,	a	
total loss of an asset/investment.

the Company maintains a geographically diverse asset portfolio. 
It strives to maintain positive and transparent relationships with 
host governments and regulatory bodies, applying the highest 
industry standards in its conduct, and in compliance with its 
licence and contractual obligations. the Company strives to 
operate in terms of transparent and robust host government 
agreements.

Poor	social/
local	community	
relationships

risk of damage to property, injury/ 
death to personnel and inability 
to operate, leading to claims, 
disruptions, delays and a decrease 
in return on investment.

the Company strives to maintain a close, transparent relationship 
with local communities in the areas in which it operates. 
Considerable social relationship building and impact assessment 
is undertaken before commencing operations in any new territory. 
the Company strives to utilise local skills and labour and invests 
in programmes to benefit local communities. Property is insured 
against loss/damage as part of the Company’s comprehensive 
insurance programme.

Failure	to	add	new	
reserves/resources	or	
to	progress	projects	
through	the	value	
chain

decrease in the Company’s 
intrinsic value and poor return 
on investment. Company could 
stagnate or become overly reliant 
on a single country or asset.

the Company strives to build a geographically and life cycle 
diverse portfolio of assets in order to diversify exposure.

the management team is technically highly experienced with a 
proven track record of success. Management continuously applies 
their expertise to assess potential investment opportunities.

all opportunities are rigorously evaluated and a full due diligence 
is conducted before being presented for approval to the Board. 
all assets in the portfolio are continuously monitored.

not all of the Company’s assets are operated – in those cases 
management maintains a close relationship with the operator and 
strives to participate with the operator in joint operating teams. 
In all instances operators chosen by SacOil are experienced, 
reputable and competent in their fields of expertise. all JV assets 
are managed in terms of industry standard JOas.
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Principal	financial	risks

Description of risks Potential impact Mitigation actions

Commodity	price,	
exchange	rate	and	
interest	rate	risks

Fluctuations in commodity (in 
particular oil and gas) prices, 
currency exchange rates and 
interest rates could have a 
negative impact on future cash 
flows, profitability and return on 
investment.

The	 Company	 does	 not	 currently	 have	 producing	 assets;	
however, assumptions made regarding future prices have an 
impact on the evaluation of investment opportunities.

the Company utilises conservative assumptions when 
evaluating investment alternatives. as and when assets start to 
produce, the Company will evaluate the need to hedge market 
risk to the extent to which it is required to ensure its ability to 
meet its financial commitments.

Liquidity	risk the inability to maintain adequate 
cash through proper cash 
management and planning could, 
in the extreme, threaten the 
Company’s ability to continue 
operations.

a formal budgeting and forecasting process is in place and 
monthly cash forecasts are used to identify cash requirements 
and liquidity threats. Shortfalls are addressed in terms of 
the Company’s financing plan. Cash deposits are held with 
reputable financial institutions.

SUStaInaBILIty rePOrt (continued)

Social and ethical framework
SacOil has always appreciated the interconnectedness of 

the society and environment in which it operates and its 

importance to the sustainability of our business. 

as further proof of our commitment to building a sustainable 

business that acts in a socially responsible and ethical 

manner, in the year under review we have developed a social 

and ethics code of conduct which will guide the Company’s 

conduct in relation to these aspects of its business. this will 

be thoroughly examined and submitted for approval to the 

Board in the new financial year.

adherence to the social and ethics code of conduct by the 

Board, management and employees alike when pursuing the 

business of the company as well as progress with initiatives will 

be closely monitored by this Committee in line with its mandate.

Company	values

It is expected that SacOil’s directors, management and 

employees will at all times always act lawfully, ethically 

and in the best interests of the Company. each one of us 

is responsible for adhering to the values of SacOil in the 

execution of our company duties and responsibilities, and 

must make every effort to ensure that our rules of conduct 

are respected by all. the Company will conduct its business 

activities in keeping with its corporate values.

Whilst our values are beacons that guide our corporate and 

social behaviour they require revisiting from time to time to 

ensure alignment to changes in the business and society 

at large. to this end we have commenced the process of 

reviewing our corporate values so as to further enhance it. 

Shareholders

the Company has to continue to strengthen its relationship 

with its shareholders and views shareholder dialogue and 

activism as key components of a successful company.

Key engagements have included meetings with both private 
and institutional investors, as well as market analysts 
where required, and these have yielded positive outcomes, 
translating into raising levels of investment in the Company 
over the past financial year.

Investment	Committee	
the Investment Committee has been central to the above 
outcome being achieved. In the execution of its key functions 
the Committee has kept the investment community of 
institutional and private investors informed of SacOil’s financial 
performance and shifts in its strategy through appropriate and 
regular media updates and circulated information.

Stakeholders
We are committed to building collaborative relationships 
that are mutually beneficial to all our stakeholders and have 
engaged in partnerships that constructively advance the 
interest of our stakeholders, which includes our shareholders, 
employees, government, the communities, groups and 
individuals who may be impacted by our operations. 

the Company held its annual general Meeting on 
29  november  2013 where it shared its integrated annual 
report with shareholders and where shareholders had an 
opportunity to engage with the Board. the next annual 
general Meeting will be held on 12 September 2014.

Partners
the sustainability of SacOil is inextricably linked to forging 
mutually beneficial partnerships with other oil and gas 
exploration companies. In fact, it is a fundamental component 
of our business strategy and operating model. the Company 
has successfully forged key partnerships with total, 
transcorp and nigdel, straddling various geographies where 
it believes significant returns on investment will be realised in 
line with its return on capital programme. the conditions of 
these partnership agreements have been formally concluded 

and progress against performance is monitored.
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Funders/Lenders

the Company recognises that the generation of sustainable 

financial results is key to creating confidence with the 

financial community of funders. Sound financial and asset 

management therefore remain key priorities throughout 

the year under scrutiny. the Company has ensured that it 

maintains all its assets, especially those held as collateral 

where it has raised debt to fund initiatives and has not veered 

from the agreed programme of repaying its obligations.

Government	and	other	regulatory	authorities	

Our relations with government and the regulatory authorities 

in all the geographies where we operate remain sound and 

are not taken for granted. Indeed, the Company operates on 

the premise that these relations must be mutually beneficial 

to the countries where we operate and to the Company. 

this ethos is central to maintaining our licence to operate. 

to this extent we have held regular engagements with the 

representatives of national and provincial governments where 

we operate, as well as representatives of industry bodies. 

Employees

Our human resource capability remains the key to delivering 

on the mandate of shareholders and in this regard the 

Company remains committed to creating a work environment 

that promotes fair and equal opportunities for all its 

employees. to this extent our commitment is captured in our 

code of business conduct and ethics. the code captures our 

commitment to adherence to fair labour practice and decent 

work as enshrined in the conventions of the International 

Labour Organisation to which South africa is a signatory.

employees are encouraged to further develop their skills 

and these skills are employed to the benefit of the Company 

and countries where we operate. the skills transfer to locals 

through our partnership arrangements with operators are key 

instruments in this regard.

Performance of employees are regularly reviewed by 

management and regulated by proper employment contracts 

being in place. Structures are also in place to facilitate the 

reporting of legitimate grievances or concerns that employees 

may have without fear of victimisation or reprisal.

Environment 

the very nature of the oil and gas industry demands a 

heightened awareness of our impact on the environments 

where we operate and in this regard the Company is 

committed to minimising its impact on the environment. the 

Company can safely report that it has no significant breaches 

of environment standards to report for the past financial year. 

the protection of limited water resources, pollution and the 

natural aesthetics of the environment through rehabilitation 

programmes remain key commitments.

Communities

through the conclusion of social and labour compacts the 

Company will seek to improve the lives of the local communities 

impacted by its operations. the key focus areas of these 

compacts we envisage will be on education, health and 

skills development so as to ensure sustainable communities, 

but will further be informed by proper consultation with the 

recognised authorities and leaders of these communities. 

these endeavours are, of course, dependent on the successful 

development of these operations.

the health and safety of the communities are also 

fundamental to the sustainability of our operations and 

therefore adherence to health and safety standards is non-

negotiable and non-adherence is subject to the appropriate 

measure of consequence management. all employees 

of SacOil undergo safety training and regular refresher 

programmes are conducted. the same obligations rest 

with our contractors and safety training is conducted upon 

engagement and before the contractor is allowed to operate.

as previously reported, accident and incident monitoring 

mechanisms are in place. there were no life-threatening 

injuries or fatalities to report and the Company has achieved 

its performance standard in this regard. 

the implementation of the ISO3100 by the Company in 

the next financial cycle will further enhance its total quality 

management approach.

Media	exposure

Media exposure remains positive and the Company has 

derived benefit from media exposure through regular updates 

and press releases. the Company will continue to positively 

promote its reputation through the judicious use of electronic 

and print media both locally and internationally.

Health	and	safety

SacOil requires that, wherever possible, people from 

indigenous communities are employed and participate in its 

operations. SacOil and its contractors will conduct safety 

training programmes immediately after engagement and 

before commencement of work. this will be followed up by 

refresher courses to maintain acceptable levels of safety. 

all teaching is based on the premise that every person is 

responsible for his/her own safety, and awareness of potential 

danger will be stressed.

accident monitoring and prevention programmes will be 

implemented and statistics regularly produced. the intention 

of SacOil is that any exploration, development or production 

site has a nil accident frequency rate. However, close 

surveillance will be maintained to ensure that the accident 

frequency rates compare favourably with international oil and 

gas best practice.
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StateMent OF aCCOUntaBILIty  
and reSPOnSIBILIty

COMPany SeCretary’S CertIFICatIOn

the directors are responsible for the maintenance of 

accounting records and for the preparation, integrity and fair 

presentation of the annual financial statements and group 

annual financial statements of SacOil Holdings Limited. the 

annual financial statements of the group for the year ended 

28 February 2014 have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial reporting Standards, the requirements 

of the Companies act, the Financial reporting guides issued 

by SaICa and the Listings requirements of the JSe, and are 

consistent with those of the previous year. they have been 

prepared on a going concern basis and include amounts 

based on judgements and estimates made by management. 

Based on forecasts, the directors have no reason to believe 

that the group or Company will not be a going concern in the 

foreseeable future.

the directors have also prepared the other information included 

in this integrated annual report and are responsible for both its 

accuracy and consistency with the financial statements.

the directors also have a general responsibility for taking 

such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the 

assets of the group and prevent and detect fraud and other 

irregularities.

there has been no material change in the affairs and trading 

position of the Company and its subsidiaries since the date 

of signature of the audit report and the date of the notice of 

annual general Meeting.

the directors are not aware of any legal or arbitration 

proceedings active, pending or threatened against or being 

brought by the group or Company which may have a material 

effect on the group’s financial position or which have had a 

material effect during the 12 months preceding the date of the 

notice of annual general Meeting. the financial statements 

have been audited by the independent accounting firm, ernst & 

young Inc., which was given unrestricted access to all financial 

records and related data, including minutes of all shareholders’, 

directors’ and Committee meetings of the Board. the directors 

believe that all representations made to the independent 

auditors during their audit were valid and appropriate. 

the Independent auditors’ report is presented on page 43.

the financial statements have been prepared under the 

supervision of tariro Mudzimuirema Ca(Sa).

the financial statements were approved by the Board of 

directors on 28 May 2014 and are signed on its behalf by:

Stephanus Muller Roger Rees
director Chief executive Officer

28 May 2014

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies act, I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, SacOil Holdings Limited 
has, in respect of the financial year reported upon, lodged with the registrar of Companies all returns required of a public 

company in terms of the Companies act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Melinda Gous
Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Proprietary) Limited

Company Secretary

28 May 2014
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IndePendent aUdItOrS’ rePOrt
to the members of SacOil Holdings Limited

rePOrt On tHe FInanCIaL StateMentS
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial 

statements of SacOil Holdings Limited set out on pages 46 

to  86, which comprise the consolidated and separate 

statements of financial position as at 28 February 2014, and 

the consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive 

income, statements of changes in equity and cash flow 

statements for the year then ended, and the notes, 

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 

other explanatory information. 

dIreCtOrS’ reSPOnSIBILIty FOr tHe 
FInanCIaL StateMentS
the Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation 

and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate 

financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial reporting Standards and the requirements of 

the Companies act of South africa, and for such internal 

control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 

preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

aUdItOrS’ reSPOnSIBILIty 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

consolidated and separate financial statements based on our 

audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International 

Standards on auditing. those standards require that we 

comply with ethical requirements, and plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

an audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 

evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements. the procedures selected depend on the 

auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks 

of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 

auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 

preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 

in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

an audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 

of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

OPInIOn
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial 

statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of SacOil Holdings Limited as at 28 February 2014, 

and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies 
act of South africa.

eMPHaSIS OF Matter
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 32 
to the financial statements which indicates the Company 
is currently forecasting a projected cash flow deficit of 
r90 million for the period to 30 June 2015. 

the cash flow projections to June 2015 include anticipated cash 
inflows from eernL totalling r189.8 million (US$17.9 million). 
as noted in note 19, the loan owed to SacOil Holdings Limited 
remains overdue since 31 May 2013, and the timing of this 
forecasted cash inflow is uncertain. 

the Company needs to secure further debt and equity 
funding to continue operations.

the above conditions, along with other matters discussed in 
note 32, give rise to material uncertainties which may cast 
significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, and therefore that it may be unable to 
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of business.

OtHer rePOrtS reQUIred By tHe 
COMPanIeS aCt 
as part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements for the year ended 28 February 2014, we have 
read the directors’ report, the audit Committee’s report 
and the Company Secretary’s Certificate for the purpose of 
identifying whether there are material inconsistencies between 
these reports and the audited consolidated and separate 
financial statements. these reports are the responsibility of 
the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we 
have not identified material inconsistencies between these 
reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial 
statements. However, we have not audited these reports and 
accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

Ernst & Young Inc.
director – Iwan Hermanus grobler
registered auditor
Chartered accountant (Sa) 
102 rivonia road
Sandton
gauteng 2196
South africa

28 May 2014
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dIreCtOrS’ rePOrt

the directors submit their annual report on the affairs of the group together with the group consolidated annual financial 

statements and audit report of SacOil Holdings Limited (“SacOil”) for the year ended 28 February 2014.

PrInCIPaL aCtIVItIeS
the group’s principal activity is oil and gas exploration in nigeria, the democratic republic of Congo, Malawi and Botswana. 

the group continues to assess opportunities in other african countries across the e&P spectrum. details pertaining to subsidiary 

undertakings are provided in note 17 to the group consolidated annual financial statements.

FInanCIaL reSULtS and dIVIdendS
the results of the group and the state of its affairs are set out in the group consolidated annual financial statements and 

accompanying notes for the year ended 28 February 2014.

the group’s profit for the year was r9.5 million (2013: r71.6 million loss). the directors have not recommended the distribution 

of a dividend for the financial year (2013: nil).

Stated CaPItaL
the Company has issued the following ordinary shares during the year under review and up to the date of signature of this annual 

report:

date Beneficial shareholder Ordinary shares Cents per ordinary share nature

3 October 2013 n guttar 2 777 777 27 general issue

30 January 2014 Westglamry Limited1 641 840 797 27 Specific issue

30 January 2014 newdel Holdings Limited1 241 608 347 27 Specific issue

29 January 2014 Various2 1 246 601 549 27 Specific issue

1  Nominees of Gairloch Limited.
2  Shares issued to various shareholders under the terms of the Rights Offer that closed on 27 January 2014. 1 219 302 642 (98%) of these shares 

were issued to the Government Employees Pension Fund.

dIreCtOrS
details of the Company’s directors can be found on pages 12 to 15 of this integrated report.

dIreCtOrS’ and ManageMent’S IntereStS In SHareS
Direct beneficial % of issued share capital

2014 2013 20141 2013

robin Vela – 11 939 196 – 1.252

Colin Bird – 7 852 610 – 0.824

Ignatius Sehoole 300 000 – 0.010 –

Stephanus Muller 478 003 – 0.015 –

Bradley Cerff 110 000 110 000 0.004 0.012

total 888 003 19 901 806 0.029 2.088

Indirect beneficial % of issued share capital

2014 2013 20141 2013

danladi Verheijen2 82 359 453 – 2.67 –

1 Based on 3 086 169 261 shares in issue at 28 February 2014.
2  Danladi Verheijen holds a 42.61% beneficial interest in Verod Holdings Limited, a company which owns an 80% interest in Newdel Holdings 

Limited, which owns a 7.83% interest in SacOil. This disclosure reflects his effective interest in SacOil.

there have been no changes to the above from 28 February 2014 to the date of this integrated report.
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gOIng COnCern
Significant financing activities that took place during the 

year under review, together with the going concern status of 

the Company, are detailed in the Finance director’s report. 

Shareholders are also referred to note 32 to the annual 

financial statements which highlights the conditions which 

give rise to material uncertainties which may cast significant 

doubt about the Company’s ability to remain a going concern. 

the directors remain confident that the Company is well 

placed to manage these uncertainties.

eVentS aFter tHe rePOrtIng PerIOd
the following events occurred after the reporting period and 

are detailed in note 33 to the annual financial statements:

•	 	The	 Company,	 the	 Public	 Investment	 Corporation	

(SOC) Limited (“PIC”) and the Instituto de gestão das 

Participações do estado (“IgePe”) entered into a 

Memorandum of Understanding (“MoU”) intended to 

regulate the relationship between the parties with regard 

to pursuing gas opportunities in Mozambique.

•	 	On	10	March	2014	Transfer	Holdings	(Proprietary)	Limited	

became a wholly-owned subsidiary of SacOil following 

the acquisition of a further thirty per cent (30%) interest.

SPeCIaL reSOLUtIOnS PaSSed
the following special resolutions were passed during the 

period under review:

•	 general	authority	to	reacquire	(repurchase)	shares;

•	 	remuneration	of	Non-executive	directors;	

•	 	financial	assistance	in	terms	of	sections	44	and	45	of	the	

Companies	Act;	and

•	 	approval	in	terms	of	section	41(3)	of	the	Companies	Act	

for the issue of the Specific Issue Shares and rights Offer 

Shares (as defined in the circular issued to shareholders 

on 7 november 2013).

LItIgatIOn UPdate
Joseph Modibane
the Company previously reported on two actions instituted 

by Joseph Modibane (“Mr Modibane”) in the north gauteng 

High Court. In the first action Mr Modibane alleged that he 

was entitled to receive 105 000 000 SacOil shares at an issue 

price of 30 cents per SacOil share but that the Company 

unlawfully declined to deliver the SacOil shares to him. 

Consequently Mr Modibane alleges that the Company’s 

unlawful conduct entitled him to claim damages against the 

Company in the amount of r67.2 million plus interest at the 

rate of 15.5% per annum from 14 September 2010 to date 

of payment.

In a second action Mr Modibane alleges that the content of the 

announcement made by the Company on 15 September 2010 

in relation to the first action was defamatory to him and he 

claims payment from the Company of damages in the amount 

of r80 million, together with interest at the rate of 15.5% per 

annum from 22 September 2010 to date of payment. 

Based on the information in the Board’s possession the 

Board is of the view that the claims have no substance 

and the Company’s legal advisers are defending both 

actions. Pleadings have closed in both actions. trial dates 

that were allocated were not convenient. the actions were 

therefore, by agreement, removed from the trial roll. a SenS 

announcement published on 28 February 2013 reported that 

Mr Modibane passed away on 23 February 2013. It remains 

to be seen whether an executor for Mr Modibane’s estate 

elects to persist with the two actions.
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COnSOLIdated and SeParate  
StateMentS OF COMPreHenSIVe InCOMe 
for the year ended 28 February 2014

GROuP COMPANY

notes
2014

R
2013

r
2014

R
2013

r

Other income 47 350 527 123 222 360 71 989 207 79 598 149

Other operating costs (100 247 072) (175 626 093) (81 706 043) (75 806 189)

(Loss)/profit from operations 6 (52 896 545) (52 403 733) (9 716 836) 3 791 960

Investment income 7 130 555 693 46 940 839 119 441 936 69 016 897

Finance costs 8 (12 931 875) (23 837 213) (12 931 875) (23 837 213)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 64 727 273 (29 300 107) 96 793 225 48 971 644

taxation 9 (55 212 656) (40 785 309) (17 866 156) (8 122 869)

Profit/(loss) for the year 9 514 617 (70 085 416) 78 927 069 40 848 775

Discontinued operation

Loss from discontinued operation 11 – (1 526 959) – (1 526 959)

Profit/(loss) for the year 9 514 617 (71 612 375) 78 927 069 39 321 816

Other comprehensive loss:

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 
in subsequent periods:

release of revaluation reserve on impairment of 
property, plant and equipment – (1 045 359) – (1 045 359)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods: – – – –

Other comprehensive loss for the year net 
of taxation 12 – (1 045 359) – (1 045 359)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 9 514 617 (72 657 734) 78 927 069 38 276 457

Profit/(loss) attributable to:

equity holders of the parent 19 594 296 (55 627 404) 78 927 069 39 321 816

non-controlling interest 23 (10 079 679) (15 984 971) – –

Profit/(loss) for the year 9 514 617 (71 612 375) 78 927 069 39 321 816

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:

equity holders of the parent 19 594 296 (56 672 763) 78 927 069 38 276 457

non-controlling interest 23 (10 079 679) (15 984 971) – –

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 9 514 617 (72 657 734) 78 927 069 38 276 457

Earnings/(loss) per share 

Basic (cents) 27  1.37  (6.10)

diluted (cents) 27  1.36  (6.09)
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COnSOLIdated and SeParate  
StateMentS OF FInanCIaL POSItIOn 
as at 28 February 2014

GROuP COMPANY

notes
2014

R
2013

r
2014

R
2013

r

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 247 207 317 008 247 207 317 008

exploration and evaluation assets 16 266 809 536 162 859 167 896 740 896 740

Other intangible assets 15 175 476 161 760 175 476 161 760

Investments in subsidiaries 17 – – 44 732 916 44 729 571

Loans to group companies 18 – – 336 066 985 180 069 277

Other financial assets 19 433 344 048 371 719 195 211 850 897 161 777 957

Total non-current assets 700 576 267 535 057 130 593 970 221 387 952 313

Current assets

Other financial assets 19 222 542 359 84 803 036 183 683 088 84 803 036

trade and other receivables 20 649 764 3 665 149 616 479 3 663 692

Cash and cash equivalents 21 381 579 766 94 032 416 273 269 901 4 703 471

Total current assets 604 771 889 182 500 601 457 569 468 93 170 199

Total assets 1 305 348 156 717 557 731 1 051 539 689 481 122 512

EquITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity

Stated capital 22 1 109 977 054 534 172 123 1 109 977 054 534 172 123

reserves 22 6 001 847 26 681 469 6 001 847 26 681 469

accumulated loss (179 426 156) (219 700 074) (142 169 450) (241 776 141)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 936 552 745 341 153 518 973 809 451 319 077 451

non-controlling interest 23 12 218 476 22 298 155 – –

Total shareholders’ equity 948 771 221 363 451 673 973 809 451 319 077 451

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

deferred tax liability 24 92 498 394 72 588 101 3 901 133 –

Total non-current liabilities 92 498 394 72 588 101 3 901 133 –

Current liabilities

Loan from group company 18 – – 318 292 318 292

Other financial liabilities 25 74 167 311 175 574 827 20 220 311 131 375 827

Current tax payable 176 856 253 93 962 655 40 262 449 18 370 418

trade and other payables 26 13 054 977 11 980 475 13 028 053 11 980 524

Total current liabilities 264 078 541 281 517 957 73 829 105 162 045 061

Total liabilities 356 576 935 354 106 058 77 730 238 162 045 061

Total equity and liabilities 1 305 348 156 717 557 731 1 051 539 689 481 122 512

number of shares in issue 22 3 086 169 261 953 340 791

net asset value per share (cents) 30.74 38.12

net tangible asset value per share (cents) 22.10 21.04

47SacOil Holdings Limited  Integrated annUaL rePOrt  2014

a
d

d
It

IO
n

a
L 

In
FO

r
M

at
IO

n
FI

n
a

n
C

Ia
LS

g
O

V
e

r
n

a
n

C
e

Le
a

d
e

r
S

H
IP

B
U

S
In

e
S

S
 O

V
e

r
V

Ie
W



COnSOLIdated and SeParate  
StateMentS OF CHangeS In eQUIty 
for the year ended 28 February 2014

Stated
capital

(note 22)
r

revaluation
reserve

(note 22)
r

Share-based
payment

reserve
(note 22)

r

total
reserves

r

accumulated
loss

r

total equity 
attributable to
 equity holders
 of the parent

r

non-
controlling

interest 
r

total
equity

r

GROuP 

Balance at 29 February 2012 486 184 423 1 810 947 27 932 584 29 743 531 (188 602 491) 327 325 463 109 943 833 437 269 296

Changes in equity: 

Loss for the year – – – – (55 627 404) (55 627 404) (15 984 971) (71 612 375)

Other comprehensive loss for 
the year – (1 045 359) – (1 045 359) – (1 045 359) – (1 045 359)

total comprehensive loss for 
the year – (1 045 359) – (1 045 359) (55 627 404) (56 672 763) (15 984 971) (72 657 734)

Issue of shares 47 987 700 – – – – 47 987 700 – 47 987 700

Share options lapsed – – (1 251 115) (1 251 115) 1 251 115 – – –

acquisition of non-controlling 
interest – – – – 22 513 118 22 513 118 (47 086 913) (24 573 795)

transfer on disposal of assets – (765 588) – (765 588) 765 588 – – –

dividends – – – – – – (24 573 794) (24 573 794)

Total changes 47 987 700 (1 810 947) (1 251 115) (3 062 062) (31 097 583) 13 828 055 (87 645 678) (73 817 623)

Balance at 28 February 2013 534 172 123 – 26 681 469 26 681 469 (219 700 074) 341 153 518 22 298 155 363 451 673

Changes in equity: 

Profit/(loss) for the year – – – – 19 594 296 19 594 296 (10 079 679) 9 514 617

total comprehensive income/
(loss) for the year – – – – 19 594 296 19 594 296 (10 079 679) 9 514 617

Issue of shares 575 804 931 – – – – 575 804 931 – 575 804 931

Share options lapsed – – (20 679 622) (20 679 622) 20 679 622 – – –

Total changes 575 804 931 – (20 679 622) (20 679 622) 40 273 918 595 399 227 (10 079 679) 585 319 548

Balance at 28 February 2014 1 109 977 054 – 6 001 847 6 001 847 (179 426 156) 936 552 745 12 218 476 948 771 221

COMPANY 

Balance at 29 February 2012 486 184 423 1 810 947 27 932 584 29 743 531 (283 114 660) 232 813 294 – 232 813 294

Changes in equity: 

Profit for the year – – – – 39 321 816 39 321 816 – 39 321 816

Other comprehensive loss for 
the year – (1 045 359) – (1 045 359) – (1 045 359) – (1 045 359)

total comprehensive (loss)/
income for the year – (1 045 359) – (1 045 359) 39 321 816 38 276 457 – 38 276 457

Issue of shares 47 987 700 – – – – 47 987 700 – 47 987 700

Share options lapsed – – (1 251 115) (1 251 115) 1 251 115 – – –

transfer on disposal of assets – (765 588) – (765 588) 765 588 – – –

Total changes 47 987 700 (1 810 947) (1 251 115) (3 062 062) 41 338 519 86 264 157 – 86 264 157

Balance at 28 February 2013 534 172 123 – 26 681 469 26 681 469 (241 776 141) 319 077 451 – 319 077 451

Changes in equity: 

Profit for the year – – – – 78 927 069 78 927 069 – 78 927 069

total comprehensive income 
for the year – – – – 78 927 069 78 927 069 – 78 927 069

Issue of shares 575 804 931 – – – – 575 804 931 – 575 804 931

Share options lapsed – – (20 679 622) (20 679 622) 20 679 622 – – –

Total changes 575 804 931 – (20 679 622) (20 679 622) 99 606 691 654 732 000 – 654 732 000

Balance at 28 February 2014 1 109 977 054 – 6 001 847 6 001 847 (142 169 450) 973 809 451 – 973 809 451
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COnSOLIdated and SeParate  
StateMentS OF CaSH FLOWS 
for the year ended 28 February 2014

GROuP COMPANY

notes
2014

R
2013

r
2014

R
2013

r

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash used in operations 28 (39 133 285) (24 692 023) (38 926 684) (24 840 504)

Interest income 889 724 843 988 17 414 101 753

dividends received – – – 24 573 794

Finance costs (1 324 143) – (1 324 143) –

tax received/(paid) 32 404 (33 714) – –

Net cash used in operating activities (39 535 300) (23 881 749) (40 233 413) (164 957)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14 (71 426) (8 200)  (71 426) (8 200)

Purchase of exploration and evaluation assets (63 026 602) (8 478 078) – (896 740)

Purchase of other intangible assets 15 (86 956) (184 869) (86 956) (184 869)

acquisition of subsidiary* – – (3 345) –

Sale of exploration and evaluation assets – 75 997 000 – –

Loans advanced to group companies – – (64 534 478) (60 543 778)

decrease/(increase) in loans and receivables 14 793 124 (68 190 699) 14 793 042 (39 427 998)

Net cash used in investing activities (48 391 860) (864 846) (49 903 163) (101 061 585)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds on share issue 22 337 273 662 – 337 273 662 –

Proceeds from other financial liabilities 18 670 494 150 617 203 21 429 344 119 913 670

acquisition of non-controlling interest – (24 573 795) – (24 573 795)

dividends paid to non-controlling interest – (24 573 794) – –

Net cash from financing activities 355 944 156 101 469 614 358 703 006 95 339 875

Total movement in cash and cash equivalents for 
the year 268 016 996 76 723 019 268 556 430 (5 886 667)

Foreign exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents 19 530 354 6 535 099

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the year 94 032 416 10 774 298 4 703 471 10 590 138

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 21 381 579 766 94 032 416 273 269 901 4 703 471

* Set-up costs relating to the establishment of a new company.
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nOteS tO tHe COnSOLIdated  
FInanCIaL StateMentS 
for the year ended 28 February 2014

1 generaL InFOrMatIOn
  SacOil Holdings Limited (the Company, together with its subsidiaries, the group), is a company incorporated in South africa 

and is listed on both the JSe and aIM Market of the London Stock exchange. general company information is included on 
the inside back cover of the integrated annual report. SacOil focuses on opportunities within proven hydrocarbon basins 
across the exploration and production spectrum. SacOil’s interests include exploration assets in nigeria, Malawi, Botswana 
and the drC.

  the consolidated financial statements of the group for the year ended 28 February 2014 were authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the directors dated 28 May 2014. 

2  SUMMary OF SIgnIFICant aCCOUntIng POLICIeS
 2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
   the consolidated annual financial statements of SacOil Holdings Limited and all of its subsidiaries for the year 

ended 28  February 2014 have been prepared in accordance with the group’s accounting policies, which comply 
with International Financial reporting Standards as well as the SaICa Financial reporting guides as issued by the 
accounting Practices Committee, the Financial reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial reporting 
Standards Council, the Listings requirements of the JSe Limited and in a manner required by the Companies act of 
South africa, and are consistent with those of the previous year, except for the adoption of new accounting standards 
given in note 4.1. these financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and are presented 
in rands.

   the preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFrS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. 
the  areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in note 3. 

  Going concern
   the consolidated and separate annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies 

applicable to a going concern. this basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that 
the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary 
course of business. refer to note 32 for further disclosures on going concern matters.

 2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
  Subsidiaries 
   Subsidiaries are those entities over which the group has control. Control is achieved when the group is exposed, or 

has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the investee. Specifically, the group controls an investee if, and only if, the group has all of the following: 

	 	 •	 	power	 over	 the	 investee	 (i.e.	 existing	 rights	 that	 give	 it	 the	 current	 ability	 to	 direct	 the	 relevant	 activities	 of	
the investee);

	 	 •	 	exposure,	or	rights,	to	variable	returns	from	its	involvement	with	the	investee;	and	

	 	 •	 	the	ability	to	use	its	power	over	the	investee	to	affect	its	returns.	

   Where the group has less than a majority of the voting, or similar, rights of an investee, it considers all relevant facts 
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

	 	 •	 	the	contractual	arrangement(s)	with	the	other	vote	holders	of	the	investee;

	 	 •	 	rights	arising	from	other	contractual	arrangements;	and

	 	 •	 	the	Group’s	voting	rights	and	potential	voting	rights.

   the group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the group obtains control 
over the subsidiary and ceases when the group loses control of the subsidiary. assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the statement of profit and loss and other 
comprehensive income (“OCI”) from the date the group gains control until the date the group ceases to control 
the subsidiary.

   Profit or loss and each component of OCI are attributed to the equity holders of the parent of the group and to non-
controlling interests (“nCIs”), even if this results in the nCIs having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are 
made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the group’s accounting 
policies. all intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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   a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 
If the group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

	 	 •	 	derecognises	the	assets	(including	goodwill)	and	liabilities	of	the	subsidiary;

	 	 •	 	derecognises	the	carrying	amount	of	any	NCIs;

	 	 •	 	derecognises	the	cumulative	translation	differences	recorded	in	equity;

	 	 •	 	recognises	the	fair	value	of	the	consideration	received;

	 	 •	 	recognises	the	fair	value	of	any	investment	retained;

	 	 •	 	recognises	any	surplus	or	deficit	in	the	statement	of	profit	or	loss	and	OCI;	and

	 	 •	 	reclassifies	the	parent’s	share	of	components	previously	recognised	in	OCI	to	profit	or	loss	or	retained	earnings,	
as appropriate, as would be required if the group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

  Interests in joint arrangements
   IFrS defines a joint arrangement as an arrangement over which two or more parties have joint control. Joint control 

is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant 
activities (being those that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement) require unanimous consent of the parties 
sharing control.

  Joint operations
   a joint operation is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 

rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. In relation to its interests in joint 
operations, the group recognises its:

	 	 •	 	assets,	including	its	share	of	any	assets	held	jointly;

	 	 •	 	liabilities,	including	its	share	of	any	liabilities	incurred	jointly;

	 	 •	 	revenue	from	the	sale	of	its	share	of	the	output	arising	from	the	joint	operation;

	 	 •	 	share	of	the	revenue	from	the	sale	of	the	output	by	the	joint	operation;	and

	 	 •	 	expenses,	including	its	share	of	any	expenses	incurred	jointly.

  Joint ventures
   a joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 

rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. the group’s investment in its joint venture is accounted for using the 
equity method. Under the equity method the investment in the joint venture is initially recognised at cost. the carrying 
amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the group’s share of net assets of the joint venture since 
the acquisition date. goodwill relating to the joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is 
neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment.

   the statement of profit or loss and OCI reflects the group’s share of the results of operations of the joint venture. 
any change in OCI of that investee is presented as part of the group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a change 
recognised directly in the equity of the joint venture, the group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, 
in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the group and 
the joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the joint venture.

   the aggregate of the group’s share of profit or loss of the joint venture is shown on the face of the statement of profit 
or loss and OCI as part of operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and nCI in the subsidiaries of the 
joint venture.

   the financial statements of the joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the group. When necessary, 
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the group.

   at each reporting date the group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the joint 
venture is impaired. If there is such evidence the group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between 
the recoverable amount of the joint venture and its carrying value, then recognises the loss as “Share of profit of a joint 
venture” in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

   On loss of joint control over the joint venture the group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair 
value. any difference between the carrying amount of the joint venture upon loss of joint control and the fair value of 
the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.
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2  SUMMary OF SIgnIFICant aCCOUntIng POLICIeS (continued)
 2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (continued)
   Reimbursement of costs of the operator of the joint arrangement
   When the group, acting as an operator or manager of a joint arrangement, receives reimbursement of direct costs 

recharged to the joint arrangement, such recharges represent reimbursements of costs that the operator incurred as 
an agent for the joint arrangement and therefore have no effect on profit or loss.

   When the group charges a management fee (based on a fixed percentage of total costs incurred for the year) to cover 
other general costs incurred in carrying out the activities on behalf of the joint arrangement, it is not acting as an agent. 
therefore, the general overhead expenses and the management fee are recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
and OCI as an expense and income, respectively.

 2.3 TRANSACTIONS WITH NCIs
   non-controlling shareholders are treated as equity participants. acquisitions and disposals of additional interests in 

the group’s subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions and the excess of the purchase consideration over 
the carrying value of net assets acquired is recognised directly in equity. Profits and losses arising on transactions with 
nCIs where control is maintained subsequent to the disposal are recognised directly in equity. any dilution gains or 
losses are also recognised directly in equity.

 2.4 BuSINESS COMBINATIONS
   Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. the cost of an acquisition is measured as 

the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any nCIs 
in the acquiree. For each business combination the group elects whether to measure the nCIs in the acquiree at fair 
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. acquisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred and included in administrative expenses.

   When the group acquires a business it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification 
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the 
acquisition date. this includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

   If the business combination is achieved in stages the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition 
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and OCI. It is then considered in the 
determination of goodwill. 

   any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IaS 39 – 
Financial Instruments: recognition and Measurement, is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised 
either in either profit or loss or as a change to OCI. If the contingent consideration is not within the scope of IaS 39, 
it is measured in accordance with the appropriate IFrS. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

   goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognised for nCI over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of 
the identifiable net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred (bargain purchase), before 
recognising a gain, the group reassesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the 
liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. 
If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration 
transferred, then the gain is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

   after initial recognition goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
group’s cash-generating units (“CgUs”) that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether 
other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

   Where goodwill has been allocated to a CgU and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill 
associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain 
or loss on disposal. goodwill disposed in these circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the disposed 
operation and the portion of the CgU retained.

 2.5 INVESTMENTS IN SuBSIDIARIES
   Investments in subsidiaries held by the Company are stated at cost less any provision for impairment.

nOteS tO tHe COnSOLIdated FInanCIaL StateMentS
for the year ended 28 February 2014 (continued)
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 2.6 SEGMENT REPORTING
   Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-

maker. the chief operating decision-maker is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
operating segments.

 2.7 FOREIGN CuRRENCY TRANSLATION
  Functional and presentation currency 
   Items included in the consolidated and separate annual financial statements of each of the group entities are measured 

using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (functional currency). the 
consolidated and separate annual financial statements are presented in South african rands (“rands”) which is the 
group’s presentation currency.

  Transactions and balances
   transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the 

date of the transaction. 

   Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates 
of exchange at the reporting date. differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised 
in profit or loss with the exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the group’s net 
investment of a foreign operation. these are recognised in OCI until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, 
the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on 
those monetary items are also recorded in OCI. 

   non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. the gain or loss arising on 
translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss on change 
in fair value of the item (i.e. translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in OCI or profit 
or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

 2.8 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EquIPMENT
   all property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent 
costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. all repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the 
financial period in which they are incurred.

   depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost to residual 
values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

  Furniture and fittings 6 years
  Motor vehicles 4 years
  Computer equipment 3 – 5 years

   depreciation is charged to the statement of comprehensive income under operating expenses in the year in which 
it occurs.

   an item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal 
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. any gain or loss arising on derecognition 
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in the statement of comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised.

   the assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation is reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the 
end of each reporting period. 

 2.9 ExPLORATION AND EVALuATION ASSETS
   Oil and natural gas exploration, evaluation and development expenditure is accounted for using the successful efforts 

method of accounting.

  (i) Pre-licence costs
    Pre-licence costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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2  SUMMary OF SIgnIFICant aCCOUntIng POLICIeS (continued)
 2.9 ExPLORATION AND EVALuATION ASSETS (continued)
  (ii) Licence and property acquisition costs
    exploration licence and leasehold property acquisition costs are capitalised in intangible assets. Licence costs 

paid in connection with a right to explore in an existing exploration area are capitalised and amortised over the 
term of the permit. Licence and property acquisition costs are reviewed at each reporting date to confirm that 
there is no indication that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. this review includes confirming 
that exploration drilling is still under way or firmly planned, or that it has been determined, or work is under way to 
determine that the discovery is economically viable based on a range of technical and commercial considerations 
and sufficient progress is being made on establishing development plans and timing. 

    If no future activity is planned or the licence has been relinquished or has expired, the carrying value of the licence 
and property acquisition costs is written off through the statement of comprehensive income. Upon recognition 
of proved reserves and internal approval for development the relevant expenditure is transferred to oil and gas 
properties.

  (iii) Exploration and evaluation costs
    exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for hydrocarbon resources, the determination of technical 

feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource. Once the legal right to explore has 
been acquired, costs directly associated with an exploration well are capitalised as exploration and evaluation 
intangible assets until the drilling of the well is complete and the results have been evaluated. these costs include 
directly attributable employee remuneration, materials and fuel used, rig costs and payments made to contractors.

    If no potentially commercial hydrocarbons are discovered, the exploration asset is written off through profit or loss 
as a dry hole. If extractable hydrocarbons are found and, subject to further appraisal activity (e.g. the drilling of 
additional wells), are likely to be capable of being commercially developed, the costs continue to be carried as an 
intangible asset while sufficient/continued progress is made in assessing the commerciality of the hydrocarbons. 
Costs directly associated with appraisal activity undertaken to determine the size, characteristics and commercial 
potential of a reservoir following the initial discovery of hydrocarbons, including the costs of appraisal wells where 
hydrocarbons were not found, are initially capitalised as an intangible asset.

    all such capitalised costs are subject to technical, commercial and management review, as well as review for 
indicators of impairment at least once a year. this is to confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract 
value from the discovery. When this is no longer the case, the costs are written off through the statement of profit 
or loss and OCI.

    When proved reserves of oil and natural gas are identified and development is sanctioned by management, the 
relevant capitalised expenditure is first assessed for impairment and (if required) any impairment loss is recognised, 
then the remaining balance is transferred to oil and gas properties. Other than licence costs, no amortisation is 
charged during the exploration and evaluation phase.

    For exchanges or parts of exchanges that involve only exploration and evaluation assets, the exchange is 
accounted for at the carrying value of the asset given up and no gain or loss is recognised.

  (iv)  Farm-outs – in the exploration and evaluation phase
   In accounting for farm-outs, the group:

	 	 	 •	 	derecognises	the	portion	of	the	asset	sold	to	the	farmee;

	 	 	 •	 	recognises	the	consideration	received	or	receivable	from	the	farmee,	which	represents	the	farmee’s	obligation	
to	fund	the	capital	expenditure	in	relation	to	the	interest	retained	by	the	farmor;

	 	 	 •	 	recognises	a	gain	or	 loss	on	 the	 transaction	 for	 the	difference	between	 the	net	disposal	proceeds	and	 the	
carrying amount of the asset disposed. a gain is only recognised when the value of the consideration can be 
determined reliably. If not, the group accounts for the consideration received as a reduction in the carrying 
amount	of	the	underlying	assets;	and	

	 	 	 •	 	tests	the	retained	interest	for	impairment	if	the	terms	of	the	arrangement	indicate	that	the	retained	interest	may	
be impaired.

    the consideration receivable on disposal of an item of exploration and evaluation assets is recognised as a 
financial asset initially at fair value and subsequently in line with note 2.11.1 below.

    Costs incurred on behalf of the group under cost carry arrangements are not capitalised pending the outcome 
of exploration activities and are considered to be dependent on uncertain events within the scope of IaS 37 – 
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent assets. Should a liability be possible a contingent liability is 
disclosed. Should the liability be probable a provision is recognised. Contingent assets are not recognised, but 
are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When the realisation of income is virtually certain, 
then the related asset is not a contingent asset and its recognition is appropriate.

nOteS tO tHe COnSOLIdated FInanCIaL StateMentS
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 2.10 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
   Other intangible assets include computer software.

   Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. the cost of intangible assets acquired 
in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets 
are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation (calculated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives) and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

   Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised. Instead, the 
related expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the expenditure is incurred. 

   the useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

   Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. the amortisation period and the amortisation method 
for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are 
considered to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting 
estimates. the amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense 
category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets.

   Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually, either individually 
or at the CgU level. the assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life 
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

   the useful life of the group’s computer software is three years.

   gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

 2.11 FINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS
  2.11.1 Financial assets
    the group classifies its financial assets as loans and receivables. the classification depends on the purpose 

for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets at 
initial recognition.

   Loans and receivables
   (i) Recognition and measurement
     Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs 
and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. amortised cost 
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate. the effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance income 
in the statement of comprehensive income. the losses arising from impairment are recognised in the income 
statement in finance costs for loans and in cost of sales or other operating expenses for receivables. 

     Loans and receivables are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period. these are classified as non-current assets. the group’s loans and receivables 
comprise “loans to group companies”, “other financial assets”, “trade receivables” and “cash and cash 
equivalents” in the statement of financial position (notes 18, 19, 20 and 21).

   (ii) Derecognition
     a financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 

is derecognised when:

	 	 	 	 •	 	the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	have	expired;	and

	 	 	 	 •	 	the	Group	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	or	has	assumed	an	obligation	
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement;	and	either	(a)	the	Group	has	transferred	substantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	of	the	asset,	
or (b) the group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, 
but has transferred control of the asset.

     When the group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control 
of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the group’s continuing involvement in the asset. In that 
case, the group also recognises an associated liability. the transferred asset and the associated liability are 
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the group has retained.
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2  SUMMary OF SIgnIFICant aCCOUntIng POLICIeS (continued)

 2.11 FINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS (continued)
  2.11.2 Financial liabilities
    the group classifies its financial liabilities as loans and borrowings. the classification depends on the purpose 

for which the financial liabilities were acquired. Management determines the classification of its financial assets 
at initial recognition.

   Loans and borrowings
   (i) Recognition and measurement
     Loans and borrowings are recorded initially at fair value. after initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 

borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the effective 
interest rate amortisation process. amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. the effective 
interest rate amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of comprehensive income.

     Loans and borrowings are included in current liabilities, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period. these are classified as non-current liabilities. the group’s loans and borrowings 
comprise “loans from group companies”, “other financial liabilities” and “trade payables” in the statement of 
financial position (notes 18, 25 and 26).

   (ii) Derecognition
     a financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires. 

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. the difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

  2.11.3 Off-setting financial instruments
    Financial assets and liabilities are off-set and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when 

there is a legally enforceable right to off-set the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

  2.11.4 Fair value of financial instruments
    Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date. the fair value measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

	 	 	 •	 	in	the	principal	market	for	the	asset	or	liability,	or

	 	 	 •	 in	the	absence	of	a	principal	market,	in	the	most	advantageous	market	for	the	asset	or	liability.

    the principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the group. the fair value of an asset 
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. a fair value measurement of a 
non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the 
asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its 
highest and best use.

    the group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

    all assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:

	 	 	 •	 Level	1	–		Quoted	(unadjusted)	market	prices	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities

	 	 	 •	 Level	2	–		Valuation	techniques	for	which	the	lowest-level	input	that	is	significant	to	the	fair	value	measurement	
is directly or indirectly observable

	 	 	 •	 Level	3	–		Valuation	techniques	for	which	the	lowest-level	input	that	is	significant	to	the	fair	value	measurement	
is unobservable

    For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the group has determined classes of assets and liabilities based on the 
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.
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 2.12 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
  2.12.1 Impairment of financial assets
   Assets carried at amortised cost
    the group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial 

asset or group of financial assets is impaired. a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and 
impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) 
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be 
reliably estimated.

    evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing significant 
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where observable data indicates that there is a measurable 
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate 
with defaults.

    For the loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have 
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

    If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the reversal of the previously recognised 
impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

  2.12.2 Impairment of non-financial assets
    the group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 

indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the group estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. an asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CgU’s fair value less costs of 
disposal and its value in use. recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the 
carrying amount of an asset or CgU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount.

    In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no 
such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. these calculations are corroborated 
by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

    the group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared 
separately for each of the group’s CgUs to which the individual assets are allocated. these budgets and 
forecast calculations generally cover a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is 
calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

    Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in 
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for a property previously revalued 
when the revaluation was taken to OCI. In this case, the impairment is also recognised in OCI up to the amount 
of any previous revaluation.

    For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an 
indication that previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication 
exists, the group estimates the asset’s or CgU’s recoverable amount. a previously recognised impairment loss 
is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount 
since the last impairment loss was recognised. the reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset 
does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised 
in the income statement unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

 2.13 TRADE RECEIVABLES
   trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of 

business. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented 
under non-current assets as other financial assets. trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
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2  SUMMary OF SIgnIFICant aCCOUntIng POLICIeS (continued)

 2.14 CASH AND CASH EquIVALENTS
   Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value and subsequently at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method. In the consolidated and separate statements of financial position and cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.

 2.15 STATED CAPITAL
   Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or 

options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

 2.16 BORROWINGS
   Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at 

amortised	cost;	any	difference	between	the	proceeds	(net	of	transaction	costs)	and	the	redemption	value	is	recognised	
in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

   Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs (under debt-raising fees) of the 
loan to the extent that it is probable that all of the facility will be drawn down. 

 2.17 PROVISIONS
   Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 

it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. the group does not expect reimbursements on any of 
its provisions. the expense relating to a provision is presented in the statement of comprehensive income.

 2.18 TRADE PAYABLES
   trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business 

from suppliers. trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they 
are presented as non-current liabilities.

   trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method.

 2.19 INTEREST INCOME
   Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 

discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter 
period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. Interest income is included under 
investment income in the statement of comprehensive income.

 2.20 DIVIDEND INCOME
   dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. dividend income is included under 

investment income in the statement of comprehensive income.

 2.21 TAxATION
   the tax expense comprises current (where applicable) and deferred tax. tax is recognised in the statement of 

comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

  Current tax
   the current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. 

  Deferred tax
   deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases 

of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax 
assets	and	 liabilities	are	not	 recognised	 if	 they	arise	 from	the	 initial	 recognition	of	goodwill;	deferred	 income	tax	 is	
not accounted for if it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business 
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. deferred income 
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date 
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is 
settled. deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 
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   deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except 
for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the group 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

  Offsetting
   deferred income tax assets and liabilities are off-set when there is a legally enforceable right to off-set current tax 

assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an 
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

 2.22 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
   employees (including senior executives) of the Company receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment 

transactions whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (equity-settled transactions). 
the group has no cash-settled share-based payment transactions.

  Equity-settled transactions
   equity-settled transactions include share options granted to directors and employees of the group and also include 

transactions that are equity-settled by the group. the cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised on the grant 
date, together with a corresponding increase in other capital reserves in equity, over the period during which the 
performance and/or services are fulfilled. the cumulative expense recognised in employee benefit expenses for equity-
settled transactions at each reporting period reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the group’s 
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. the initial valuation of the expense at the 
grant date is not revalued and is credited to equity through profit or loss. 

   the group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the grant date. In estimating fair value, the group uses the most appropriate valuation model which is 
dependent on the terms and conditions of each grant. the estimate also requires determining the most appropriate 
inputs to the valuation model, including the expected life of the share option, volatility and dividend yield, and making 
assumptions about them. the dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the 
computation of diluted earnings and headline earnings per share. equity-settled transactions are detailed in note 13. 

   the Company also enters into equity-settled share-based payment arrangements with non-employees for services 
received. the cost of these transactions is recognised on the effective date of the transaction, with a corresponding 
increase in equity (stated capital). the cost is measured by reference to the value of the services received unless this 
cannot be determined reliably, in which case it is measured as the fair value of the equity instruments given up. refer 
to note 22 for details on these transactions.

 2.23 BORROWING COSTS
   Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes 

a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. 
all other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other 
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

 2.24 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
  Defined contribution plan
   In the prior year the group made contributions to a provident fund in respect of employees at the greenhills Plant. 

Following the disposal of the plant on 1 October 2012, the group no longer makes contributions to pension schemes. 
Provident fund payments were charged as an expense under “other operating expenses” as they fell due. 

  Short-term employee benefits
   Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled 

wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service. 
these include salaries, paid annual leave, paid sick leave and bonuses. In the prior year short-term employee benefits 
also included wages and provident fund contributions for employees of the greenhills Plant. Short-term employee 
benefits are included under “other operating costs” in the statement of comprehensive income.

  the group currently does not provide long-term employee benefits.

 2.25 LEASES
  Operating leases – lessee
   Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 

operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income on 
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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3 SIgnIFICant aCCOUntIng JUdgeMentS, eStIMateS and aSSUMPtIOnS
  In the application of the group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, the directors are required to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. the estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that 
are considered to be relevant. actual results may differ from these estimates. the estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. the following are the critical judgements, key assumptions and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at 28 February 2014 that may have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

 3.1 ExPLORATION AND EVALuATION ExPENDITuRES
   the application of the group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure requires judgement 

to determine whether it is likely that future economic benefits are likely, from either future exploitation or sale, or 
whether activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves. the 
determination of reserves and resources is itself an estimation process that requires varying degrees of uncertainty 
depending on how the resources are classified. these estimates directly impact on whether the group capitalises 
exploration and evaluation expenditure. the capitalisation policy requires management to make certain estimates and 
assumptions as to future events and circumstances, in particular whether an economically viable extraction operation 
can be established. any such estimates and assumptions may change as new information becomes available. If, after 
expenditure is capitalised, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, 
the relevant capitalised amount is impaired in profit or loss in the period when the new information becomes available. 
exploration and evaluation assets are detailed in note 16.

 3.2 JOINT ARRANGEMENTS
   Judgement is required to determine when the group has joint control over an arrangement, which requires an 

assessment of the relevant activities and when the decisions in relation to those activities require unanimous consent. 
the group has determined that the relevant activities for its joint arrangements are those relating to the operating 
and capital decisions of the arrangement, such as approval of the capital expenditure programme for each year and 
appointing, remunerating and terminating the key management personnel or service providers of the joint arrangement. 
the  considerations made in determining joint control are similar to those necessary to determine control over 
subsidiaries. refer to note 2.2 for more details.

   Judgement is also required to classify a joint arrangement. Classifying the arrangement requires the group to assess 
their rights and obligations arising from the arrangement. Specifically, the group considers:

	 	 •	 	the	structure	of	the	joint	arrangement	–	whether	it	is	structured	through	a	separate	vehicle;	and

	 	 •	 	when	the	arrangement	is	structured	through	a	separate	vehicle,	the	Group	also	considers	the	rights	and	obligations	
arising from:

	 	 	 	 –	 the	legal	form	of	the	separate	vehicle;

	 	 	 	 –	 the	terms	of	the	contractual	arrangement;	and

    – other facts and circumstances (when relevant).

   this assessment often requires significant judgement and a different conclusion on joint control, and also whether the 
arrangement is a joint operation or a joint venture, may materially impact the accounting.

 3.3  FAIR VALuE OF FINANCIAL INSTRuMENTS AND RE-ESTIMATION OF CASH FLOWS ON FINANCIAL 
INSTRuMENTS

   Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. the fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. 
Where the fair value of financial assets and liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot be derived 
from active markets, fair value is determined using valuation techniques including the discounted cash flow model. 
the inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree 
of judgement is required in establishing fair values. the judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity 
risk, credit risk, volatility, commodity prices and foreign currency risk. 

   estimates and assumptions are taken into account in the re-estimation of cash flows relating to financial instruments, 
including the determination of geological chances of success to make a commercial discovery, existing information 
on resources as well as success rates of discoveries in the vicinity of the location of the group’s assets. Changes in 
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these judgements, estimates and assumptions as a result of further production history and additional information could 
materially affect the reported fair value of financial assets and liabilities. refer to note 19.

   the group and Company make use of independent competent persons to evaluate and value its existing resources and 
reserves. reports are prepared in accordance with standard geological and engineering methods generally accepted 
by the oil and gas industry, in particular the 2007 SPe Petroleum resource Management System guide.

 3.4 CONTINGENCIES
   By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved when one or more uncertain future events occur or fail to occur. 

the assessment of the existence, and potential quantum, of contingencies inherently involves the exercise of significant 
judgement and the use of estimates regarding the outcome of future events. Contingencies are disclosed in note 34.

 3.5 TAxES
   Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws, and the amount 

and timing of future taxable income. differences could arise between actual results and the assumptions made, thereby 
necessitating future adjustments to income taxes.
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4 adOPtIOn OF neW and reVISed StandardS
 4.1 STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS EFFECTIVE FOR THE 2014 FINANCIAL YEAR
   the following amendments became effective for the 28 February 2014 year-end but did not have an impact on the 

group results:

Topic Key requirements Effective date

amendment to IaS 1, 
“Financial statement 
presentation”, regarding 
other comprehensive income

the main change resulting from these amendments is a requirement 
for entities to group items presented in other comprehensive 
income on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable 
to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). 

1 July 2012

amendment to IaS 19 – 
employee Benefits

there are a number of amendments that relate to how employee 
benefits are accounted for.

1 January 2013

amendment to IFrS 1, 
“First-time adoption”, on 
government loans

this amendment addresses how a first-time adopter would 
account for a government loan with a below-market rate of 
interest when transitioning to IFrS. It also adds an exception to 
the retrospective application of IFrS, which provides the same 
relief to first-time adopters granted to existing preparers of IFrS 
financial statements when the requirement was incorporated into 
IaS 20 in 2008.

1 January 2013

amendment to IFrS 7 – 
Financial Instruments: 
disclosures, on asset and 
liability offsetting

the amendments require an entity to disclose information about 
rights of set-off and related arrangements.

1 January 2013

annual improvements 2011 these annual improvements address six issues in the 2009 – 2011 
reporting cycle. It includes changes to:
•	 IFRS	1,	“First-time	adoption”
  –  application of IFrS 1 where an entity has previously applied 

IFRS;	and
  –  treatment of borrowing costs capitalised under gaaP.
•	 IAS	1,	“Financial	statement	presentation”
  Clarification of the requirements for comparative information.
•	 IAS	16	–	Property,	Plant	and	Equipment
  Classification of servicing equipment
•	 IAS	32	–	Financial	Instruments:	Presentation
   tax effect of distribution to holders of equity instruments 

aligned with IaS 12
•	 IAS	34	–	Interim	Financial	Reporting
   Clarification of interim financial reporting and segment 

information for total assets and liabilities

1 January 2013

IFrS 11 – Joint 
arrangements

IFrS 11 is a more realistic reflection of joint arrangements by 
focusing on the rights and obligations of the arrangement rather 
than its legal form. there are two types of joint arrangement: joint 
operations and joint ventures. Joint operations arise where a joint 
operator has rights to the assets and obligations relating to the 
arrangement and therefore accounts for its interest in assets, 
liabilities, revenue and expenses. Joint ventures arise where the 
joint operator has rights to the net assets of the arrangement 
and therefore equity accounts for its interest. Proportional 
consolidation of joint ventures is no longer allowed.

1 January 2013

IaS 27 (revised 2011) 
– Separate Financial 
Statements

IaS 27 (revised 2011) includes the provisions on separate financial 
statements that are left after the control provisions of IaS 27 have 
been included in the new IFrS 10.

1 January 2013

IaS 28 (revised 2011), 
“associates and Joint 
Ventures”

IaS 28 (revised 2011) includes the requirements for joint ventures, 
as well as associates, to be equity accounted following the issue 
of IFrS 11.

1 January 2013

IFrIC 20 – Stripping Costs 
in the Production Phase of a 
Surface Mine

this interpretation sets out the accounting for overburden waste 
removal (stripping) costs in the production phase of a mine. the 
interpretation may require mining entities reporting under IFrS to 
write off existing stripping assets to opening retained earnings if 
the assets cannot be attributed to an identifiable component of 
an ore body.

1 January 2013
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   the following amendments and standards also became effective for the 28 February 2014 year-end. the impact of 
these standards and amendments on the results of the group is described below:

  IFRS 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements (effective 1 January 2013)
   IFrS 10 defines the principal of control and establishes control as a basis for consolidation. IFrS 10 does not change 

consolidation procedures, rather IFrS 10 changes whether an entity is consolidated or not. It also sets out the 
accounting for the preparation of consolidated financial statements. 

   there were no changes to the accounting previously applied to the group’s subsidiaries. the standard however 
changes the manner in which the group assesses control as outlined under note 2.2.

  IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (effective 1 January 2013)
   IFrS 12 is a new disclosure standard and is applicable to entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 

associates and/or unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the application of IFrS 12 has resulted in more 
extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial statements (see note 23).

  IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement (effective 1 January 2013)
   IFrS 13 does not change when fair value is used, but rather describes how to measure fair value when fair value is 

required or permitted by IFrS. Under IFrS 13 fair value is presumed to be an “exit price”. new disclosures related to 
fair value measurements have been included in the consolidated financial statements (see note 30).

 4.2 STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTS ISSuED BuT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
   the following standards and amendments have been issued or revised and will become effective for the 2015 financial 

year-end. these standards and amendments are not expected to have an impact on the group:

Topic Key requirements Effective date
amendment to IaS 32 – 
Financial Instruments: 
Presentation, on asset and 
liability offsetting

these amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally 
enforceable right to set-off” and application of IaS 2 off-setting 
criteria to settlement systems.

1 January 2014

amendments to 
IFrS 10, 12 and IaS 27 
on consolidation for 
investment entities

these amendments mean that many funds and similar entities will 
be exempt from consolidating most of their subsidiaries. Instead, 
they will measure them at fair value through profit or loss. the 
amendments give an exception to entities that meet an “investment 
entity” definition and which display particular characteristics. 
Changes have also been made to IFrS 12 to introduce disclosures 
that an investment entity needs to make.

1 January 2014

IaS 19 – amendments to 
IaS 19 

IaS 19 requires an entity to consider contributions from employees 
or third parties when accounting for defined benefit plans.

1 July 2014

IFrS 14 – regulatory 
deferral accounts

IFrS 14 allows an entity, whose activities are subject to rate 
regulation, to continue applying most of its existing accounting 
policies for regulatory deferral account balances upon its first-
time adoption of IFrS. existing IFrS preparers are prohibited from 
applying this standard.

1 January 2018

amendment to IaS 36 – 
Impairment of assets, 
on recoverable amount 
disclosures

this amendment addresses the disclosure of information about the 
recoverable amount of impaired assets if that amount is based on 
fair value less costs of disposal.

1 January 2014

Financial Instruments: 
recognition and 
Measurement amendment 
to IaS 39, “novation of 
derivatives”

this amendment provides relief from discontinuing hedge 
accounting when novation of a hedging instrument to a central 
counterparty meets specified criteria.

1 January 2014

IFrIC 21 – Levies this is an interpretation of IaS 37 – Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent assets. IaS 37 sets out criteria for the recognition 
of a liability, one of which is the requirement for the entity to have a 
present obligation as a result of a past event (known as an obligating 
event). the interpretation clarifies that the obligating event that gives 
rise to a liability to pay a levy is the activity described in the relevant 
legislation that triggers the payment of the levy.

1 January 2014

IFrS 9 – Financial 
Instruments

IFrS 9 is the first standard issued as part of a wider project to replace 
IaS 39. IFrS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model 
and establishes two primary measurement categories for financial 
assets: amortised cost and fair value. the basis of classification 
depends on the entity’s business model and the contractual cash 
flow characteristics of the financial asset. the guidance in IaS 39 
on impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting continues 
to apply.

1 January 2018
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5 SegMentaL rePOrtIng
the group operates in five geographical locations which form the basis of the information evaluated by the group’s chief 
decision-maker. For management purposes the group is organised and analysed by these locations. these locations are: 
South africa, nigeria, drC, Botswana and Malawi. Operations in South africa relate to the general management, financing 
and administration of the group.

nigeria
r

drC
r

Malawi
r

Botswana
r

South africa
r

Consolidated
r

2014

Other income  9 722 354 12 441 074  –  –  25 187 099 47 350 527

Investment income  872 310  20 499 497  –  –  109 183 886  130 555 693 

Finance costs  –  –  – –  (12 931 875)  (12 931 875)

Other operating expenses  (199 450)  (22 149 316)  –  (10 381)  (77 887 925)  (100 247 072)

taxation  32 404  (37 378 904)  –  –  (17 866 156)  (55 212 656)

Profit/(Loss) for the year  10 427 618  (26 587 649)  –  (10 381)  25 685 029 9 514 617

Segment assets – non-current  191 159 973  295 859 426  896 740  386 548  212 273 580  700 576 267 

  – current  108 144 436  38 929 675  –  –  457 697 778  604 771 889 

Segment liabilities  – non-current  –  (88 597 261)  – – (3 901 133)  (92 498 394)

  – current  (53 973 973)  (136 593 804)  –  –  (73 510 764)  (264 078 541)

2013

Other income  –  87 537 316  –  –  35 685 044  123 222 360 

Investment income  742 237  8 510 118  –  –  37 688 484  46 940 839 

Finance costs  –  –  –  –  (23 837 213)  (23 837 213)

Other operating expenses  (1 577 049)  (130 320 152)  –  –  (43 728 892)  (175 626 093)

taxation  (33 713)  (32 628 727)  –  –  (8 122 869)  (40 785 309)

Loss for the year  (868 525)  (66 901 445)  –  –  (2 315 446)  (70 085 416)

Loss from discontinued 
operation  (1 526 959)

Loss for the year  (71 612 375)

Segment assets – non-current  87 596 152  255 836 529  896 740 –  190 727 709  535 057 130 

  – current  89 139 856  58 510  –  –  93 302 235  182 500 601 

Segment liabilities  – non-current  –  (72 588 101)  –  –  –  (72 588 101)

  – current  (44 199 000)  (75 592 235)  –  –  (161 726 722)  (281 517 957)

Business segments
the operations of the group comprise one class of business, being oil and gas exploration and development.
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GROuP COMPANY

notes
2014

R
2013

r
2014

R
2013

r

6 (LOSS)/PrOFIt FrOM OPeratIOnS
(Loss)/profit from operations for the year is 
stated after accounting for the following income 
and (expense) items: 

Profit on the sale of exploration and evaluation 
assets – 71 693 375 – –

Impairment of financial assets (22 149 316) (129 912 403) (31 758 111) –

Foreign exchange gains 47 350 527 32 124 253 70 176 096 28 112 322

Break fee received – 7 772 999 – 7 772 999

Management fees (charged to subsidiaries) 29 – – 1 813 111 32 081 095

Provision for impairment of financial assets (36 506 994) (4 695 905) (8 570 730) (36 777 000)

Other* (6 873 814) – (6 873 814) –

Corporate costs (7 448 690) (4 620 289) (7 438 309) (4 620 289)

auditors’ remuneration (2 013 263) (4 022 695) (2 013 263) (4 022 695)

audit fees – current reporting period (604 502) (1 400 000) (604 502) (1 400 000)

 – prior-year underprovision (1 020 926) (1 712 189) (1 020 926) (1 712 189)

Other services (387 835) (910 506) (387 835) (910 506)

employee benefit expense 10 (13 462 198) (15 874 545) (13 462 198) (15 874 545)

accounting fees (47 835) (605 725) (47 835) (605 725)

Consulting fees (2 052 893) (3 734 259) (2 052 893) (3 734 259)

Legal fees (1 941 977) (4 125 246) (1 941 977) (3 426 575)

travel and accommodation (1 407 812) (3 019 724) (1 407 812) (3 019 724)

Bad debts written off (1 497 034) (1 092 344) (1 497 034) (684 595)

depreciation (204 862) (481 841) (204 862) (481 841)

Property, plant and equipment 14 (131 622) (458 732) (131 622) (458 732)

Other intangible assets 15 (73 240) (23 109) (73 240) (23 109)

rentals – premises (1 113 128) (1 103 621) (1 113 128) (1 103 621)

Broker fees (904 798) (1 205 393) (904 798) (1 205 393)

*  Provision for share options to be awarded to participants 
pursuant to the provisions of the share option scheme.

7 InVeStMent InCOMe
Dividend income

Subsidiaries – foreign – – – 24 573 794

Interest income

Interest received – loans 102 970 021 37 586 732 102 970 021 37 586 732

 – group companies  – – 10 258 051 6 754 619

 – cash and cash equivalents 889 724 843 989 17 414 101 752

Imputed interest on financial assets 26 695 948 8 510 118 6 196 450 –

130 555 693 46 940 839 119 441 936 44 443 103

130 555 693 46 940 839 119 441 936 69 016 897
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GROuP COMPANY

notes
2014

R
2013

r
2014

R
2013

r

8 FInanCe COStS
South african revenue Service 52 657 – 52 657 –

discounting of financial assets 19 – 18 773 246 – 18 773 246

debt-raising fees  618 823 – 618 823  – 

Interest paid to financial institutions 12 260 395 5 063 967 12 260 395 5 063 967

12 931 875 23 837 213 12 931 875 23 837 213

9 taxatIOn
Major components of the tax expense are 
detailed below:

Current

Current tax (13 965 023) – (13 965 023) –

Foreign taxes 32 404 (8 122 869) – (8 122 869)

Foreign estimated penalties (21 369 744) (36 891 180) – –

Foreign capital gains tax – (28 487 218) – –

(35 302 363) (73 501 267) (13 965 023) (8 122 869)

Deferred

relating to the origination and reversal of 
temporary differences 24 (19 910 293) 32 715 958 (3 901 133) –

(55 212 656) (40 785 309) (17 866 156) (8 122 869)

Reconciliation of the tax expense:

reconciliation between applicable tax rate and 
average effective tax rate % % % %

applicable tax rate 28.00 28.00  28.00 28.00

Permanent differences 40.35 (9.34)  1.17 24.87

Capital gains tax  – (4.07)  – 2.64

Foreign taxes – subsidiaries  32.96 (238.43)  – 17.12

deferred tax asset not recognised  (16.01) 91.54  (10.71) (55.51)

Average effective tax rate 85.30 (132.30) 18.46 17.12

tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has 
been recognised – 6 518 041 – 6 518 041

R r R r

10 eMPLOyee BeneFIt exPenSe
Salaries and wages  13 462 198  15 744 367  13 462 198  15 744 367 

Pension costs – defined contribution plans  –  130 178  –  130 178 

Total  13 462 198  15 874 545  13 462 198  15 874 545 

details of individual directors’ emoluments and share options are set out on pages 30 and 31 of this report.
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11 dISCOntInUed OPeratIOn
the greenhills manganese processing plant (“the Plant”) was sold on 1 October 2012 and met the criteria for a discontinued 
operation in terms of IFrS 5.32 at 28 February 2013. 

note
2013

r

GROuP AND COMPANY

Results of discontinued operation

revenue 9 882 587

Cost of sales (7 261 686)

gross profit 2 620 901

Operating expenses (4 147 860)

Loss for the year (1 526 959)

Basic loss per share (cents) 27  (0.17)

diluted loss per share (cents) 27  (0.17)

Cash flows used in discontinued operations

net cash used in operating activities  (322 989)

the Plant was sold for r7 million payable as follows:

1 October 20131  1 000 000 

1 October 2014  2 000 000 

1 October 2015  2 000 000 

1 October 2016  2 000 000 

total consideration  7 000 000 

1 Received 23 September 2013.

the present value of these future cash receipts is r5 171 975 and is included under other financial assets (note 19).

gross
r

tax
r

net
r

12 OtHer COMPreHenSIVe LOSS
GROuP AND COMPANY

Components of other comprehensive loss – 2013

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods:

Movements on revaluation 

release of revaluation reserve on impairment of property, plant 
and equipment (1 045 359) – (1 045 359)
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13 SHare-BaSed PayMentS
the group operates a share option scheme for directors and employees of the group. Options are granted at the discretion 
of the remuneration Committee, taking into account various factors that promote improved performance within the group. 
Options are issued at the 15-day volume weighted average price per share on the JSe on the grant date. the options 
expire after 10 years if they remain unexercised and are forfeited if the director or employee leaves the group, except at the 
discretion of the Board. the group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash. details 
of share options outstanding during the year are as follows:

GROuP AND COMPANY Weighted average 
exercise price (Rand)

Number of  
share options

2014 2013 2014 2013

at 1 March  0.74  0.74  49 317 666  51 817 666 

Lapsed during the year  0.76  0.40  (37 787 523)  (2 500 000)

at 28 February  0.68  0.74  11 530 143  49 317 666 

exercisable at 28 February  11 530 143  49 317 666 

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

grant date expiry date
exercise price

 (rand)

Number of share options

2014 2013

21 november 2008 20 november 2018 0.82  8 397 227  41 986 136 

8 July 2010 7 July 2020 0.29  3 132 916  7 331 530 

 11 530 143  49 317 666 

no share options were granted during the year (2013: nil). the group uses the traditional Black-Scholes model for valuing 
share options when issued.

equity-settled transactions that occurred during the year are detailed below:

date nature of transaction
Number of 

shares issued
Issue price

R
Fair value

 R

2014

30 January 2014 equity settlement of gairloch Limited loans1  883 449 144 0.27  238 531 269 

 883 449 144  238 531 269 

1 Refer to note 25 for details relating to the equity settlement of the loans.

there were no equity-settled share-based transactions in the prior year.
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GROuP AND COMPANY
Buildings

r

Plant and 
equipment

r

Furniture
 and 

fittings
r

Motor
vehicles

r

Computer
equipment

r

Mining
claims

r
total

r

14 PrOPerty, PLant 
and eQUIPMent
Cost
at 1 March 2012  5 369 960  1 892 737  129 867  459 219  274 473  18 000  8 144 256 
additions  –  –  8 200  –  –  –  8 200 
disposals  (5 369 960)  (1 892 737)  –  (340 000)  –  (18 000)  (7 620 697)
at 28 February 2013  –  –  138 067  119 219  274 473  –  531 759 
at 1 March 2013  –  –  138 067  119 219  274 473  –  531 759 
additions  –  – –  –  71 426  –  71 426 
disposals  –  –  –  –  (16 336)  (16 336)
At 28 February 2014  –  –  138 067  119 219  329 563  –  586 849 

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment
at 1 March 2012  1 314 379  477 459  11 650  142 324  50 082  –  1 995 894 
depreciation  228 039  74 442  21 758  47 939  86 554  –  458 732 
Impairment  493 458  551 901  –  –  –  –  1 045 359 
disposals  (2 035 876)  (1 103 802)  –  (145 556)  –  –  (3 285 234)
at 28 February 2013  –  –  33 408  44 707  136 636  –  214 751 
at 1 March 2013  –  –  33 408  44 707  136 636  –  214 751 
depreciation  –  –  23 011  29 805  78 806  –  131 622 
disposals  –  –  –  –  (6 731)  –  (6 731)
at 28 February 2014  –  –  56 419  74 512  208 711  –  339 642 

Net book value
at 29 February 2012  4 055 581  1 415 278  118 217  316 895  224 391  18 000  6 148 362 
at 28 February 2013  –  –  104 659  74 512  137 837  –  317 008 
at 28 February 2014  –  –  81 648  44 707  120 852  –  247 207 

Based on the assessment done at 28 February 2014, there is no change in the useful lives of the assets above. no assets 
are held as security for the group’s borrowings.

In 2013 property, plant and equipment was impaired to write down the carrying value of buildings and plant and equipment 
on disposal of the greenhills Plant to fair value less costs of disposal. the impairment loss was recognised in other 
comprehensive income as a reduction in the revaluation reserve.

GROuP AND COMPANY

Computer
 software

 r

15 OtHer IntangIBLe aSSetS  
Cost
at 1 March 2012 –
additions  184 869 
at 1 March 2013  184 869 
additions  86 956 
At 28 February 2014  271 825 

Accumulated depreciation
at 1 March 2012 –
amortisation  (23 109)
at 1 March 2013  (23 109)
amortisation  (73 240)
At 28 February 2014  (96 349)

at 28 February 2013  161 760 
At 28 February 2014  175 476 
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16 exPLOratIOn and eVaLUatIOn aSSetS
2014 2013

GROuP
Cost

R

Accumulated
amortisation

R

Carrying
value

R
Cost

r

accumulated
amortisation

r

Carrying
value

r
exploration and evaluation 
assets 266 809 536  – 266 809 536 162 859 167 – 162 859 167

Reconciliation of exploration and 
evaluation assets

Opening
 balance

R
Additions

R
Adjustments

R
Disposals

R
Total

R
2014
Block III drC 74 366 275 – – – 74 366 275
OPL 281 nigeria 44 072 922 – – – 44 072 922
OPL 233 nigeria 43 523 230 103 563 821 – – 147 087 051
Malawi 896 740 – – – 896 740
Botswana – 386 548 – – 386 548

162 859 167 103 950 369 – – 266 809 536

2013
Block III drC 101 381 633 – – (27 015 358) 74 366 275
OPL 281 nigeria 47 712 172 – (3 639 250) – 44 072 922
OPL 233 nigeria 3 962 528 42 642 598 (3 081 896) – 43 523 230
Malawi – 896 740 – – 896 740

153 056 333 43 539 338 (6 721 146) (27 015 358) 162 859 167

2014 2013

COMPANY
Cost

R

Accumulated
amortisation

R

Carrying
value

R
Cost

r

accumulated
amortisation

r

Carrying
value

r
exploration and evaluation 
assets 896 740 – 896 740  896 740  –  896 740 

Reconciliation of exploration and evaluation assets

Opening
 balance

R
Additions

R
Total

R
2014
Malawi 896 740 – 896 740

896 740 – 896 740

2013
Malawi – 896 740 896 740

– 896 740 896 740

as at 28 February 2014 r62.6 million (2013: r7.5 million) of exploration expenditures have been capitalised in respect 
of OPL 233. these expenditures relate to the group’s share of costs under the Farm-In and Joint Operating agreements 
with respective partners, and general and administrative costs related to exploration activities. Furthermore, the group 
capitalised borrowing costs amounting to r40.9 million (2013: r35.1 million) in respect of the OPL 233 exploration and 
evaluation asset. Specific borrowings were acquired to fund the qualifying assets at an interest rate of 10% per month. 
these borrowings were subsequently equity-settled on 30 January 2014 as disclosed in note 25.

SacOil’s Botswana wholly-owned subsidiary, transfer Holdings (Proprietary) Limited, acquired three exploration licences 
(numbers 123/2013, 124/2013 and 125/2013) on 29 april 2013 for r0.4 million (2013: acquisition of Malawi Block 1 licence 
for r0.9 million).

On 12 March 2012 Semliki disposed of a 6.66% interest in Block III for a cash consideration of r76.0 million and an 
undiscounted future contingent consideration amounting to r99.4 million. at 28 February 2013 r26.8 million was recognised 
in respect of this contingent consideration. the disposal resulted in the derecognition of a portion of the exploration and 
evaluation asset with a carrying value of r27.0 million and the recognition of a profit on disposal of r71.7 million. refer to 
note 19 for details on the contingent consideration. assumptions on the time it will take to develop the asset are detailed in 
note 19. there were no disposals during the current financial year.

at 28 February 2013 adjustments to the OPL 233 and OPL 281 assets relate to promote fees. these fees will now be 
recovered from eernL and are included in the short term amounts due from eernL in other financial assets (note 19).

an overview of the group’s exploration and evaluation assets is given on pages 4 to 9 of the integrated annual report.
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17 InVeStMentS In SUBSIdIarIeS
a list of all the investments in subsidiaries, including the name, percentage interest and country of registration, is given below:

Name of company
Country of

registration

Percentage holding Carrying amount

2014
%

2013
%

2014
R

2013
r

Directly held:

SacOil (Proprietary) Limited rSa 50 50 19 818 125 19 818 125

Pioneer Coal (Proprietary) Limited rSa 100 100 318 292 318 292

Baltimore Manganese Mine (Proprietary) 
Limited rSa 100 100 1 1

rdK Mining (Proprietary) Limited rSa 100 100 24 591 370  24 591 370 

Bushveld Pioneer (Proprietary) Limited rSa 100 100 100 100

transfer Holdings (Proprietary) Limited Botswana 70 – 3 345 –

SacOil Holdings nigeria Limited nigeria 100 100 561 561

SacOil 281 nigeria Limited nigeria 100 100 561 561

SacOil 233 nigeria Limited nigeria 100 100 561 561

44 732 916 44 729 571

Indirectly held:

Semliki SPrL drC 68 68 24 591 270  24 591 270 

all entities within the group are consolidated. there are no unconsolidated structured entities.

GROuP COMPANY

2014
R

2013
r

2014
R

2013
r

18 LOanS tO grOUP COMPanIeS
Loan to Group companies

SacOil Holdings nigeria Limited1 – – 1 220 308 933 776

SacOil 233 nigeria Limited2 – – 234 803 840 114 454 749

SacOil 281 nigeria Limited2 – – 76 790 225 74 661 448

Semliki SPrL1 – – 26 973 500 22 099 499

transfer Holdings (Proprietary) Limited4 – – 423 043 –

Baltimore Manganese Mine (Proprietary) Limited3 – – 450 450

Bushveld Pioneer (Proprietary) Limited3 – – 450 450

– – 340 211 816 212 150 372

Less: Provision for impairment5 – – (4 144 831) (32 081 095)

– – 336 066 985 180 069 277

Loan from Group company

Pioneer Coal (Proprietary) Limited3 – – (318 292) (318 292)

– – 335 748 693 179 750 985

1  These loans are interest free, unsecured and have no fixed repayment terms. These loans are denominated in US Dollars.
2  The loans bear interest at 5.25% per annum (2013: 5.25%), are unsecured and have no fixed repayment terms. These loans are denominated 

in US Dollars.
3  These loans are interest free, unsecured and have no fixed repayment terms. The loans are denominated in Rands.
4  This loan is interest free, unsecured and has no fixed repayment terms. The loan is denominated in Pula.
5  The Group has raised a provision against all the management fees charged to its Nigerian subsidiaries, pending the approval by the Nigerian 

Office of Technology and Promotion (NOTAP), of the future remittance of the fees, as required by Nigerian exchange control regulations.

the loans are payable on demand. all loans are not expected to be repaid within 12 months.

the fair values of loans to and from group companies are provided in note 30. 
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GROuP COMPANY

note
2014

R
2013

r
2014

R
2013

r

19 OtHer FInanCIaL aSSetS
Non-current
Contingent consideration4 221 493 152 181 470 254 – –
deferred consideration on disposal of greenhills Plant 11 3 281 164 4 701 795 3 281 164 4 701 795
Loan due from dIg1 – 35 315 725 – 6 844 741
advance payment against future services2 62 388 430 56 716 754 62 388 430 56 716 754
Loan due from eernL3 146 181 302 93 514 667 146 181 303 93 514 667

433 344 048 371 719 195 211 850 897 161 777 957

Current
Loan due from eernL3 210 835 454 83 857 631 210 835 454 83 857 631
Loan due from dIg1 47 694 469 – 8 835 198 –
deferred consideration on disposal of greenhills Plant 11 1 890 811 945 405 1 890 811 945 405

260 420 734 84 803 036 221 561 463 84 803 036
Less: Provision for impairment (37 878 375) – (37 878 375) –

222 542 359 84 803 036 183 683 088 84 803 036
655 886 407 456 522 231 395 533 985 246 580 993

1  The loan comprises the taxes recoverable from DIG in respect of the capital gains tax payable by Semliki on the farm-out of the 6.67% interest 
in Block III in March 2012, which transaction was initiated by and solely benefited DIG. The loan is interest free, unsecured, has no fixed 
repayment terms and is denominated in US Dollars. This loan is expected to be repaid in the next 12 months and has been classified as short 
term in the current financial year. 

2  The amount due represents Encha Energy’s indebtedness to SacOil Holdings Limited under the Acknowledgement of Debt Agreement 
concluded between the two parties on 28 February 2013. As the future value of this asset is R75.5 million, the financial asset recognised 
at 28 February 2014 is R62.4 million (2013: R56.7 million), representing the present value of this future receivable. Interest amounting to 
R5.7 million (2013: a discount of R18.8 million included in note 8) arising from the unwinding of the discount applied to the future receivable 
on initial recognition has been included in investment income (note 7). 

3  The long-term loan bears interest at 25% per annum (on a compound basis) and is repayable in three equal annual instalments, the first such 
instalments becoming due 60 business days after first oil production by taking that proportion of EERNL’s entitlement to petroleum that equals 
one-third of the outstanding capital plus interest accrued. The second and third instalments will become payable on the same principle from 
EERNL’s subsequent entitlement to petroleum. The loan is secured by EERNL’s equity interests in both OPL 281 and OPL 233. 

  The short-term loan bears interest at 30% per annum (on a compound basis). As the loan was initially due on 31 May 2013, default interest 
of 2% per annum (compounded) has been charged from 1 June 2013 and will continue to accrue until the repayment of the loan. The loan 
is secured by a cession and pledge over EERNL’s shares in its subsidiary EER 233 Nigeria Limited which owns a 20% interest in OPL 233. 
The loan has not been impaired in full as the value of the security exceeds the carrying value of the loan.

4  The farm-in agreement between Semliki and Total provides for a cash payment by Total to Semliki upon the occurrence of certain future events 
(“contingent consideration”). As there is a contractual right to receive cash from Total, Semliki has recognised a financial asset in its statement 
of financial position. The asset was initially recognised at its fair value. Subsequently, the financial asset meets the definition of a loan and 
receivable, and is accounted for at amortised cost taking into account interest revenue and currency movements. At each reporting date SacOil 
revises its estimate of receipts from the financial asset in line with the requirements of IAS 39. Included in the statement of comprehensive 
income at 28 February 2014 is an impairment loss of R22.1 million (2013: R129.9 million) representing the write-down of future expected cash 
flows from the contingent consideration for the Block III farm-outs in March 2011 and March 2012. The write-down was necessitated by a 
change in timelines impacting the receipt of the contingent consideration, and is reflective of the time value of money. A deferred tax charge 
amounting to R16.0 million (2013: a credit of R32.7 million) was recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. The assumptions used 
to measure the contingent consideration are detailed below:

Probability of exploration success (single well) 26%
Probability of at least one success from two wells 45%
Probability of successful completion given exploration success 89%
Discount rate 10%
First investment decision date (“FID”) 28 February 2019
First oil date (“FOD”) 28 February 2023
Valuation date 28 February 2014
First contingent consideration

FID $42 549 000
FOD $36 680 000

Second contingent consideration
FID $4 635 000
FOD $6 660 000

Should the probability factors applied to the valuation model be increased or decreased by 10%, all other variables held constant, post-tax 
loss would have been R51.4 million (2013: R42.1 million) lower and R51.4 million (2013: R42.1) million higher, respectively. 

the fair value of other financial assets is provided in note 30.
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GROuP COMPANY
2014

R
2013

r
2014

R
2013

r

20 trade and OtHer reCeIVaBLeS
Value-added tax 508 766 3 488 394 476 583 3 488 038

Other receivables 3 465 522 4 872 660 3 464 420 4 871 559

3 974 288 8 361 054 3 941 003 8 359 597

Less: Provision for impairment (3 324 524) (4 695 905) (3 324 524) (4 695 905)

649 764 3 665 149 616 479 3 663 692

the carrying values of all trade and other receivables 
approximate their fair values. all trade and other 
receivables are denominated in South african rands.

the maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting 
date is the carrying value of each class of trade and 
other receivables mentioned above. the group does 
not hold collateral as security for receivables.

21 CaSH and CaSH eQUIVaLentS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Bank balances 273 466 636 4 677 192 273 269 901 4 488 103

Short-term deposits – 215 368 – 215 368

273 466 636 4 892 560 273 269 901 4 703 471

restricted cash 108 113 130 89 139 856 – –

381 579 766 94 032 416 273 269 901 4 703 471

restricted cash comprises the cash collateral of US$10 million (2013: $10 million) paid to ecobank to secure the performance 
bond on OPL 233. the cash is held in the bank account of SacOil’s wholly-owned subsidiary, SacOil 233 nigeria Limited. 
the remainder of the performance bond is secured by a first ranking legal charge over SacOil’s investment in SacOil 233 
nigeria Limited.
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2014
R

2013
r

22 Stated CaPItaL and reSerVeS
GROuP AND COMPANY
Stated capital
Authorised: 
number of ordinary shares with no par value 10 000 000 000 10 000 000 000

Allotted equity share capital:
reported at the beginning of the year 534 172 123 486 184 423
Issued during the year for cash1 337 273 662 –
non-cash shares issued2 238 531 269 47 987 700
as at 28 February 1 109 977 054 534 172 123

Reconciliation of number of shares issued:
reported at the beginning of the year 953 340 791 832 225 699
Issued during the year for cash1 1 249 379 326 –
non-cash shares issued2 883 449 144 121 115 092
as at 28 February 3 086 169 261 953 340 791

1  Comprises 1 246 601 549 shares issued for R336 582 418 under the Rights Offer and 2 777 777 shares issued for R691 244 under a general 
issue of shares for cash.

2 Shares issued as equity settlement of the Gairloch loans as detailed in note 25.

non-cash shares issued comprise:

date nature of transaction
Number of

shares issued
Issue price

R
Fair value

R
2014
30 January 2014 equity settlement of gairloch Limited loans1  883 449 144 0.27  238 531 269 

 883 449 144  238 531 269 

2013
23 March 2012 equity settlement of yorkville loan  29 328 257 0.43  12 628 000 
4 May 2012 equity settlement of yorkville loan  32 135 560 0.49  15 815 400 
9 July 2012 equity settlement of yorkville loan  24 578 863 0.34  8 328 300 
13 november 2012 equity settlement of yorkville loan  35 072 412 0.32  11 216 000 

 121 115 092  47 987 700 

1 Refer to note 25 for details relating to the equity settlement of the loans.

Revaluation reserve
reported at the beginning of the year  –  1 810 947 
release of revaluation reserve on impairment of property, plant and equipment  – (1 045 359)
transfer on disposal of assets  – (765 588)
at 28 February  –  – 

Share-based payment reserve
reported at the beginning of the year  26 681 469  27 932 584 
Options lapsed (20 679 622)  (1 251 115)
at 28 February  6 001 847  26 681 469 

Nature and purpose of reserves
Revaluation reserve
the revaluation reserve was used to record increases in fair value of plant and equipment and decreases relating to the 
depreciation or impairment of the fair value gain. Plant and equipment associated with this reserve was disposed of during 
the prior year resulting in the transfer of the reserve to accumulated loss.

Share-based payment reserve
the share-based payment reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled share-based payment transactions with 
employees, including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration. these transactions are disclosed in note 13.

nOteS tO tHe COnSOLIdated FInanCIaL StateMentS
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23 SUBSIdIarIeS WItH MaterIaL nOn-COntrOLLIng IntereStS
a list of the subsidiaries of the group is included in note 17. the group has three subsidiaries with material non-controlling 
interests (“nCIs”). Information regarding these subsidiaries is as follows:

name
Principal place 
of business

NCIs in subsidiary Loss allocated to NCIs Accumulated NCIs
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

SacOil (Proprietary) Limited rSa 50% 50% – –  19 818 074  19 818 074 
transfer Holdings 
(Proprietary) Limited Botswana 70% –  (11 951) –  (11 951) –
Semliki SPrL drC 32% 32% (10 067 728) (15 984 971) (7 587 647) 2 480 081

 (10 079 679)  (15 984 971)  12 218 476  22 298 155 

no dividends were paid to nCIs during the current financial year. a dividend of r24 573 794 was paid to nCIs by Semliki in 
the prior year.

Summarised financial information of the subsidiaries with material nCIs, representing 100% of the underlying subsidiaries’ 
relevant figures, is set out below:

SacOil 
(Proprietary)

 Limited
R

Transfer 
Holdings

 (Proprietary)
 Limited

R

 Semliki 
SPRL

R 
Total

R
2014
non-current assets  41 285 037  386 548  295 859 426  337 531 011 
Current assets  –  –  38 929 675  38 929 675 
total assets  41 285 037  386 548  334 789 101  376 460 686 
non-current liabilities  – (423 042) (156 855 798)  (157 278 840)
Current liabilities  –  – (136 593 804)  (136 593 804)
total liabilities  – (423 042) (293 449 602)  (293 872 644)
net assets/liabilities 41 285 037 (36 494) 41 339 499  82 588 042 
equity attributable to owners of the parent  21 466 963  (24 543) 48 927 146  70 369 566 
non-controlling interests  19 818 074  (11 951) (7 587 647)  12 218 476 

Other income/(expense)  –  (29 458)  7 567 074  7 537 616 
Other operating expenses  –  (10 381)  (22 149 316)  (22 159 697)
Investment income  –  –  20 499 497  20 499 497 
taxation  –  –  (37 378 904)  (37 378 904)
Loss after tax/total comprehensive loss  –  (39 839) (31 461 649) (31 501 488)
equity attributable to owners of the parent  –  (27 888) (21 393 921)  (21 421 809)
non-controlling interests  –  (11 951) (10 067 728)  (10 079 679)

2013
non-current assets  41 285 037  –  284 307 511  325 592 548 
Current assets  –  –  58 510  58 510 
total assets  41 285 037  –  284 366 021  325 651 058 
non-current liabilities  –  – (135 972 638)  (135 972 638)
Current liabilities  –  – (75 592 235)  (75 592 235)
total liabilities  –  – (211 564 873)  (211 564 873)
net assets  41 285 037  – 72 801 148  114 086 185 
equity attributable to owners of the parent  21 466 963  – 70 321 067  91 788 030 
non-controlling interests  19 818 074  – 2 480 081  22 298 155 

Other income  –  –  87 537 316  87 537 316 
Investment income  –  –  8 510 118  8 510 118 
Other operating costs  –  –  (130 320 152)  (130 320 152)
taxation  –  –  (32 628 727)  (32 628 727)
Loss after tax/total comprehensive loss  –  – (66 901 445) (66 901 445)
equity attributable to owners of the parent  –  – (50 916 474)  (50 916 474)
non-controlling interests  –  – (15 984 971)  (15 984 971)

no cash flow information has been presented as cash flows relating to the above subsidiaries with nCIs are immaterial to 
the group and Company.

Other than the restriction noted in note 18, there are no significant restrictions on the group’s ability to access or use assets 
and settle liabilities.
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GROuP COMPANY

2014
R

2013
r

2014
R

2013
r

24 deFerred tax
Deferred tax liability

Contingent consideration relating to the sale of 
exploration and evaluation assets (88 597 261) (72 588 101) – –

Foreign exchange revaluation of transactions with 
connected parties (12 596 919)  – – –

Impairment provision  9 755 740  – – –

Other (1 059 954)  – – –

(92 498 394) (72 588 101) – –

the gross movement on the deferred income tax 
account is as follows:

reported at the beginning of the year (72 588 101) (105 304 059) – –

Contingent consideration relating to the sale of 
exploration and evaluation assets (16 009 160) – – –

Foreign exchange revaluation of transactions with 
connected parties (12 596 919) – – –

Impairment provision 9 755 740 – – –

Other (1 059 954) 32 715 958 – –

at 28 February (92 498 394) (72 588 101) – –

unrecognised deferred tax asset

Unused tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets – 6 518 041 – 6 518 041

25 OtHer FInanCIaL LIaBILItIeS
gairloch Limited1 – 128 978 015 – 128 978 015

eernL2 53 947 000 44 199 000 – –

nigdel United Oil Company Limited3 20 220 311 2 397 812 20 220 311 2 397 812

74 167 311 175 574 827 20 220 311 131 375 827

1  On 30 January 2014 SacOil equity-settled all three loans owed to Gairloch Limited totalling R238 531 269 through the issue of 
883 449 144 shares at an issue price of 27 cents (notes 13 and 22). The loans had incurred interest at 8% and 10% per month and were 
unsecured. The loans were denominated in US Dollars.

2  The EERNL liability relates to EERNL’s 50% share of the R108.1 million (2013: R89.1 million) (US$10 million) cash collateral, exclusive of 
interest, held in the bank account of SacOil’s wholly-owned subsidiary, SacOil 233 Nigeria Limited, as disclosed in note 21. There are no 
repayment terms for this liability as the cash collateral will be utilised to fund the work programme on OPL 233.

3  Amounts payable to Nigdel United Oil Company Limited comprise the Group’s share of costs related to exploration activities for OPL 233. 
All amounts are due within 15 days under the terms of the Joint Operating Agreement.

the carrying values of other financial liabilities approximate their fair values.

nOteS tO tHe COnSOLIdated FInanCIaL StateMentS
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GROuP COMPANY

2014
R

2013
r

2014
R

2013
r

26 trade and OtHer PayaBLeS
trade payables 3 330 540 4 397 613 3 330 540 4 397 613

accruals 9 702 557 2 722 655 9 675 584 2 722 655

Other payables 21 880 4 860 207 21 929 4 860 256

13 054 977 11 980 475 13 028 053 11 980 524

the carrying values of trade and other payables approximate their fair values.

GROuP

2014
R

2013
r

27 earnIngS/(LOSS) Per SHare
From continuing and discontinued operations

Basic (cents)  1.37  (6.10)

diluted (cents)  1.36  (6.09)

From discontinued operation

Basic (cents)  –  (0.17)

diluted (cents)  –  (0.17)

From continuing operations

Basic (cents)  1.37  (5.93)

diluted (cents)  1.36  (5.93)

Profit/(loss) for the year used in the calculation of the basic and diluted 
earnings/(loss) per share from continuing and discontinued operations 19 594 296 (55 627 404)

Loss from discontinued operation – 1 526 959

Profit/(loss) used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per 
share from continuing operations 19 594 296 (54 100 445)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic 
earnings/(loss) per share  1 435 074 830  912 157 573 

Issued shares at the beginning of the reporting period  953 340 791  832 225 699 

effect of shares issued during the reporting period (weighted)  481 734 039  79 931 874 

add: dilutive share options  1 618 673  540 006 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted 
earnings/(loss) per share  1 436 693 503  912 697 579 

Headline earnings/(loss) per share

Basic (cents)  1.37  (8.10)

diluted (cents)  1.36  (8.10)

Reconciliation of headline earnings/(loss)

Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing and discontinued operations 19 594 296 (55 627 404)

Adjust for:

Profit on sale of exploration and evaluation assets attributable to equity holders 
of the parent  – (18 290 947)

Headline earnings/(loss) 19 594 296 (73 918 351)
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GROuP COMPANY

notes
2014

R
2013

r
2014

R
2013

r

28 CaSH USed In OPeratIOnS
Profit/(loss) before taxation 64 727 273 (30 827 065) 96 793 225 47 444 685

Adjustments for:

depreciation 6 204 862 481 841 204 862 481 841

Profit on sale of exploration and evaluation assets – (71 693 375)  –  – 

Management fees received 29 –  – (1 813 111)  (32 081 095)

Provision for impairment 36 506 994  4 695 905 8 570 730  36 777 000 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 9 605 – 9 605  – 

Foreign exchange gains (50 568 785)  (32 619 907) (73 406 169)  (30 001 888)

Impairment of financial assets 6 22 149 316 129 912 403  31 758 111  – 

dividends received 7 –  –  – (24 573 794)

Interest received 7 (130 555 693) (46 940 839) (119 441 936) (44 443 103)

Finance costs 8 12 931 875 23 837 213 12 931 875 23 837 213

Bad debts 1 497 034  1 092 344 1 497 034  684 595 

Other non-cash items – (9 101 278)  –  (9 101 278)

Movements in provisions 8 985 814 (1 065 972) 8 985 814 (1 065 972)

Changes in working capital:

decrease in inventories – 2 540 131  – 2 540 132

decrease in trade and other receivables 2 889 732 4 994 415 2 921 560 4 977 290

(decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (7 911 312) 2 161 (7 938 284) (316 130)

(39 133 285) (24 692 023) (38 926 684) (24 840 504)

nOteS tO tHe COnSOLIdated FInanCIaL StateMentS
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29 reLated PartIeS
related parties of the group include entities detailed in note 17 and key management. Key management include directors 
(executive and non-executive) and members of the executive Committee.

the following transactions were carried out with related parties:

GROuP COMPANY

notes
2014

R
2013

r
2014

R
2013

r

(a) Transactions with Group companies

Management fees – – 1 813 111 32 081 095

SacOil 233 nigeria Limited – – 1 650 264 17 365 882

SacOil 281 nigeria Limited – – 162 847 14 715 213

Interest income – – 10 258 051 6 754 619

SacOil 233 nigeria Limited – – 6 637 961 3 569 200

SacOil 281 nigeria Limited – – 3 620 090 3 185 419

– – 12 071 162 38 835 714

Management fees consist of payroll costs incurred 
in running the financial or operating activities of 
the subsidiaries plus a mark-up of 10%. Other 
terms for loans advanced to subsidiaries are 
given in note 18.

(b) Key management compensation

non-executive directors:

Fees 1 644 216 1 336 419 1 644 216 1 336 419

executive directors:

Salaries 3 087 500 3 675 000 3 087 500 3 675 000

details of executive directors’ remuneration are 
given on page 30 of the integrated annual report.

Other key management:

Salaries  5 710 833  5 057 500  5 710 833  5 057 500 

Key management’s interests in the issued share 
capital of the Company are detailed on page 44 of 
the integrated annual report.

(c) Year-end balances

Loans receivable from subsidiaries 18 – – 336 066 985 180 069 277

Loans payable to subsidiaries 18 – – (318 292) (318 292)
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Carrying value Fair value

2014
R

2013
r

2014
R

2013
r

30 FInanCIaL InStrUMentS By CategOry
GROuP

Loans and receivables

Other financial assets 655 886 407 456 522 231 589 512 367*  456 522 231 

trade and other receivables 140 998 176 755 140 998  176 755 

Cash and cash equivalents 381 579 766 94 032 416 381 579 766  94 032 416 

Total 1 037 607 171 550 731 402 971 233 131  550 731 402 

Loans and borrowings

Other financial liabilities 74 167 311 175 574 827 74 167 311  175 574 827 

trade and other payables 13 054 977 7 120 268 13 054 977  7 120 268 

Total 87 222 288 182 695 095 87 222 288 182 695 095

COMPANY

Loans and receivables

Loans to group companies 336 066 985 180 069 277 314 129 237*  180 069 277 

trade and other receivables 139 896 175 654 139 896  175 654 

Other financial assets 395 533 985 246 580 993 388 738 323  246 580 993 

Cash and cash equivalents 273 269 901 4 703 471 273 269 901  4 703 471 

Total 1 005 010 767 431 529 395 976 277 357 431 529 395

Loans and borrowings

Loan from group company 318 292  318 292 318 292  318 292 

Other financial liabilities 20 220 311 131 375 827 20 220 311  131 375 827 

trade and other payables 13 028 053 7 120 268 13 028 053  7 120 268 

Total 33 566 656 138 814 387 33 566 656 138 814 387

*  In terms of SacOil’s accounting policies and IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement these financial instruments 
are carried at amortised cost and not at fair value, given that SacOil intends to collect the cash flows from these instruments when they 
fall due over the life of the instrument. Changes in market discount rates which affect fair value, would therefore not impact the valuation 
of these financial instruments and are not considered to be objective evidence of impairment for items carried at amortised cost per 
IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement as this does not impact the timing or amount of expected future cash flows.

the fair values of trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other financial liabilities and trade and other 
payables approximate carrying values due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. Other financial assets and 
loans to group companies are evaluated by the group at measurement date based on inputs such as interest rates, country-
specific factors and creditworthiness of debtors.

nOteS tO tHe COnSOLIdated FInanCIaL StateMentS
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30 FInanCIaL InStrUMentS By CategOry (continued)

Valuation techniques and assumptions applied to measure fair values

Financial instrument

Fair value at 28 February 2014

Valuation technique Significant inputs
GROuP

R
COMPANY

R

Cash and cash equivalents, 
trade and other receivables, 
other financial liabilities and 
trade and other payables

294 498 476 240 161 433 Undiscounted future cash flows due 
to the short-term maturities of these 
instruments

Creditworthiness 
of parties

Loan from group company – (318 292) Undiscounted future cash flows due 
to the short-term maturities of these 
instruments

non-performance 
risk

Other financial assets 589 512 367 388 738 323 discounted cash flow model Weighted average 
cost of capital

Loans to group companies – 314 129 237 discounted cash flow model Weighted average 
cost of capital

the group’s own non-performance risk as at 28 February 2014 was assessed to be insignificant.

Fair value hierarchy
the following table presents the group’s assets not measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, but for 
which the fair value is disclosed above. the different levels have been defined as follows:

Level 1 –  Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 –  Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, 
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 –  techniques which use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on 
observable market data

Level 1
R 

Level 2
R

Level 3
R

Total
R

GROuP

Other financial assets – –  589 512 367  589 512 367 

COMPANY

Other financial assets – –  388 738 323  388 738 323 

Loans to group companies – –  314 129 237  314 129 237 

there were no transfers between levels during the year.
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nOteS tO tHe COnSOLIdated FInanCIaL StateMentS
for the year ended 28 February 2014 (continued)

31 FInanCIaL rISK ManageMent
31.1 Financial risk factors

the group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest 
rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. the group’s overall risk management programme 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the group’s 
financial performance.

(a) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices.

(i) Foreign exchange risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. the group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign 
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar. Foreign 
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities. the group’s 
foreign currency exposures are managed by group Finance. Management is looking into the implementation 
of foreign currency hedging to manage foreign currency exposures within the group.

at 28 February 2014, if the rand had weakened or strengthened by 11% against the US dollar, with all other 
variables held constant, group post-tax profit for the year would have been r68.2 million higher (2013: group 
post-tax loss would have been r30.0 million lower) and r68.2 million lower (2013: group post-tax loss would 
have been r30.0 million higher), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of US dollar 
denominated financial assets (note 19), restricted cash (note 21) and other financial liabilities (note 25).

at 28 February 2014, if the rand had weakened or strengthened by 11% against the US dollar, with all 
other variables held constant, Company post-tax profit for the year would have been r70.6 million 
(2013:  r28.4  million) higher and r70.6 million (2013: r28.4 million) lower, mainly as a result of foreign 
exchange gains and losses on the translation of US dollar denominated financial assets (note 19), US dollar 
denominated loans to group companies (note 18) and other financial liabilities (note 25).

Included in the statement of financial position are the following amounts denominated in currencies other 
than the rand:

(US dollars) 2014 2013
GROuP
Financial assets  694 491 719  447 982 409 
Financial liabilities  (74 167 311)  (175 574 827)

COMPANY
Financial assets  661 686 639  389 521 771 
Financial liabilities  (20 220 311)  (131 375 827)

Variations in exchange rates for the Pula or British Pound have a minimal effect on the financial results of the 
group and Company.

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. the group’s interest rate risk arises from short-term borrowings 
and cash and cash equivalents. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the group to cash flow interest 
rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the group to fair value interest rate risk. the group’s 
policy is to source all borrowings at fixed interest rates, thereby eliminating cash flow interest rate risk. the 
group analyses its interest rate exposure on an ongoing basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into 
consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions and alternative financing. the scenarios are run only 
for liabilities that represent the major interest-bearing positions. Variations in interest rates have a minimal 
impact on the group’s cash and cash equivalents.

at 28 February 2014 the impact of interest rate fluctuations on the financial instruments of the group 
and Company would have been immaterial to the group and Company profit for the year. the group and 
Company settled all interest-bearing borrowings prior to the year-end. Furthermore, the impact of interest 
rate fluctuations on the group’s cash and cash equivalents would have been minimal. at 28 February 2013, 
if interest rates had strengthened or weakened by 10%, group post-tax loss would have been r1.5 million 
higher and r1.5 million lower, and Company post-tax profit would have been r1.5 million lower/higher mainly 
as a result of the group’s short-term borrowings included under other financial liabilities (note 25).

(iii) Price risk
the group has no financial instruments exposed to price risk.
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31 FInanCIaL rISK ManageMent (continued)

31.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the group. Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, 
including deposits with banks and financial institutions, the contingent and deferred consideration and loans 
to operating partners. For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with high credit 
ratings are accepted. the group obtains security for all loans advanced to operating partners. the group 
trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties to minimise the risk of default on the contingent and 
deferred considerations.

the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 28 February 2014 is the carrying value of each group of financial 
assets outlined in the paragraph above.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Cash flow 
forecasting is performed for the operating entities of the group and aggregated by group finance. group 
finance monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet 
operational needs.

the table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period from the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. the amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows.

GROuP 
< 1 year

R

At 28 February 2014

Short-term borrowings (note 25) 74 167 311

trade and other payables (note 26) 13 054 977

Total 87 222 288

At 28 February 2013

Short-term borrowings 203 195 102

trade and other payables 7 120 268

Total 210 315 370

COMPANY

At 28 February 2014

Short-term borrowings (note 25) 20 220 311

Loan from group company (note 18) 318 292

trade and other payables (note 26) 13 028 053

Total 33 566 656

At 28 February 2013

Short-term borrowings 158 996 103

Loan from group company (note 18) 318 292

trade payables 7 120 268

Total 166 434 663
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nOteS tO tHe COnSOLIdated FInanCIaL StateMentS
for the year ended 28 February 2014 (continued)

31 FInanCIaL rISK ManageMent (continued)

31.2 Capital management

the group manages its capital to ensure that it remains sufficiently funded to support its business strategy and 
maximise shareholder value. the group’s funding needs are met through a combination of debt and equity.

the capital structure of the group consists of net debt, which includes financial liabilities after deducting cash and 
cash equivalents, and equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company, comprising issued share capital, 
reserves and accumulated losses as disclosed in the statement of changes in equity.

the group monitors capital on the basis of the net debt ratio, that is, the ratio of net debt to net debt plus equity. 
at 28 February 2014 the group was in a net cash position of r307.4 million, following the rights Offer and the equity 
settlement of debt in January 2014. as such no gearing ratio has been calculated at 28 February 2014. the net debt 
ratio at 28 February 2013 was as follows:

2014
R

2013
r

Short- and long-term financial liabilities (note 25) 74 167 311 175 574 827

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 21) (381 579 766) (94 032 416)

net (cash)/debt (307 412 455) 81 542 411

total equity 363 451 673

total capital 444 994 084

gearing ratio 18%
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32 gOIng COnCern
the planned recapitalisation of the Company, as previously announced to shareholders, was completed in January 2014. 
the  Company converted all the gairloch loans into equity and is now debt free. Furthermore, the Company raised 
r336.6 million from the r570 million rights Offer, which will enable the group to fund its operations for the foreseeable 
future. although the above transactions were a success, a deficit of r90 million remains in the group’s projected cash flows 
to June 2015, which is indicative of part of the shortfall from the rights Offer. to manage the group’s non-performance risk 
in funding its assets and commitments, management will engage various financial institutions regards the raising of equity 
and debt funding to eliminate and/or manage the deficit and to raise funds for operating activities beyond June 2015. the 
likelihood of success of this initiative remains uncertain at this stage.

the cash flow projections to June 2015 also include cash inflows from eernL totalling r189.8 million (US$17.9 million). 
as noted in note 19, the loan owed to SacOil remains overdue since 31 May 2013. eernL has requested a further extension 
of the loan to July 2014, whilst it undergoes its own recapitalisation, which will enable it to settle in full the amounts owed 
to SacOil. It is difficult to determine with certainty the outcome of the planned recapitalisation and, consequently, the 
settlement of the loan owed to SacOil. the Board continues to assess the benefit of enforcing the security provided by 
eernL, being eernL’s shares in its subsidiary, eer 233 nigeria Limited, which owns a 20% interest in OPL 233.

the above conditions give rise to material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern and, therefore, that it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 
normal	course	of	business.	The	Board	remains	reasonably	confident	that	it	will	manage	the	material	uncertainties	that	exist;	
as such, the financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. this 
basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of 
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

33 eVentS aFter tHe rePOrtIng PerIOd
the following event took place from the period 1 March 2014 to the date of this report:

On 31 March 2014 the Company, the Public Investment Corporation (SOC) Limited (“PIC”) and the Instituto de gestão 
das Participações do estado (“IgePe”) entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (“MoU”) intended to regulate the 
relationship between the parties with regard to:

•  assuring the supply of natural gas and energy security, and opening up and growing the industrial and domestic 
consumer	market	for	natural	gas	across	Mozambique;

•	 	establishing	 joint	 venture	 companies	 to,	 inter	 alia,	 build	 an	 onshore	 natural	 gas	 central	 processing	 facility,	 a	
pipeline to link the gas fields in Mozambique with potential customers in southern africa (referred to as the 
“african renaissance Project” or “arP”) and to develop and grow the natural gas consumer market in South africa 
and other Southern african development Community member states for the supply and distribution of natural gas 
along	the	pipeline	in	Mozambique	(referred	to	as	“Gas	for	the	People	Project”	or	“GPP”);	and

•  establishing ancillary projects such as, but not limited to, a gas-to-liquid plant and a combined cycle gas power plant.

Importantly, both the arP and gPP are long-term projects, and are subject to, amongst other matters, feasibility studies, 
front-end engineering design, detail engineering, market analysis, social impact studies, the conclusion of joint venture 
agreements by 30 July 2014 or such later date as agreed to in writing by the parties, and the raising of the funding required 
for the projects. the feasibility studies are subject to the approval of the boards of directors of each of the PIC and SacOil 
and satisfaction of any other applicable approval processes of these parties.

On 10 March 2014, transfer Holdings (Proprietary) Limited became a wholly owned subsidiary of SacOil following the 
acquisition of a further thirty percent (30%) interest.

On 2 May 2014 transnational Corporation of nigeria PLC (“transcorp”) and the nigerian national Petroleum Corporation 
signed the Production-sharing Contract for OPL 281. transcorp, as operator of OPL 281, will now proceed to prepare and 
lodge an application to seek the approval of the nigerian government for transcorp to assign a 20% participating interest 
to SacOil’s wholly-owned subsidiary, SacOil 281 nigeria Limited.
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nOteS tO tHe COnSOLIdated FInanCIaL StateMentS
for the year ended 28 February 2014 (continued)

GROuP

2014
R

2013
r

34 COMMItMentS and COntIngent LIaBILItIeS
Commitments

exploration and evaluation assets – work programme commitments – due within 
12 months 130 425 256  221 242 262 

exploration and evaluation assets – work programme commitments – due within 13 to 
48 months 642 206 667  243 379 394 

772 631 923  464 621 656 

exploration and evaluation commitments will be funded through a combination of cash, 
debt and equity funding.

Contingent liabilities

Performance bond on OPL 233 issued by ecobank in respect of OPL 233 exploration 
activities  161 841 000  132 597 000 

Cost carry arrangement with total  36 508 805  20 411 689 

Farm-in and transaction fees on receipt of title to OPL 233  141 341 140  115 801 380 

Farm-in and transaction fees on receipt of title to OPL 281  156 446 300  128 177 100 

total  496 137 245  396 987 169 

Performance bond
In april 2012 the group posted a $25 million performance bond to support the work programme on OPL 233. this 
performance bond is secured by a r108.1 million (2013: r89.1 million) ($10 million) cash collateral as disclosed in note 21. 
the remainder of the performance bond, disclosed as a contingent liability, is secured by a first ranking legal charge over 
SacOil’s investment in SacOil 233 nigeria Limited.

Cost carry arrangement
the farm-in agreement between Semliki and total provides for a carry of costs by total on behalf of Semliki. total will 
be entitled to recover these costs, being Semliki’s share of the production costs on Block III, plus interest, from future 
oil revenues. the contingency becomes probable when production of oil commences and will be raised in full at that 
point. at 28 February 2014 total has incurred r36.5 million (2013: r20.4 million) of costs on behalf of Semliki. Should this 
liability be recognised, a corresponding increase in assets will be recognised, which, together with existing exploration and 
evaluation assets, will be recognised as development infrastructure assets.

Farm-in and transaction fees
OPL 233
a farm-in fee of r114.3 million (2013: r93.7 million) (US$10.6 million) is due to nigdel United Oil Company Limited upon 
formal approval by the nigerian government of the assignment of title to OPL 233 to SacOil 233 nigeria Limited. a transaction 
fee of r27.0 million (2013: r22.1 million) (US$2.5 million) is due to eernL upon the receipt of title to OPL 233, pursuant to 
the provisions of the Master Joint Venture agreement.

OPL 281
a farm-in fee of r129.4 million (2013: r106.1 million) (US$12 million) is due to transnational Corporation of nigeria Limited 
upon formal approval by the nigerian government of the assignment of title to OPL 281 to SacOil 281 nigeria Limited. 
a transaction fee of r27.0 million (2013: r22.1 million) (US$2.5 million) is due to eernL upon the receipt of title to OPL 233, 
pursuant to the provisions of the Master Joint Venture agreement.
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Company: SacOil Holdings Limited 

Register date: 28 February 2014

Issued share capital: 3 086 169 261

number of
shareholdings %

number of
shares %

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

1 – 1 000 shares 572 19.77 234 144 0.01

1 001 – 10 000 shares 819 28.30 4 212 555 0.14

10 001 – 100 000 shares 1 049 36.25 41 199 635 1.33

100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 375 12.96 124 119 252 4.02

1 000 001 – 10 000 000 shares 62 2.14 186 954 939 6.06

10 000 001 shares and over 17 0.58 2 729 448 736 88.44

Total  2 894  100.00  3 086 169 261  100.00 

DISTRIBuTION OF SHAREHOLDERS

Banks/brokers 25 0.86 970 097 930 31.43

Close corporations 43 1.49 59 699 371 1.93

Individuals 2 634 91.02 334 423 496 10.84

Insurance company 2 0.07 68 163 097 2.21

Investment companies 2 0.07 18 175 000 0.59

Mutual funds 1 0.03 705 760 0.02

nominees and trusts 88 3.04 31 129 635 1.01

Other corporations 28 0.97 3 250 721 0.11

Private companies 61 2.11 169 579 061 5.49

Public companies 7 0.24 49 941 284 1.62

retirement funds 1 0.03 1 377 909 606 44.65

endowment funds 2 0.07 3 094 300 0.10

Total 2 894 100.00 3 086 169 261 100.00

PuBLIC/NON-PuBLIC SHAREHOLDERS

Non-public shareholders 21 0.73  2 463 584 200  79.83 

directors 3 0.11 888 003 0.03

associates of the Company holdings 11 0.38 80 962 469 2.62

Strategic holdings 7 0.24 2 381 733 728 77.18

Public shareholders 2 873 99.27 622 585 061 20.17

Total 2 894 100.00 3 086 169 261 100.00

Beneficial shareholders holding 5% or more

government employees Pension Fund 1 377 909 606  44.65 

Westglamry Limited 641 840 797  20.80 

newdel Holdings Limited 241 608 347  7.83 

encha & associates 189 718 075  6.15 

Total  2 451 076 825  79.43 

SHareHOLder InFOrMatIOn
for the year ended 28 February 2014
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aMended SHare OPtIOn SCHeMe 
annexUre x

1 deFInItIOnS
In this Scheme, unless the context indicates otherwise, 
the words and expressions set out below shall have the 
meanings assigned to them and cognate expressions shall 
have a corresponding meaning, namely:

1.1  Act: the	Companies	Act,	as	amended;

1.2  Board: the Board of directors of the Company from 
time	to	time;

1.3  Auditors: the auditors of the Company from time to 
time;

1.4  Capitalisation Issue: the issue of shares on a 
capitalisation of the Company’s profits and/or reserves, 
including its share premium account and/or capital 
redemption	reserve	fund;

1.5  Company: SacOil Holdings Limited, registration 
number: 1993/000460/06, a public company with 
limited	liability	and	listed	on	the	JSE;

1.6  Convertible Securities: convertible securities: as 
defined	in	the	Listings	Requirements;

1.7  Date of Appointment: the relevant date of appointment 
of new employees or non-executive directors, as the 
case	may	be;

1.8  Date of Approval: the relevant date of approval of a 
grant of an Option to a Participant by a resolution of the 
directors;

1.9  Date of Grant: the relevant date of grant of an Option 
to	a	Participant	in	accordance	with	this	Scheme;

1.10  Directors: the directors of the Company from time to 
time including non-executive directors but excluding 
Independent	Non-executive	directors;

1.11  Employees: a person in the permanent employment 
of the Company, including executive directors and 
executive	management	in	a	consulting	capacity;

1.12  JSE: the JSe Limited, registration number: 
2005/022939/06), a public company with limited 
liability, which owns and operates the securities 
exchange licensed under the Securities Services act, 
as	amended;

1.13  Listings Requirements: the Listings requirements of 
the	JSE;	

1.14  Option: an option granted to each of the Participants 
pursuant	to	the	Scheme;

1.15  Participants: employees and directors of the 
Company for the time being who are nominated by 
the remuneration Committee of the Board to be 
Participants;

1.16  Remuneration Committee: the appointed remuneration 
Committee	of	the	Board	from	time	to	time;

1.17  Rights Offer: any offer for subscription, with a right to 
renounce in favour of other persons, of any shares to all 
holders of equity shares pro rata to their shareholdings 
in	the	Company	as	at	the	date	of	such	offer;

1.18  Scheme: the share option scheme contained in this 
document;

1.19  Shares: ordinary no par value shares in the stated 
share capital of the Company. the voting, dividend, 
transfer and other rights, including those arising on a 
liquidation of the issuer, attaching to the shares and 
to any options rank pari passu with all the remaining 
ordinary no par value shares in the stated share capital 
of	the	Company;	[Schedule	14.1(e)];	and

1.20  Strike Price: the strike price in 5.1.6 and 5.1.7 of the 
Scheme.

2 PUrPOSe
2.1 the Scheme is intended:

	 •	 	as	 an	 incentive	 to	 the	 Participants	 to	 identify	
themselves more closely with the activities of the 
Company and to promote its continued growth 
by giving them the opportunity of acquiring shares 
through the grant of options and is not intended to be 
utilised	for	trading	purposes;

	 •	 	as	an	incentive	to	attract	and	recruit	suitable	directors	
with the necessary skills and experience to add value 
to	the	Company;	and

	 •	 	as	an	incentive	to	each	of	the	employees,	to	render	
ongoing services to the Company.

  the terms and conditions attaching to options provided 
for in this Scheme have been agreed to and are recorded 
in this document. 

3 eLIgIBILIty 
[Schedule	14.1(a)]

3.1  the terms and conditions of the Scheme shall only apply 
to the Participants.

3.2  to qualify for options to be granted in terms of this 
Scheme, a Participant must be either an employee or 
a non-executive director of the Company. Options 
are granted at the sole discretion of the remuneration 
Committee of the Board after taking into consideration:

	 •	 	performance;	

	 •	 	value	added	services;	

	 •	 	commitment;	

	 •	 	diligence	and	performing	at	 levels	going	above	and	
beyond	the	call	of	duty;	and	

	 •	 	the	 need	 to	 incentivise	 suitable	 candidates	 to	
accept appointments to the Board as non-executive 
directors.	[Schedule	14.1f]
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3.3  Participants shall be eligible to and shall participate in 
the Scheme only if and to the extent that options are 
granted to them in terms of this Scheme.

4 generaL COndItIOnS
4.1  no options granted to any Participant in terms of the 

Scheme shall exceed a number of shares, which, 
together with any shares granted in terms of the Scheme, 
would	exceed 124	833	855	shares.	[Schedule	14.1(b)]

4.2  the maximum aggregate number of shares which may 
be issued or transferred to any one Participant and 
accordingly in respect of which options may be granted 
to any one Participant in terms of this Scheme shall be 
limited	to	41	611	285	shares.	[Schedule	14.1(c)]

4.3  the maximum aggregate number of shares which may be 
issued or transferred to any one non-executive director 
shall be limited to a maximum of 41 611 285 shares.

4.4  Cumulatively, all Shares forming the subject matter of 
any share option scheme or share incentive scheme of 
the Company, including this Scheme, shall not exceed 
124 833 855 shares.

5 OPtIOnS
5.1  terms and conditions attaching to the options granted in 

terms of this Scheme

	 •	 	Each	Option	referred	to	in	5.1.3:

 5.1.1  shall be subject to the provisions of this 
Scheme;

 5.1.2  shall be personal to the grantee to whom it 
is addressed, and may only be accepted by 
him/her and may not be ceded or otherwise 
assigned	by	him/her;

 5.1.3  shall be an option to purchase the number 
of shares specified by the directors at the 
strike	price,	payable	in	terms	of	the	Scheme;	
[Schedule 14.1(d(i))]

 5.1.4  shall be exercised by notice in writing delivered 
to	the	Company	Secretary;	and

 5.1.5  may be exercised in part (but only for 100 
shares or multiples thereof) or in full.

	 •	 	An	option	shall	constitute	the	whole	contract	between	
the Company and a grantee and the Company shall, 
prior to their allotment and issue, apply for a listing 
on the JSe of all shares forming the subject matter of 
such option.

	 •	 	Each	 of	 the	 Participants	 shall	 have	 the	 irrevocable	
right and option to accept options granted in terms 
of this Scheme at a strike price consisting of:

 5.1.6  at the date of appointment, the 15-day volume 

weighted average price per share on the JSe 

as	at	the	date	of	appointment;	and

 5.1.7  thereafter, for any subsequent options granted 

in terms of this Scheme, the 15-day volume 

weighted average price per share on the JSe 

as	at	the	grant	date.	[Schedule	14.1(d)(ii)]

	 •	 	Options	are	exercisable	as	follows:

 5.1.8  on or after the first anniversary of the date of 

appointment or subsequent date of grant (as 

to	one-third);

 5.1.9  on or after the second anniversary of the 

date of appointment or the subsequent date 

of	Grant	 (as	 to	one-third);	subject	 to	each	of	

the relevant Participants, as the case may be, 

still remaining as Participants of the Company 

respectively;	and

 5.1.10  on or after the third anniversary of the date 

of appointment or the subsequent date of 

grant (as to one-third), subject to each of the 

relevant Participants, as the case may be, still 

remaining as Participants of the Company 

respectively.

5.2  termination of employment or relationship with the 

Company	[Schedule	14.1(h)]

	 •	 	if	any	Participant	who	is	an	employee	ceases	to	be	

an employee, or in the case of any Participant who is 

a non-executive director of the Company, the non-

executive director’s appointment is terminated, for 

any reason not approved by the directors from time 

to time (including without being limited to summary 

dismissal, proven dishonesty, fraudulent or grossly 

negligent conduct), then all of the options that may 

become exercisable on or after the date of termination 

will lapse immediately on the date of termination and 

may not be exercised by the Participant thereafter.

	 •	 	if	any	Participant	who	is	an	employee	ceases	to	be	

an employee, or in the case of any Participant who is 

a non-executive director of the Company, the non-

executive director’s appointment is terminated, as a 

result of his death, the executors or administrators 

of his estate or his heirs shall be entitled to exercise 

all of the Participant’s share options within a period 

of 2 (two) years from the date of the death of the 

Participant. a share option shall lapse upon the 

sequestration, whether provisionally or finally, of a 

Participant’s estate or upon the voluntary surrender 

by any Participant of his estate.

	 •	 	if	any	Participant	who	is	an	employee	ceases	to	be	
an employee, or in the case of any Participant who 
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is a non-executive director of the Company, the 
non-executive director’s appointment is terminated, 
as a result of his retirement, permanent disability or 
permanent incapacity, the Participant shall have a 
period of 2 (two) years in which to exercise all or any 
multiple of 100 (one hundred) of his share options.

	 •	 	if	any	Participant	who	is	an	employee	who	leaves	the	
employment of the Company, or in the case of any 
Participant who is a director, resigns as a director, then 
all of the options that may become exercisable on or 
after the date of termination will lapse immediately on 
the date of termination and all of the options must be 
exercised by the Participant within 30 calendar days 
after the date of termination.

	 •	 	all	 or	 any	 of	 the	 options	 granted	 in	 terms	 of	 this	
Scheme may be exercised immediately by any 
Participant if at any time whilst any option remains 
unexercised, there is a “change in control” in the 
Company (within the meaning of the Companies act), 
as amended or substituted from time to time, and 
causing the termination of the Participant’s position 
as	employee	or	director.	[Schedule	14.1(g)]

5.3  registration and release of shares pursuant to the 
exercise of an option

  Within 30 days after the exercise of an option, whether 
in part (in which case only in multiples of 100 shares) 
or in full, and on payment of the strike price, the 
directors shall allot and issue shares represented by the 
exercised options on the terms and conditions detailed 
in 5.1, provided that except where the directors in their 
absolute discretion decide otherwise, a grantee shall not 
be entitled to exercise part or the whole or his/her option 
except on a cumulative basis, to an extent exceeding the 
limits	in	5.1.5.	[14.1(d)(iii)]

5.4  Subdivision or consolidation of shares in issue 
[Schedule 14.3a]

  In the event of a subdivision or consolidation of the 
number of shares in issue, the number of shares in 
respect of which an option is held by each Participant 
at the date of such subdivision or consolidation will 
automatically be adjusted with effect from the date of 
appointment or subsequent date of grant of the option 
so held, by a number of shares equal to the number of 
shares which would have accrued to each Participant 
in terms of such subdivision or consolidation issue in 
respect of the shares.

5.5  Issue of securities for an acquisition, issue of securities 
for cash and issue of securities for a vendor consideration 
[Schedule	14.3c]	

  the issue of securities for an acquisition, the issue of 
securities for cash and the issue of securities for a vendor 

consideration will not be regarded as a circumstance 
requiring adjustment to a Participant’s entitlement to 
share options in terms of this Scheme.

5.6 expiry

  If, on the expiry of 10 years after the date of appointment 
or the subsequent date of grant of any option to a 
Participant, such Participant has not exercised his/
her options in full, then the directors shall be obliged 
and authorised to call upon him/her in writing to do 
so within 30 days after the date of such request, and 
if such Participant fails to comply with such request, or 
exercises his/her option in respect of only 100 shares or 
any multiple thereof, that part of the relevant option not 
exercised will automatically lapse.

6 dISPUteS
any dispute arising under the Scheme shall be referred to the 
senior partner of the auditors of the Company or his nominee, 
who shall act in accordance with the arbitration act, 1965, 
and whose decision shall be final and binding. 

7 aMendMent OF SCHeMe 
[Schedule	14.2]
the directors may, from time to time, subject to the 
approval of the JSe or any other recognised exchange 
on which the shares may be listed at the relevant time, by 
resolution, amend all or any of the provisions of the Scheme, 
whether retrospectively or otherwise, provided that no such 
amendment affecting:

7.1  the category of persons entitled to participate in the 
Scheme;

7.2  the total number of options and shares subject to the 
Scheme;

7.3  the maximum number of options and shares which may 
be	allocated	to	any	Participant;	

7.4	 	the	amount	payable	on	exercise	of	an	option;

7.5	 	the	basis	for	determining	the	strike	price;

7.6	 	the	provisions	relating	to	the	payment	of	the	strike	price;

7.7	 	the	basis	on	which	the	award	of	options	are	made;

7.8  the treatment of options (vested and unvested) in 
instances of a merger, takeover or other corporate 
action;

7.9  the provisions relating to termination of employment or 
retirement	of	a	Participant;	and

7.10  the voting, dividend, transfer and other rights attaching 
to the options,

shall be made, unless approved by members of the Company 
in general meeting by not less than 75 per cent majority of the 
votes cast by shareholders present or represented by proxy 
at the general meeting to approve such resolution.

aMended SHare OPtIOn SCHeMe 
annexUre x (continued)
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8 adMInIStratIOn
the Company and its subsidiaries will bear all costs of and 

incidental to the implementation and administration of the 

Scheme including any securities transfer tax payable in 

respect of the issue or transfer of any shares forming the 

subject matter of the options.

9 dUratIOn OF tHe SCHeMe
the Scheme shall continue for an indefinite period of time 

until terminated by a resolution of the directors provided 

that such termination shall not affect or modify any existing 

accrued or vested rights or obligations of any Participant, the 

Scheme shall continue to be administered by the Company 

for so long as it may be necessary to give effect thereto.

10 LIStIng OF SHareS
the Board shall, on registration of any shares in the name of 

the Participants, make application for a listing, quotation and 

permission to deal in such shares on the JSe.

11  SUMMary In annUaL rePOrt 
[Schedule	14.8]

a summary of the number of shares in respect of which options 

have been granted to the Participants as at the beginning of 

the financial year, the number of shares in respect of which 
options have been granted to the Participants during the year, 
the number of shares in respect of which options have been 
exercised by the Participants during the year, the number 
of shares in respect of which options have lapsed and the 
number of shares in respect of which the Participants can still 
exercise options as at the year-end, shall be included in the 
annual financial statements in the annual report to members 
of the Company. the valuation model used including inputs 
used for fair valuing options granted shall also be disclosed 
in the annual financial statements.

12 InterPretatIOn
12.1 Unless the context requires otherwise –

	 •	 	words	 importing	 any	 one	 gender	 shall	 include	 the	
other	two	genders;

	 •	 	the	singular	shall	 include	the	plural	and	vice	versa;	
and

	 •	 	a	 reference	 to	natural	persons	shall	 include	created	
entities (corporate or unincorporated) and vice versa.

12.2  the headings have been inserted for convenience 
only and shall not be used for nor assist or affect its 
interpretation.
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nOtICe OF annUaL generaL MeetIng

notice is hereby given that an annual general Meeting 
of shareholders of the Company will be held on Friday, 
12  September  2014 at 10:00 at 2nd Floor, the gabba, 
dimension data Campus, 57  Sloane Street, Bryanston, to 
deal with such business as may lawfully be dealt with at the 
annual general Meeting and to consider and, if deemed fit, 
pass, with or without modification, the ordinary and special 
resolutions set out hereunder in the manner required by the 
Companies act, 71 of 2008, as amended (“the Companies 
act”), the Memorandum of Incorporation (“MOI”) of the 
Company and the Listings requirements of the JSe Limited 
(“JSe Listings requirements”).

the record date on which members must be recorded as such 
in the register maintained by the transfer secretaries of the 
Company for the purpose of being entitled to attend and vote 
at the annual general Meeting is Friday, 5 September 2014. 

Annual General Meeting participants (including 
shareholders and proxies) are required to provide 
reasonably satisfactory identification before being 
entitled to attend or participate at the Annual General 
Meeting. Forms of identification include valid identity 
documents, driver’s licences and passports.

1 OrdInary reSOLUtIOn nUMBer 1
Annual financial statements for the year ended 
28 February 2014
resolved that the annual financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries, which included the directors’ 
report and audit Committee report for the year ended 
28 February 2014, be and are hereby adopted.

the consolidated audited annual financial statements 
of the group (as approved by the Board of directors of 
the Company), including the directors’ report, the audit 
Committee report and the external auditors’ report for 
the year ended 28 February 2014, have been distributed as 
required and will be presented to shareholders. the complete 
annual financial statements are set out on pages 46 to 86 of 
the integrated report.

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.

2 OrdInary reSOLUtIOn nUMBer 2
Confirmation of the appointment of Bradley Cerff as a 
director
resolved that shareholders confirm Bradley Cerff’s appointment 
as a director of the Company in terms of section 6(1)(7) of the 
Company’s MOI.

a brief biography of Bradley Cerff is included on page 15 of the 
integrated annual report.

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.

3 OrdInary reSOLUtIOn nUMBer 3
Reappointment of external auditor
resolved that shareholders authorise the Board to reappoint 
ernst & young Inc., situated at 102 rivonia road, Sandton, 
2146, South africa, as the independent external auditor 
and Iwan grobler as the individual designated auditor of 
the Company for the ensuing year and to determine the 
remuneration of the auditors. 

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.

4 OrdInary reSOLUtIOn nUMBer 4
Re-election of directors who retire by rotation
resolved that shareholders re-elect by way of a separate 
vote, the following directors who retire by rotation in terms 
of article 6.2 of the Company’s MOI, and who, being eligible, 
have offered themselves for re-election:

4.1	 Tito	Mboweni;	

4.2	 Mzuvukile	Maqetuka;	and	

4.3 Stephanus Muller.

Brief biographies in respect of each director offering himself 
for re-election are contained on page  12 of the integrated 
annual report.

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.

5 OrdInary reSOLUtIOn nUMBer 5
Election of audit committee members
resolved that shareholders elect, each by way of a separate 
vote, the following Independent non-executive directors, as 
members of the SacOil audit Committee subject to passing 
of ordinary resolution number 4, with effect from the end of 
this annual general Meeting until the conclusion of the next 
annual general Meeting of the Company:

5.1  Stephanus Muller (Chairman of the audit Committee, 
Independent	Non-executive	director);

5.2	 	Vusumzi	 Pikoli	 (Independent	 Non-executive	 director);	
and

5.3  Mzuvukile Maqetuka (Independent non-executive 
director).

Brief biographies of these directors offering themselves for 
re-election as members of the SacOil audit Committee are 
set out on pages 12 and 13 of the integrated annual report. 

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.

6 OrdInary reSOLUtIOn nUMBer 6
Endorsement of SacOil’s remuneration policy
resolved that shareholders endorse, by way of a non-binding 
advisory vote, the Company’s remuneration policy (excluding 
the remuneration of the non-executive directors and the 
members of Board Committees for their services as directors 
and as members of Committees), as set out in the integrated 
annual report on pages 29 and 30. 

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.

Explanatory	notes:
the endorsement of SacOil’s remuneration policy is of an 
advisory nature only and failure to pass this resolution will 
therefore not have any legal consequences relating to existing 

92



arrangements. However, the Board will take the outcome of 
the vote into consideration when considering the Company’s 
remuneration policy in the remuneration of the executive 
directors.

7 OrdInary reSOLUtIOn nUMBer 7
General authority to directors to allot and issue 
authorised but unissued ordinary shares
resolved that the authorised but unissued ordinary shares in 
the capital of the Company be and are hereby placed under 
the control and authority of the directors of the Company 
and that the directors of the Company be and are hereby 
authorised and empowered to allot, issue and otherwise 
dispose of such ordinary shares to such person or persons on 
such terms and conditions and at such times as the directors 
of the Company may from time to time and in their discretion 
deem fit, subject to the provisions of the Companies act, the 
MOI of the Company and the JSe Listings requirements, 
when applicable, such authority to remain in force until the 
next annual general Meeting.

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.

Explanatory	notes:
In terms of the Company’s MOI, the Board may, with the prior 
approval of the Company in general meeting, subject to the 
statutes and the approval of the JSe Listings division (where 
necessary), issue authorised but unissued ordinary shares 
in the Company to such person or persons on such terms 
and conditions and with such rights or restrictions attached 
thereto as the directors may determine. 

the existing general authority granted by the shareholders at 
the previous annual general Meeting will expire at the annual 
general Meeting to be held on Friday, 12 September 2014, 
unless renewed. the authorities will be subject to the 
Companies act and the JSe Listings requirements. the 
aggregate number of ordinary shares able to be allotted and 
issued in terms of this authority is limited as set out in the 
respective resolution.

8 OrdInary reSOLUtIOn nUMBer 8
General authority to issue shares for cash 
resolved that the directors are hereby authorised as a general 
authority to allot and issue the authorised but unissued 
shares in the capital of the Company, for cash, subject to 
the Companies act, the MOI of the Company, and the JSe 
Listings requirements, provided that:

(a) the equity securities, which are the subject of this general 
authority, be of a class already in issue or, where this is 
not the case, must be limited to such securities or rights 
that	are	convertible	into	a	class	already	in	issue;	

(b) the equity securities must be issued to public shareholders, 
as defined in the JSe Listings requirements, and not to 
related	parties;	

(c) the equity securities which are the subject of this general 
authority:

 (1)  may not, in aggregate, exceed 15% of the 
Company’s listed equity securities as at the date of 

the annual general Meeting, being the equivalent of 
462 925 389 equity	securities;	

 (2)  any equity securities issued in terms of this general 
authority must be deducted from the initial number 
of equity securities available under this general 
authority;	and

 (3)  in the event of a subdivision or consolidation 
of issued equity securities during the period of 
this general authority, the general authority must 
be adjusted accordingly to represent the same 
allocation	ratio;	

(d) the general authority shall be valid until SacOil’s next 
annual general Meeting, or for 15 months from the date 
on which the general issue for such ordinary resolution 
was passed, whichever period is shorter subject to the 
JSe Listings requirements and any other restrictions set 
out	in	this	authority;	

(e) the maximum discount at which equity securities may 
be issued is 10% of the weighted average traded price 
of such equity securities measured over the 30 business 
days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed 
between the Company and the party subscribing for 
the equity securities. the JSe should be consulted for a 
ruling if the applicant’s securities have not traded in such 
30-business-day	period;

(f) an announcement giving full details, including the impact 
on net asset value, net tangible asset value , earnings and 
headline earnings per share, will be published at the time 
of any issue representing, on a cumulative basis within a 
financial year, 5% or more of the number of securities in 
issue	prior	to	the	general	issue	for	cash;	and

(g) this authority includes any options/convertible securities 
that are convertible into an existing class of equity 
securities.

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, the approval of 
75% majority of the votes cast by shareholders present or 
represented by proxy at this Annual General Meeting will be 
required for this authority to become effective.

Explanatory	notes:
this enables the directors to issue shares for cash subject 
to compliance with the Companies act, the Company’s MOI 
and the JSe Listings requirements.

9 OrdInary reSOLUtIOn nUMBer 9
Authority to sign all required documents
resolved that, subject to the passing of the ordinary and 
special resolutions at the annual general Meeting, any 
director of the Company or the Company Secretary shall be 
and is hereby authorised to sign all documents and perform 
all acts which may be required to give effect to such ordinary 
and special resolutions.

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 50% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.

Explanatory	notes:
this requests authority to be given to any director or the 
Company Secretary to sign such documents and execute 
such actions as will be required to register and give effect to 
the resolutions passed.
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10 OrdInary reSOLUtIOn nUMBer 10
Approval of proposed amendments to the SacOil Share 
Option Scheme
resolved that the SacOil Share Option Scheme be and is 
hereby amended as follows:

1  By deleting the definition of “Strike Price” at 1.20 in its 
entirety and replacing it with the following wording:

  “Strike Price” ... the strike price in 5.1.6 and 5.1.7 of the 
Scheme.

2  By deleting the fourth paragraph under 5.1 in its entirety 
and replacing it with the following wording:

 Options are exercisable as follows:

 5.1.8  on or after the first anniversary of the date of 
appointment or subsequent date of grant (as to 
one-third);

 5.1.9  on or after the second anniversary of the date 
of appointment or the subsequent date of grant 
(as	 to	one-third);	subject	 to	each	of	 the	 relevant	
Participants, as the case may be, still remaining 
as	Participants	of	the	Company	respectively;	and

 5.1.10  on or after the third anniversary of the date of 
appointment or the subsequent date of grant 
(as to one-third), subject to each of the relevant 
Participants, as the case may be, still remaining 
as Participants of the Company respectively.

3  By deleting the first paragraph of clause 5.2 in its entirety.

4  By deleting clause 5.4 in its entirety. 

5  By deleting clause 5.5 in its entirety.

6  By renumbering clauses 5.6, 5.7 and 5.8 as clauses 5.4, 
5.5 and 5.6 respectively.

It must be noted that in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements 
ordinary resolution number 10 must be approved by not less 
than a 75% majority of the votes cast on the resolution by 
shareholders present or represented by proxy at the general 
meeting in order for the resolution to become effective.

Explanatory notes:
1  the purpose of the deletion described in paragraph 1 of 

ordinary resolution number 10 is to correct an erroneous 
clause reference.

2  the purpose of the deletion described in paragraph 2 of 
ordinary resolution number 10 is to alter the proportions 
in which the options are exercisable and the time at which 
they are exercisable. 

3  the purpose of the deletion described in paragraph 3 of 
ordinary resolution number 10 is to eliminate a redundant 
clause in the Share Option Scheme. 

4  the purpose of the deletion described in paragraph 4 
of ordinary resolution number 10 is to discontinue the 
mandatory inclusion of further Options in the Options 
held by each Participant in the event of a rights Offer by 
the Company of any Shares or Convertible Securities. It 
is noted that the inclusion of such a provision is optional 
in terms of the JSe Listings requirements. 

5  the purpose of the deletion described in paragraph 5 
of ordinary resolution number 10 is to discontinue the 
mandatory increase in the number of Shares in respect of 
which an Option is held by each Participant in the event 

of a Capitalisation Issue by the Company. It is noted that 
the inclusion of such a provision is optional in terms of the 
JSe Listings requirements.

6  the purpose of the amendment described in paragraph 6 
of ordinary resolution number 10 is to renumber certain 
clauses of the SacOil Share Option Scheme as a 
consequence of the deletions described in paragraphs 4 
and 5 of ordinary resolution number 10.

11 SPeCIaL reSOLUtIOn nUMBer 1
General authority to acquire (repurchase) shares
resolved that the Company and/or any subsidiary be 
and is hereby authorised by way of a specific approval 
as contemplated in section 48 read with section 46 of the 
Companies act, to acquire from time to time issued ordinary 
shares of the Company, upon such terms and conditions 
and in such amounts as the directors of the Company may 
from time to time determine, but subject to the MOI of the 
Company, the provisions of the Companies act and the 
JSe Listings requirements, provided that:

•	 any	such	acquisition	of	ordinary	shares	shall	be	effected	
through the order book operated by the JSe trading system 
and done without any prior understanding or arrangement 
with	the	counterparty	(reported	trades	being	prohibited);

•	 this	general	authority	shall	be	valid	until	 the	Company’s	
next annual general Meeting, provided that it shall not 
extend beyond 15 months from the date of passing of this 
special	resolution	number	1,	whichever	period	is	shorter;

•	 an	 announcement	 will	 be	 published	 as	 soon	 as	 the	
Company or any of its subsidiaries have acquired 
ordinary shares constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% 
of the number of ordinary shares in issue and for each 3% 
in	aggregate	of	the	initial	number	acquired	thereafter;

•	 acquisitions	of	shares	 in	aggregate	 in	any	one	financial	
year may not exceed 20% of the Company’s ordinary 
issued share capital, as the case may be, as at the date 
of	passing	of	this	special	resolution	number	1;

•	 ordinary	shares	may	not	be	acquired	at	a	price	greater	
than 10% above the weighted average of the market 
value at which such ordinary shares for the five business 
days immediately preceding the date the transaction 
is effected. the JSe should be consulted for a ruling if 
the Company’s securities have not traded in such five-
business-day	period;

•	 the	Company	has	been	given	authority	by	its	MOI;

•	 at	any	point	in	time,	the	Company	and/or	its	subsidiaries	
may	only	appoint	one	agent	to	effect	any	such	acquisition;

•	 the	 aggregate	 of	 such	 acquisitions	 by	 subsidiaries	 of	
SacOil may not result in such subsidiaries holding more 
than	10%	of	SacOil’s	issued	share	capital;

•	 the	 Company	 and/or	 its	 subsidiaries	 undertaking	 that	
they will not enter the market to so acquire the Company’s 
shares until the Company’s sponsor has provided 
written confirmation to the JSe regarding the adequacy 
of the Company’s working capital in accordance with 
Schedule 25	of	the	JSE	Listings	Requirements;	

•	 a	resolution	has	been	passed	by	the	Board	of	directors	
confirming that the Board has authorised the general 
repurchase, that the Company passed the solvency and 
liquidity test and that since the test was done, there have 
been no material changes to the financial position of the 
Company	and	Group;	and

nOtICe OF annUaL generaL MeetIng (continued)
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•	 the	Company	and/or	its	subsidiaries	shall	not	acquire	any	
shares during a prohibited period, as defined in the JSe 
Listings requirements, unless a repurchase programme 
is in place where dates and quantities of shares to be 
traded during the prohibited period are fixed and full 
details of the programme have been disclosed in an 
announcement on the Securities exchange news Service 
prior to the commencement of the prohibited period.

although no such repurchases are currently in contemplation, 
the directors undertake that they will not effect a general 
repurchase of shares as contemplated above unless the 
following can be met for a period of 12 months after the date 
of this notice:

•	 the	Company	and	the	Group	would	in	the	ordinary	course	
of	their	business	be	able	to	pay	their	debts;

•	 the	consolidated	assets	of	the	Company	and	the	Group	
would exceed the consolidated liabilities of the Company 
and the group respectively, such assets and liabilities 
being fairly valued and recognised and measured 
in accordance with the accounting policies used in 
the financial statements contained in the integrated 
annual report;

•	 the	 issued	 capital	 and	 reserves	 of	 the	 Company	 and	
the group would be adequate for the purposes of the 
Company’s	and	the	Group’s	business;	and

•	 the	Company’s	and	the	Group’s	working	capital	would	be	
sufficient	for	ordinary	business	purposes;	and

•	 a	 resolution	 by	 the	 Board	 of	 directors	 will	 have	 been	
passed that authorised the repurchase, that SacOil and 
its subsidiaries have passed the solvency and liquidity 
test and that since the test was performed, there have 
been no material changes to the financial position of 
the group.

the JSe Listings requirements require the following 
disclosures, which appear in the integrated annual report:

•	 Directors	and	management	–	refer	to	pages 12	to	15	of	
the integrated annual report

•	 Major	shareholders	–	 refer	 to	page 87	of	 the	 integrated	
annual report

•	 Directors’	 interests	in	securities	–	refer	to	pages 31	and	
44 of the integrated annual report

•	 Share	capital	of	 the	Company	–	refer	 to	page 74	of	 the	
integrated annual report

Litigation statement
the directors, whose names appear on pages  12 to  15 of 
the integrated annual report of which the notice of annual 
general Meeting forms part, except as disclosed on page 45 
of the integrated annual report, are not aware of any legal or 
arbitration proceedings that are pending or threatened, that 
may have or had in the recent past, being at least the previous 
12 months, a material effect on SacOil’s financial position.

Directors’ responsibility statement
the directors, whose names appear on pages  12 to  15 of 
the integrated annual report, collectively and individually 
accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information 
pertaining to this special resolution and certify that, to the 
best of their knowledge and belief, there are no facts that 

have been omitted which would make any statements false 
or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain 
such facts have been made and that this special resolution 
contains all information required by law and the JSe Listings 
requirements.

Material changes
Other than the facts and developments reported on in 
the integrated annual report, there have been no material 
changes in the financial or trading position of the Company 
and its subsidiaries since the date of signature of the audit 
report and up to the date of the notice of annual general 
Meeting.

the directors have no specific intention, at present, for the 
Company or its subsidiaries to acquire any of the Company’s 
shares but consider that such a general authority should be 
put in place should an opportunity present itself to do so 
during the year, which is in the best interests of the Company 
and its shareholders.

the directors are of the opinion that it would be in the best 
interests of the Company to extend such general authority 
and thereby allow the Company or any of its subsidiaries to 
be in a position to acquire the shares issued by the Company 
through the order book of the JSe, should the market 
conditions, tax dispensation and price justify such an action.

the percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 75% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution. 

Reason and effect of special resolution number 1
the reason and effect for special resolution number 1 is 
to grant the Company general approval to acquire its own 
issued shares on such terms, conditions and such amounts 
determined from time to time by the directors of the Company 
by the limitations set out above.

Pursuant to and in terms of the JSe Listings requirements, 
the directors of the Company hereby state:

•	 The	directors	of	the	Company	have	no	specific	intention	
to effect the provisions of special resolution number 1 
but will, however, continually review this position having 
regard to prevailing circumstances. 

•	 The	 intention	of	 the	Company	and/or	 its	subsidiaries	 is	
to utilise the general authority to repurchase, if shares at 
some future date, the cash resources of the Company are 
in excess of its requirements.

•	 The	 method	 by	 which	 the	 Company	 and	 any	 of	 its	
subsidiaries intends to repurchase its securities and the 
date on which such repurchase will take place, has not 
yet been determined.

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 75% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.

12 SPeCIaL reSOLUtIOn nUMBer 2
Remuneration of non-executive directors
resolved that the Board and Committee fees for non-
executive directors as set out in the note below, be and are 
hereby authorised, in accordance with section 66(8) and 66(9) 
of the Companies act and that the Company may continue 
to pay directors’ fees at the annual rates specified in the 
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note below, for the period from 1 October 2014 until the 
Company’s 2015 annual general Meeting.

Board Chairman Member

Board 520 000 200 000

audit Committee 75 000 45 000

Investment Committee 75 000 45 000

Social ethics and risk Committee 75 000 45 000

technical advisory Committee 75 000 45 000

nomination Committee 50 000 30 000

remuneration Committee 50 000 30 000

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 75% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.

Reason	and	effect	of	special	resolution	number	2
the Companies act requires shareholder approval of directors’ 
fees prior to payment of such fees.

13 SPeCIaL reSOLUtIOn nUMBer 3
Financial assistance in terms of sections 44 and 45 of 
the companies act
resolved that the Board of directors of the Company be 
and is hereby authorised subject to sections 44 and 45 
of the Companies act, the Company’s MOI and the JSe 
Listings requirements, to provide direct or indirect financial 
assistance to a director or prescribed officer of the Company 
or of a related or interrelated company, to a related or 
interrelated company or corporation, or to a member of a 
related or interrelated corporation, or to a person related to 
any such company, corporation, director, prescribed officer 
or member, provided that no such financial assistance may 
be provided at any time in terms of this authority after the 
expiry of two years from the date of the adoption of this 
special resolution number 3.

The percentage of voting rights that will be required for this 
resolution to be adopted is more than 75% of the votes 
exercised on the resolution.

Reason for and effect of special resolution number 3
the reason for and effect of the special resolution referred to 
above is to permit the Company to provide direct or indirect 
financial assistance to the entities referred to above.

this notice constitutes notice in terms of section 45(5) of 
the Companies act that the Board has passed the same 
resolution, which resolution will take effect on the passing of 
special resolution number 3 set out above.

Voting instructions
In terms of the Companies act any member entitled to attend 
and vote at the above annual general Meeting may appoint 
one or more persons as proxy, to attend and speak and vote 
in his stead. a proxy need not be a member of the Company. 
Forms of proxy must be deposited at the office of the 
transfer secretaries not later than 48 hours before the time 
fixed for the annual general Meeting (excluding Saturdays, 
Sundays and gazetted South african public holidays).

If your SacOil ordinary shares have been dematerialised and 
are held in a nominee account, then your Central Securities 

depository Participant (“CSdP”) or broker, as the case may 
be, should contact you to ascertain how you wish to cast 
your vote at the annual general Meeting and thereafter cast 
your vote in accordance with your instructions.

If you have not been contacted it would be advisable for you 
to contact your CSdP or broker, as the case may be, and 
furnish them with your instructions. If your CSdP or broker, 
as the case may be, does not obtain instructions from 
you, they will be obliged to act in terms of your mandate 
furnished to them, or if the mandate is silent in this regard 
to abstain from voting. 

dematerialised shareholders whose ordinary shares are 
held in a nominee account must not complete the attached 
form of proxy. Unless you advise your CSdP or broker 
timeously in terms of the agreement between yourself and 
your CSdP or broker by the cut-off time advised by them 
that you wish to attend the annual general Meeting or send 
a proxy to represent you at the annual general Meeting, 
your CSdP or broker will assume you do not wish to attend 
the annual general Meeting or send a proxy. If you wish to 
attend the annual general Meeting your CSdP or broker will 
issue the necessary letter of representation to you to attend 
the annual general Meeting.

Shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares 
through a CSdP or broker, other than “own name” registered 
dematerialised shareholders, who wish to attend the annual 
general Meeting, must request their CSdP or broker to 
issue them with a letter of representation, or they must 
provide the CSdP or broker with their voting instructions in 
terms of the relevant custody agreement/mandate entered 
into between them and the CSdP or broker.

Shareholder rights
It is requested that forms of proxy should be forwarded to 
reach the Company’s transfer secretaries at the address 
given below by no later than 10:00 on Wednesday, 
10 September 2014. 

In terms of section 63(2) and 63(3) of the Companies act, 
shareholders or their proxies may participate at the annual

general Meeting by way of telephone conference call and, 
if they wish to do so:

•	 must	 contact	 the	Company	Secretary	 (by	 e-mail	 at	 the	
address melinda@fusioncorp.co.za) by no later than 10:00 
on Wednesday, 10 September 2014 in order to obtain a 
pin	number	and	dial-in	details	for	that	conference	call;

•	 will	 be	 required	 to	 provide	 reasonably	 satisfactory	
identification;	and

•	 will	be	billed	separately	by	 their	own	 telephone	service	
providers for their telephone call to participate at the 
annual general Meeting.

By order of the Board

Melinda Gous

28 May 2014
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FOrM OF PrOxy

FORM OF PROxY FOR THE ANNuAL GENERAL MEETING TO BE HELD AT 10:00 AT 2ND FLOOR, THE GABBA DIMENSION 
DATA CAMPuS, 57 SLOANE STREET, BRYANSTON, ON FRIDAY, 12 SEPTEMBER 2014 – FOR uSE BY CERTIFICATED ORDINARY 
SHAREHOLDERS AND DEMATERIALISED ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS WITH “OWN NAME” REGISTRATION ONLY

Holders of dematerialised ordinary shares, other than “own name” registration, must inform their Central Securities depository 
Participant (“CSdP”) or broker of their intention to attend the annual general Meeting and request their CSdP or broker to issue 
them with the necessary authorisation to attend the annual general Meeting in person or provide their CSdP or broker with their 
voting instructions should they not wish to attend the annual general Meeting in person but wish to be represented thereat.

I/We ________________________________________________________________________________________________ (please print)

Of ______________________________________________________________________________________________________ (address)

being the registered holder/s of __________________________ ordinary shares in the capital of the Company, do hereby appoint:

1 _______________________________________________________________________________________________ or failing him/her,

2 _______________________________________________________________________________________________ or failing him/her,

the Chairman of the annual general Meeting, as my/our proxy to act on my/our behalf at the annual general Meeting of the 
Company, for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the ordinary and special 
resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any adjournment thereof, and to vote for and/or against such resolutions and/or 
abstain from voting in respect of the shares registered in my/our name/s, in accordance with the following instructions: 

number of ordinary shares

For against abstain

1 Ordinary resolution number 1: annual financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2014

2 Ordinary resolution number 2: Confirmation of the appointment of Bradley Cerff as a director

3 Ordinary resolution number 3: reappointment of the external auditor

4 Ordinary resolution number 4: re-election of directors who retire by rotation

4.1 tito Mboweni

4.2 Mzuvukile Maqetuka

4.3 Stephanus Muller

5 Ordinary resolution number 5: election of audit Committee members

5.1 Stephanus Muller (Chairman)

5.2 Vusumzi Pikoli

5.3 Mzuvukile Maqetuka

6 Ordinary resolution number 6: endorsement of SacOil’s remuneration policy

7 Ordinary resolution number 7: general authority to directors to allot and issue authorised but 
unissued ordinary shares

8 Ordinary resolution number 8: general authority to issue shares for cash

9 Ordinary resolution number 9: authority to sign all required documentation

10 Ordinary resolution number 10: amendments to the SacOil Share Option Scheme

11 Special resolution number 1: general authority to acquire (repurchase) shares

12 Special resolution number 2: remuneration of non-executive directors

13 Special resolution number 3: Financial assistance in terms of sections 44 and 45 of the 
Companies act

Please indicate with an “x” in the appropriate spaces provided above how you wish your vote to be cast. If no indication is given, 
the proxy will be entitled to vote or abstain as he or she deems fit.

Signed at _________________________________________________________ on _______________________________________ 2014.

Signature ________________________________________________________________________________________________________

assisted by me (where applicable) __________________________________________________________________________________

Please read the summary and notes on the reverse hereof. 

SACOIL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the republic of South africa)

(registration number: 1993/000460/06)
JSe share code: SCL aIM share code: SaC

ISIn: Zae000127460 
(“SacOil” or “the Company”)



SUMMary and nOteS tO FOrM OF PrOxy

SUMMary OF rIgHtS COntaIned In 
SeCtIOn 58 OF tHe COMPanIeS aCt
In terms of section 58 of the Companies act:

•	 a	 shareholder	 of	 a	 company	 may,	 at	 any	 time	 and	 in	
accordance with the provisions of section 58 of the 
Companies act, appoint any individual (including an 
individual who is not a shareholder) as a proxy to 
participate in, and speak and vote at, a shareholders’ 
meeting	on	behalf	of	such	shareholder;

•	 a	 proxy	 may	 delegate	 his	 or	 her	 authority	 to	 act	 on	
behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to 
any restriction set out in the instrument appointing such 
proxy;

•	 irrespective	of	the	form	of	instrument	used	to	appoint	a	
proxy, the appointment of a proxy is suspended at any 
time and to the extent that the relevant shareholder 
chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of 
any	of	such	shareholder’s	rights	as	a	shareholder;

•	 any	appointment	by	a	shareholder	of	a	proxy	is	revocable,	
unless the form of instrument used to appoint such proxy 
states	otherwise;

•	 if	an	appointment	of	a	proxy	is	revocable,	a	shareholder	
may revoke the proxy appointment by: (i) cancelling it 
in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment 
of a proxy and (ii) delivering a copy of the revocation 
instrument	to	the	proxy	and	to	the	relevant	company;

•	 a	proxy	appointed	by	a	shareholder	is	entitled	to	exercise,	
or abstain from exercising, any voting right of such 
shareholder without direction, except to the extent that 
the relevant company’s memorandum of incorporation, or 
the	instrument	appointing	the	proxy,	provides	otherwise;	
and

•	 if	the	instrument	appointing	a	proxy	or	proxies	has	been	
delivered by a shareholder to a company, then, for so 
long as that appointment remains in effect, any notice 
that is required in terms of the Companies act or such 
company’s memorandum of incorporation to be delivered 
to a shareholder must be delivered by such company to:

–	 the	relevant	shareholder;	or

– the proxy or proxies, if the relevant shareholder has:

	 (i)	 directed	 such	 company	 to	 do	 so,	 in	 writing;	 and	 
(ii)  paid any reasonable fee charged by such company 

for doing so.

nOteS tO tHe FOrM OF PrOxy
1  an ordinary shareholder holding dematerialised shares 

by “own name” registration, or who holds shares that 
are not dematerialised, may insert the name of a proxy 
or the names of two alternative proxies of the ordinary 
shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or 
without deleting “the Chairman of the annual general 
Meeting”. the person whose name stands first on 
this form of proxy and who is present at the annual 
general Meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the 
exclusion of those whose names follow. Should a proxy 
not be specified, this will be exercised by the Chairman 
of the annual general Meeting. a proxy need not be a 
shareholder of the Company.

2  an ordinary shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show 
of hands and, on a poll, to that proportion of the total 
votes in the Company which the aggregate amount of 
the nominal value of the shares held by him or her bears 
to the aggregate amount of the nominal value of all the 
shares issued by the Company. an ordinary shareholder’s 
instructions to the proxy must be indicated by inserting 
the relevant number of votes exercisable by the ordinary 
shareholder in the appropriate box(es). an “x” in the 
appropriate box indicates the maximum number of votes 
exercisable by that shareholder. Failure to comply with 
the above will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or 
to abstain from voting at the annual general Meeting as 
he or she deems fit in respect of the entire shareholder’s 
votes exercisable thereat. an ordinary shareholder or his 
or her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable 
by the ordinary shareholder, or to cast all those votes 
exercised in the same way, but the total of the votes cast 
and in respect whereof abstention is recorded, may not 
exceed the total of the votes exercisable by the ordinary 
shareholder.

3  If any ordinary shareholder does not indicate on this 
instrument that his or her proxy is to vote in favour of 
or against any resolution or to abstain from voting, or 
gives contradictory instructions, or should any further 
resolution/s or any amendment/s which may be properly 
put before the annual general Meeting be proposed, the 
proxy shall be entitled to vote as he or she thinks fit.

4  the completion and lodging of this form of proxy will 
not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending 
the annual general Meeting and speaking and voting in 
person thereat instead of any proxy appointed in terms 
hereof.

5  documentary evidence establishing the authority of 
a person signing this form of proxy in a representative 
capacity must be attached to this form of proxy, unless 
previously recorded by the Company or waved by the 
Chairman of the annual general Meeting.

6  the Chairman of the annual general Meeting may reject 
or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or 
received, other than in compliance with these notes.

7  a proxy may not delegate his or her authority to act on 
behalf of the shareholder, to another person.

8  It is requested that this form of proxy should be completed 
and returned to the Company’s transfer secretaries, 
Link Market Services South africa (Proprietary) Limited, 
13th Floor, rennie House, 19 ameshoff Street, Braamfontein, 
Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000), 
so as to reach them by no later than 10:00 on Wednesday, 
10 September 2014.

9  Should a shareholder lodge this form of proxy with the 
transfer secretaries less than 24 hours before the annual 
general Meeting, such shareholder will also be required 
to furnish a copy of such form of proxy to the Chairman of 
the annual general Meeting before the appointed proxy 
exercises any such shareholder’s rights at the annual 
general Meeting.

ADDITIONAL FORMS OF PROxY ARE AVAILABLE FROM 
THE TRANSFER SECRETARIES ON REquEST.



gLOSSary OF terMS and aBBreVIatIOnS

terms and abbreviations used in the integrated annual report

teCHnICaL
BOE
Barrels of Oil equivalents, a metric unit used by oil production 
companies and oil transportation companies to measure 
both the rate of oil production or transportation (i.e. in barrel 
of oil equivalents per day) as well as total proven reserves in 
the ground.

Contingent Resources
those quantities of petroleum estimated, as of a given date, 
to be potentially recoverable from known accumulations 
by application of development projects but which are not 
currently considered to be commercially recoverable due 
to one or more contingencies. Contingent resources are a 
class of discovered recoverable resources.

CPR
Competent Person’s report

CSR
Corporate Social responsibility

E&E
exploration and evaluation

E&P
exploration and Production

EAR
the east african rift system

ESIA
environmental and Social Impact assessment

EWT
extended Well test

Exploration Well
a well drilled to look for oil and gas in an area where no 
known oil or gas exists.

Farm-out
Farm-out is an assignment or partial assignment of an oil and 
gas interest from one party to another party.

GIIP
gas Initially In Place – the total gas content of a reservoir 
before the commencement of production.

JOA
Joint Operating agreement

JVs
Joint Venture(s)

Lead or Leads
a project associated with a potential accumulation that is 
currently poorly defined and requires more data acquisition 
and/or evaluation in order to be classified as a prospect.

MBOE
One thousand Barrels of Oil equivalents, i.e. one thousand 
BOe.

MMBOE
One Million Barrels of Oil equivalents, i.e. one million BOe.

MMBOED
One Million Barrels of Oil equivalents per day and measures 
a daily rate of oil production.

MMbbls
Millions of barrels

NNPC
nigerian national Petroleum Corporation

O&G
Oil and gas

OBC
Ocean Bottom Cable survey (3d survey)

Prospect or Prospects
a project associated with a potential accumulation that is 
sufficiently well defined to represent a viable drilling target.

Prospective Resources
those quantities of petroleum which are estimated, as of a 
given date, to be potentially recoverable from undiscovered 
accumulations.

Recovery Factor
that proportion of the oil or gas volume in a reservoir which 
can be technically and economically recovered.

Reserves
reserves are those quantities of petroleum anticipated to 
be commercially recoverable by application of development 
projects to known accumulations from a given date forward 
under defined conditions.

Stakeholders
a person, group, organisation, member or system with a 
direct interest, involvement, or investment in our activities and 
who affects or can be affected by an organisation’s actions. 
SacOil’s stakeholders include employees, shareholders, local 
communities, ngOs, the media, governments, regulatory 
authorities and research organisations.

STOIIP
Stock tank Oil Initially In Place

Sustainability
a strategy that drives long-term corporate growth and 
profitability by mandating the inclusion of environmental 
and social issues in the business model. Unlike corporate 
social responsibility which retroactively addresses issues, 
sustainability implies a forward trajectory, not looking to the 
past actions of a company but looking forward by adapting 
the nature of the company.

FInanCIaL
Admission
admission of all the SacOil ordinary shares to trading on aIM 
on or about 8 april 2011.

AGM
annual general Meeting

AIM
London Stock exchange’s alternative Investment Market

Block III
Block III, albertine graben in the drC

CGu
Cash-generating unit
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Companies Act
the Companies act, no. 71 of 2008, as amended

CSDP
a Central Securities depository Participant, appointed by 
individual SacOil shareholders for the purpose of and in 
regard to dematerialisation in terms of the Security Services 
act, no. 36 of 2004, as amended.

Dematerialise or Dematerialisation
the process whereby physical share certificates are replaced 
with electronic records evidencing ownership of SacOil 
ordinary shares for the purposes of Strate, as contemplated 
in the Securities Services act, no. 36 of 2004, as amended.

DIG
dIg Oil (Proprietary) Limited (registration number: 
2007/003931/07), a private company incorporated in 
accordance with the laws of South africa, which is controlled 
by andrea Brown.

DRC
democratic republic of the Congo

EER
energy equity resources Limited (registration number: 
5308516), a company duly incorporated in accordance with 
the laws of england and Wales.

EERNL
energy equity resources (norway) Limited (registration 
number: 05216886), a United Kingdom incorporated 
company with oil and gas interests in nigeria.

Gairloch
gairloch Limited (registration number: 352430), a limited 
liability company registered in the British Virgin Islands with 
dr Olatunji Olowolafe as the controlling shareholder.

IAS
International accounting Standards

IFRS
International Financial reporting Standards

IT
Information technology

JSE
JSe Limited (registration number: 2005/022839/06), a 
company duly registered and incorporated with limited 
liability under the company laws of South africa and licensed 
as an exchange under the Securities Services act, no. 36 of 
2004, as amended.

King III
the King report on Corporate governance is a groundbreaking 
code of corporate governance in South africa issued by the 
King Committee on Corporate governance. Compliance with 
the King reports is a requirement for companies listed on the 
Johannesburg Stock exchange.

Listings Requirements
Listings requirements of the JSe

LSE
London Stock exchange

NCI(s)
non-Controlling Interest(s)

Nigdel
nigdel United Oil Company Limited (registration number: 
rC  651219), a company duly registered and incorporated 
with limited liability under the company laws of nigeria, is the 
Operator of the OPL 233 field. 

OPL 233
Oil Prospecting Licence no. 233 over concession block 233 
in nigeria.

OPL 281
Oil Prospecting Licence no. 281 over concession block 281 
in nigeria.

PIC
Public Investment Corporation (SOC) Limited

PSC
Production Sharing Contract – a contract signed between a 
host government and an oil and gas exploitation company, 
regulating how much of the oil and gas produced from a 
production concession each will receive.

q1 2014
First quarter of the calendar year of 2014 (1 January 2014 to 
31 March 2014)

q2 2014
Second quarter of the calendar year of 2014 (1 april 2014 to 
31 June 2014)

q3 2014
third quarter of the calendar year of 2014 (1 July 2014 to 
30 September 2014)

q4 2014
Fourth quarter of the calendar year of 2014 (1 October 2014 
to 31 december 2014)

RNS
the regulatory news Service of the LSe

RSA or South Africa
the republic of South africa

Ordinary Shares or SacOil Ordinary Shares
Ordinary shares in the issued capital of SacOil

SacOil (Proprietary) Limited
South africa Congo Oil Company (Proprietary) Limited 
(registration number: 2007/024617/07), a private company 
incorporated in accordance with the laws of South africa and 
which company’s shares are held 50% by SacOil and 50% 
by dIg.

SAICA
the South african Institute of Chartered accountants

Semliki
Semliki energy SPrL (registration number: Kg8779/M), a 
company incorporated in the drC and which company’s 
shares are held 50% by SacOil and 50% by dIg.

SENS
the Securities exchange news Service of the JSe.

Shareholders
SacOil shareholders.

Total
total e&P rdC (registration number: 712 081 382 rCS), a 
company incorporated in accordance with the laws of France.

VWAP
Volume Weighted average Price.

gLOSSary OF terMS and aBBreVIatIOnS (continued)
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the following table sets forth standard conversions from Standard Imperial Units to the International System of Units (or metric units):

To convert from To Multiply by

BOe
mcf 
bbls 
cubic metres
cubic metres
feet 
metres 
miles 
kilometres 
acres 

mcf 
cubic metres 
cubic metres 
bbls oil 
cubic feet 
metres 
feet 
kilometres 
miles 
hectares 

6
28.316
0.159
6.290
35.315
0.305
3.281
1.609
0.621
0.405

COnVerSIOn taBLe

Country of incorporation
the republic of South africa

Legal form
Public interested entity

Registration number
1993/000460/06
Share codes
JSe code: SCL – Primary listing
aIM code: SaC – Secondary listing
ISIn: Zae000127460

Registered office, domicile and physical address
2nd Floor, the gabba
dimension data Campus
57 Sloane Street
Bryanston
2021

Postal address
Postnet Suite 211
Private Bag x75
Bryanston
2021

COrPOrate InFOrMatIOn
Contact details
tel: +27 (0) 11 575 7232
Fax: +27 (0) 11 576 2258
e-mail: info@sacoilholdings.com
Website: www.sacoilholdings.com

Advisers
Company	Secretary	
Fusion Corporate Secretarial Services (Proprietary) Limited

Transfer	Secretaries	(SA)	
Link Market Services South africa (Proprietary) Limited

Transfer	Secretaries	(UK)	
Computershare Investor Services (Jersey) Limited

Corporate	Legal	Advisers	(SA	and	UK)
norton rose

Auditors
ernst & young Inc.

JSE Sponsor (SA)
nedbank Capital, a division of nedbank Limited

Nominated Adviser (uK)
finnCap Limited
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